
 
 

 
 
 
24 November 2015 
 
 
To: All Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board  

 
The above members are requested to attend the:  
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Wednesday, 2 December 2015 at 3.00 pm 
Solaris Centre, New South Promenade 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

 Members are asked to declare any interests in the items under consideration and in 
doing so state:  
 
(1) the type of interest concerned; and 
 
(2) the nature of the interest concerned 
 
If any member requires advice on declarations of interests, they are advised to contact 
the Head of Democratic Governance in advance of the meeting. 

 
2  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 21ST OCTOBER 2015  (Pages 1 - 6) 

 
 To agree the minutes of the last meeting held on 21st October 2015 as a true and 

correct record. 
 

3  STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING GROUP UPDATE  (Pages 7 - 14) 
 

 To receive an update on the work of the Strategic Commissioning Group including the 
meetings on the 7th October 2015 and 11th November 2015 

 
4  HEALTH PROTECTION FORUM TERMS OF REFERENCE  (Pages 15 - 22) 

 
 To agree the terms of reference for the Health Protection Forum 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack



5  BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT  (Pages 23 - 60) 
 

 To receive the Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report for 2014/15.  
 

6  HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD DRAFT ANNUAL REPORT  (Pages 61 - 78) 
 

 To consider the draft Health and Wellbeing Board annual report 2014/15 
 

7  INTERMEDIATE CARE REVIEW UPDATE  (Pages 79 - 118) 
 

 To receive an update on the progress of the Intermediate Care Review 
Recommendations and Implementation Plan. 

 
8  HEALTHY WEIGHT STRATEGY  (Pages 119 - 148) 

 
 To consider the future direction of the Healthy Weight Strategy 2014-16. 

 
9  PUBLIC HEALTH PROPOSED FUNDING ALLOCATION 2016/17  (Pages 149 - 156) 

 
 To receive an update on the proposed funding allocation for Public Health. 

 
10  THEMATIC DEBATE- INDICES ON MULTIPLE DEPRIVATION  (Pages 157 - 180) 

 
 To hold a thematic debate on the analysis of the 2015 Indices of Deprivation. 

 
11  HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY ACTION PLAN  (Pages 181 - 186) 

 
 To update the Board on the current position in relation to developing the next Health 

and Wellbeing Strategy and present options for discussion. 
 

12  DRAFT FORWARD PLAN  (Pages 187 - 192) 
 

 To consider the draft forward plan. 
 

13  DATES OF FUTURE MEETING   
 

 To note the date of future meetings as follows: 
 
27th January 2016 
2nd March 2016 
20th April 2016 

 
 

Venue information: 
 
First floor meeting room (lift available), accessible toilets (ground floor), no-smoking building. 
 

Other information: 
 



For queries regarding this agenda please contact Lennox Beattie , Tel: 01253 477157 e-mail 
lennox.beattie @blackpool.gov.uk 
 

Copies of agendas and minutes of Council and committee meetings are available on the 
Council’s website at www.blackpool.gov.uk. 

 

http://www.blackpool.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEETING - WEDNESDAY, 21 OCTOBER 
2015 

 
 

 
Present:  
 
Councillor Cain, Cabinet Secretary (Resilient Communities), Blackpool Council (in the 
Chair) 
 
Councillor Collett, Cabinet Member for Reducing Health Inequalities and Adult 
Safeguarding 
 
Councillor Jones, Cabinet Member for School Improvement and Children’s Safeguarding 
 
Councillor Clapham, Opposition Group Representative  
 
Simon Bone, Group Manager, Lancashire Fire and Rescue 
 
Delyth Curtis, Director of People, Blackpool Council 
 
Dr Arif Rajpura, Director of Public Health, Blackpool Council 
 
Karen Smith, Deputy Director of People (Adult Services), Blackpool Council 
 
Dr Amanda Doyle, Roy Fisher and Dr Leanne Rudnick, Blackpool Clinical Commissioning 
Group 
 
Joan Rose, Blackpool Healthwatch 
 
 
In Attendance:  
 
Lennox Beattie, Executive and Regulatory Support Manager, Blackpool Council 
Venessa Beckett, Corporate Development and Policy Officer, Blackpool Council 
Scott Butterfield, Corporate Development Manager, Blackpool Council 
Claire Grant, Divisional Commissioning Manager, Blackpool Council  
Neil Jack, Chief Executive, Blackpool Council, Blackpool Council 
Simon Jenner, Principal Educational Psychologist, Blackpool Council 
Traci Lloyd-Moore, Commissioning Manager, Adult Services, Blackpool Council 
Carmel McKeogh, Deputy Chief Executive, Blackpool Council 
Hilary Shaw, Head of Business Support and Resources , Blackpool Council 
 
Superintendent Nikki Evans, Lancashire Constabulary 
 
Paul Greenwood, Chairman Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre Council for Voluntary Services 
 
Maria Howard, Pan Lancashire Transforming Care Project, Chorley and South Ribble 
Clinical Commissioning Group   
 
Helen Lammond-Smith, Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group 
 
Mrs Wendy Swift, Managing Director for Community and Transformation, Blackpool Page 1

Agenda Item 2



MINUTES OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEETING - WEDNESDAY, 21 OCTOBER 
2015 

 
 

Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 
 
Steve Winterson, Engagement Director, Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust 
 
 
 
Apologies: 
 
David Bonson, Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group 
Gary Doherty and Ian Johnson, Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust 
Jane Higgs, NHS England   
Professor Heath Tierney-Moore, Lancashire Care NHS Trust 
 
1 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest on this occasion.  
 
2 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 2ND SEPTEMBER 2015 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on the 2nd September 2015 be approved and signed 
as a correct record. 
 
3 STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING GROUP UPDATE 
 
The Board received an update on the work of the Strategic Commissioning Group from 
Delyth Curtis, Director of People- Blackpool Council. The Board noted the minutes of the 
meeting held on the 13th August 2015 and also received a verbal update on the meeting 
held on the 7th October 2015. 
 
Resolved: 
 
That the update on the work of the Strategic Commissioning Group be noted. 
 
4 CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S PARTNERSHIP UPDATE 
 
The Board considered a proposal from the Children and Young People’s Partnership that 
that partnership becomes a sub-group of the Health and Wellbeing Board and present the 
terms of reference for the Partnership, which have been revised to reflect this 
relationship. The Board noted the partnership while having strategic oversight on all 
issues to children and young people had focussed on the following key areas since its 
establishment last year namely: 
 

 0 – 5 years public health commissioning transfer – a number of updates and 
reports had been discussed regarding the transfer of commissioning 
responsibility for children aged 0-5 years to the local authority and the 
implications for future commissioning and service delivery. 

Page 2



MINUTES OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEETING - WEDNESDAY, 21 OCTOBER 
2015 

 
 

 Strategic oversight of the Children’s Improvement Plan; developed in response 
to the ‘requires improvement’ judgement in the July 2014 Ofsted inspection of 
children’s social care and safeguarding services. The Partnership had 
responsibility for overseeing and scrutinising the implementation of actions 
related to children’s emotional health and wellbeing and early help services. 

 Considered and gave feedback on the Lancashire Child Death Overview Panel 
Annual Report 2014, proposing that Blackpool should consider having its own 
specific Child Death Overview Panel to consider the issues within Blackpool’s 
context. 

 had oversight of and had discussed and contributed towards the Head Start 
bid and input into the governance structure. 

 Considered the draft Commissioning Strategy and had fed into the 
consultation process, approving the finalised document. 

 Considered the updated Children’s Strategic Needs Assessment and Schools 
and Student Health Education Unit (SHEU) survey, which would be used to 
inform the priorities in Partnership’s forthcoming strategy. 

 Discussed and fed back on the Lancashire Children and Young People 
Emotional Health and Wellbeing Transformation Plan,  

 Better Start 

 Blackpool Challenge Partnership  

 

Resolved: 

1. To agree that the Children and Young People’s Partnership becomes a sub-
group of the Board 

2. To approve the terms of reference as set out in Appendix 4a. 
3. To note the areas of work that the Partnership has strategic oversight of. 

 

5 TRANSFORMING CARE - LEARNING DISABILITIES FASTRACK PLAN 
 
The Board considered the Transforming Care- Learning Disabilities Fastrack Plan which 
was presented to the Board by Maria Howard, the Pan Lancashire Transforming Care 
Project Manager, from Chorley and South Ribble Clinical Commissioning Group. It was 
noted that Lancashire had been selected as one of the six fastrack areas where a plan was 
required to address the requirements of the Winterbourne review.  
 
Members of the Board while agreeing the plan in principle, expressed concern as to the 
speed at which the plan had to be created, whether such services as required could be 
delivered in the community and the transfer of funding for the deliver y of the 
transformation service.  
 
Resolved: 
 

1. To approve the plan, agreeing the principles within it to develop the required 
transformation programme and create an integrated community approach for the Page 3



MINUTES OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEETING - WEDNESDAY, 21 OCTOBER 
2015 

 
 

Learning Disability population. 
 

2. To support the financial bid and the Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) share of 
match funding (for the Discharge Co-ordinator and PMO elements) required to 
progress the work. 

 
6 LANCASHIRE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S MENTAL HEALTH, EMOTIONAL 
WELLBEING AND RESILIENCE TRANSFORMATIONAL PLAN 
 
Claire Grant, Divisional Commissioning Manager, Blackpool Council provided the  Board 
with an overview and background to the development of the ‘Children and Young 
People’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing Transformational Plan 2015 – 2020’; including 
an overview of the requirements of NHS England in terms of system change and specific 
service development. 
 
The Board noted that the plan had been developed in response to the government’s 
taskforce on emotional wellbeing. The Plan included a need  for the NHS and all service 
within the local authority to work together to deliver services for all ages  between 0 and 
25 by building resilience and early intervention, improving access to effective support, 
providing joined up approach to care for the most vulnerable as well as driving 
improvements through accountability and transparency, workforce development and 
resource planning. There was also a requirement to specifically address eating disorder 
services and provide specialist services to victims of child sexual exploitation.  
 
The Board, while endorsing the principle of the transformational plan, expressed concern 
as to the short timescale that NHS England had required for the production this plan. 
 
Resolved: 
 
To approve the Lancashire Children and Young People’s Mental Health, Emotional 
Wellbeing and Resilience Transformational Plan.  
 

 
7 BLACKPOOL, WYRE AND FYLDE COUNCIL FOR VOLUNTARY SERVICES 
 
The Board received a report and presentation from  Paul Greenwood, Chairman 
Blackpool, Wyre and Fylde Council for Voluntary Services. He outlined the aims and core 
functions of the Council for Voluntary Services and highlighted the request  that the 
constituent organisations represented on the Health and Wellbeing Board consider jointly 
funding the Blackpool element of Blackpool Wyre and Fylde Council for Voluntary Services 
in the sum of £150,000 per year to enable it to continue to function. 
 
The Board expressed general support for the work of the Blackpool, Wyre and Fylde 
Council for Voluntary Services but suggested that before support could be offered a more 
detailed plan should be developed and therefore referred the request for further 
consideration by the Strategic Commissioning Group. 
 
 
 Page 4



MINUTES OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEETING - WEDNESDAY, 21 OCTOBER 
2015 

 
 

Resolved: 
 
That the request be referred to the Strategic Commissioning Group for further 
consideration along with a detailed plan.  
 
8 SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES UPDATE 
 
The Board received an update on special educational needs and disabilities. Further to the 
meeting of the Board on the 9th July 2014, when the Board received a presentation on the 
implications of the implementation of the Children and Families Act 2014. 
 
Simon Jenner, Principal Educational Psychologist/ SEND Service Manager, Blackpool 
Council, provided an update to the Board on the progress in the first twelve months of 
the implementation. Dr Jenner highlighted the key aspects of the initiatives undertaken 
notably the change from identifying Special Educational Needs from service led to person 
centred, the transition to Education, Health and Care Plans and that Blackpool had a 
100% record for on time completion of those and need for plans to be co-produced with 
parents and young people where it was noted that there was good stakeholder 
involvement. 
 
The Board noted that Blackpool is one of 13 local authorities nationally to be engaged in a 
pilot to extend the remit of tribunal to rule on care and health aspects of an Education, 
Health and Care Plan as well as education ones although historically there were low levels 
of tribunals.  
 
The possibility of a short notice inspection by Ofsted was noted by the Board. 
 
Resolved: 
 
To note that current work continues to meet statutory obligations and that work to 
prepare for external inspections should continue. 
 
9 NEW MODELS OF CARE VALUE PROPOSITION 
 
The Board received an update on the New Models of Care Value Proposition. It was noted 
that the  Fylde Coast Vanguard – New Models of Care Value Proposition had been submitted 
to NHS England for consideration in advance of the NHS England Investment board 
meeting in late September. Dr Amanda Doyle advised that Fylde Coast partners had just 
received a response that the Investment Board supported the proposition and would 
allocate the full £4.6 million that had been requested to assist in rolling out Extensive 
Care services across the Fylde coast and begin the implementation of Enhanced Primary 
and Community Care services. She reported that there would therefore be ongoing 
discussions as to how to ensure that partners were in a position to deliver the new 
models of care.  
 
Resolved: 
 
To agree the contents of the Value Proposition for New Models of Care on the Fylde Coast 
as attached at Appendix 9a to the agenda.  Page 5



MINUTES OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEETING - WEDNESDAY, 21 OCTOBER 
2015 

 
 

 
 
10 SECTION 75 POOLED BUDGET AGREEMENT 
 
Hilary Shaw, Head of Business Support and Resources, presented a report to the Board on 
the Section 75 Pooled Budget Agreement that had been developed by the Strategic 
Commissioning Group. Ms Shaw explained that the Better Care Fund was a type of 
partnership agreement whereby NHS organisations and local authorities contributed an 
agreed level of resource into a single pot (the “pooled budget”) which was then used to 
commission or deliver health and social care services. 
 
The Board was aware that the Strategic Commissioning Group had considered and initially 
approved the Pooled Budgets Agreement and had agreed for a number of aspects to be 
incorporated including that the Strategic Commissioning Group would be the decision 
making body that risks and rewards would remain with the lead commissioning 
organisation for each of the scheme within the Better Care Fund, the Clinical 
Commissioning Group to bear the risk of the performance-related element of the funding 
and Blackpool Council to be the host organisation for the pooled budget. 
 
Resolved: 
 
To ratify the Section 75 Pooled Budget Agreement as attached to the report at Appendix 
10a, which has been approved by Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group and by 
Blackpool Council. 
 
11 DRAFT FORWARD PLAN 
 
The Board considered the draft forward plan for forthcoming agendas, which would 
enable the Board to strategically plan its future agendas and ensure that items were 
relevant to the Board’s priorities.  
 
Resolved: 
 
To approve the Health and Wellbeing Board Forward Plan as set out in Appendix 11a to 
the report.  
 
  
  
  
Chairman 
  
(The meeting ended at 4.55 pm) 
  
Any queries regarding these minutes, please contact: 
Lennox Beattie, Executive and Regulatory Manager 
Tel: 01253 477157 
E-mail: lennox.beattie@blackpool.gov.uk 

Page 6



 

Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Relevant Officer: Delyth Curtis, Director of People 

Relevant Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Graham Cain, Cabinet Secretary (Resilient 

Communities) 

Date of Meeting: 
 

2nd December 2015 

 

STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING GROUP UPDATE  
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 To update the Board on the activity of the Strategic Commissioning Group since the 
last meeting.  
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 To note the minutes from the 7th October 2015 Strategic Commissioning Group 
meeting and a verbal update from the last meeting on 18th November 2015.  
 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

The Strategic Commissioning Group is a sub-group of the Board, which is responsible 
for overseeing the integration and alignment of commissioning across the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and Council. It has a duty to update the Board on activity 
against its work programme and future planned activity. 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

Yes 

3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 
None 

  
 
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



4.0 Council Priority: 
 

4.1 The relevant Council Priority is ‘Improve health and well-being especially for the most 
disadvantaged’ 
 

5.0 Background Information 
 

5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The minutes from the 7th October 2015 Strategic Commissioning Group meeting are 
attached at Appendix 3a. Items included: 

 An update on the Intermediate Care Commissioning Review 

 A discussion on the Emotional Health and Wellbeing Transformation Plan 

 A presentation on the Learning Disability Transformation Plan 

 A discussion on the Vanguard Value Proposition 

 An update on the Early Action work led be Lancashire Constabulary 

 A discussion of the review of public health in secondary care service 

5.2 The last meeting took place on 18th November 2015, the minutes of this meeting are 
not yet available therefore a verbal update will be given. Items covered at the 
meeting include: 

 A discussion on governance structures 

 A discussion on future savings 

 An update on the Intermediate Care Commissioning Review 

 A proposal for additional commissioning support from Better Start 

 A presentation on new models of care 

 The draft Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2014 
 

5.3 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

5.4 List of Appendices:  
  

Appendix 3a – notes from October meeting 
 

 

6.0 Legal considerations: 
 

6.1 
 

None 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

7.1 
 

None 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

8.1 None 

Page 8



  
 
 

9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 None  
 
11.0 Ethical considerations: 

 
11.1 
 

None 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

None 

13.0 Background papers: 
 

13.1 
 

None 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

Appendix 3a:  

Strategic Commissioning Group 
Notes and Actions 

7 October 2015, 9.30 – 11.30am  
Conference Room 3 A, Bickerstaffe House 

 

Present 

 

 

Delyth Curtis, Director of People (Director of Children’s Services), Blackpool Council 
(Chair) 

David Bonson, Chief Operating Officer, Blackpool CCG   

Dr Arif Rajpura, Director of Public Health, Blackpool Council  

Merle Davies, Director, Better Start 

Gary Raphael, Chief Finance Officer, Blackpool CCG 

Liz Petch, Public Health Specialist, Blackpool Council  

Nikki Evans, Superintendent, Lancashire Constabulary 

Helen Lammond-Smith,  Head of Commissioning, Blackpool CCG 

Dr Mark Johnston, Deputy Chief Operating Officer, Blackpool CCG  

Val Raynor, Head of Commissioning, Blackpool Council 

Karen Smith, Director of Adult Services  

Lynn Donkin, Public Health Specialist, Blackpool Council  

Also 
present 

Venessa Beckett, Corporate Development and Policy Officer, Blackpool Council  

Traci Lloyd-Moore, Commissioning Manager, Blackpool Council 

Claire Grant, Divisional Commissioning Manager, Blackpool Council  

Kate Jackson, Commissioning Manager, Blackpool CCG 

Michelle Sowden, Integrated Community Learning Disability Team Manager, Blackpool 
Council 

Apologies 

 
Steve Thompson, Director of Resources, Blackpool Council  

Judith Mills, Public Health Specialist, Blackpool Council  

  

1. 

  

Welcome, introductions and apologies.  

Del welcomed everyone to the meeting, apologies were given and introductions made.  

2.  

 

Notes and actions from previous meeting. 

Notes from the previous meeting were agreed.   

3. Children and Young People’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing Transformation Plan 

Claire Grant presented the item, outlining the document and specifications from NHS England 
regarding services that must be commissioned by the ring-fenced funding of £500K per year. 
She advised that the first draft had now been produced and would be submitted to NHS 
England on 16 October following sign off by the Health and Wellbeing Board Chair. 

Page 11



 

2 

 

A number of concerns were raised regarding the need to localise the plan; it was a 
Collaborative Commissioning Board (CCB) decision to have a pan-Lancashire plan in order to 
have parity of esteem and assist Lancashire in raising their aspirations to match Blackpool’s. A 
full consultation process would be required as part of the development process of a Blackpool 
specific plan.  

The localised version needs to link in with Better Start; extra midwives have been 
commissioned through the FNP Plus but what is really needed is a consultant psychiatrist. 
There were also concerns that partners hadn’t had the opportunity to see the plan prior to 
submission. 

The CCG commented that they may struggle to meet this agenda and identified a need to  
mobilise work plans, for example around finance, and importantly how to share the workload; 
the agenda at the SCG needs to reflect what is being done and how. Workforce development 
was also raised in terms of working as a system, which is where governance is key. 

There is a strategic commitment to work together but organisations still operate in siloes; 
transformation is the current theme and strategically there is agreement but it is a huge 
cultural and organisational development issue. 

It was asked if there was an opportunity to do this work through the Public Service Reform 
Board and if it would be useful to map out governance according to age groups. It was 
suggested that there are common themes around workforce flexibility and lead professional 
and recognised that funding and commissioning in health services is fragmented, so there is a 
necessity to ensure that structures deliver. 

Following this discussion it was agreed that the next meeting should focus on mapping out 
some of the governance in terms of who attends what meeting. 

Further comments were made regarding the need to think radically and make bold decisions; 
Strategically there is a more joined up way that the public sector could be making decisions 
about services to commission/decommission, but there is little space for strategic thinking 
due a lack of capacity. This group should be pulling it all together and considering other 
factors such as the combined authority work, Healthier Lancashire and political priorities. 

There was a suggestion to start preparing now for 2017/18 by considering finances in terms of 
what we commission and design something different; this is the systems transformation.  

There is currently no narrative that tells Blackpool’s story; the group needs to jointly 
understand what we currently spend on and formulate a work plan. The group needs to 
consider where the most effective place to spend money, currently immediate need takes 
precedence, we need to adjust allocations. 

This group should have a relationship with the reform board where the board is contributing 
to and steering the work plan of the group. 

Action: Mapping exercise to take place at next meeting 

Action: Del and Arif to speak to Chair of PSRB regarding its work plan and how it will steer 
the SCG 

4. Intermediate Care Commissioning Review update 

Helen Lammond-Smith advised that a proposal has been developed for a service to be 
commissioned by health and social care that focuses on a person’s needs not their condition. 

Page 12



 

3 

 

The main partners will be the Council and BTH (and Spiral). 

The discussion highlighted a need to be careful how the changes are communicated, 
reinforcing that it is better to be at home than in hospital/rehab. Further work is ongoing 
regarding the mechanics of the model. 

Action – Updates to be brought to future meetings 

5. LD Transformation Plan  

Traci Lloyd-Moore introduced the item, giving some background and context in terms of 
Winterbourne. The Plan has to be pan-Lancs and has to reduce the number of people with 
learning disabilities living in residential setting. There is some funding available that must be 
matched by the CCG. There are some sensitivities regarding who will fund care when people 
come out of facilities. Patients will have managers responsible for managing their care and 
the step down process. 

Blackpool is currently ahead in this area as it has an integrated LD team. In terms of provision, 
forensic patients will come under MerseyCare, however there are less than four or five 
specialist providers in the market and there are issues with pay rates. At this stage it was 
unclear if funding follows the patient.  

The plan would be signed off at the HWB. 

Action – Updates to be brought to future meetings 

6. Early Action update  

Nikki Evans updated on implementation of the project. They are currently building teams 
around the Families in Need (FIN) teams and will be in place by the end of the year. Next 
steps will be to link with locality teams. The tasking process is a big issue – how do we identify 
individuals? Working with Amanda Hatton (Deputy Director of People – Children’s Social Care 
and Early Help) and the Blackpool Safeguarding Children’s Board (BSCB) around ‘unsticking 
the stuck’ to try to progress people and families.  

The next step in truly joining up is around how we prioritise people and proactively work with 
them; information sharing is key. 

It was pointed out that there are some parallels with Vanguard – there is an IT specialist 
looking at joining up systems, and lots of work ongoing around information sharing. 

In terms of links to Fulfilling Lives, there is shared use of High Intensity User (HIU) data, and 
there is an officer based in Fulfilling Lives project. This is more about redirecting people to 
services at the moment rather than looking at gaps and thresholds. 

The DPH advised that he has taken over as Chair of the FL Board and intends to move 
discussions forward and join up at a strategic level. 

Action – Fulfilling Lives item to be brought to future SCG and HWB meeting 

7. Value Proposition – New Models of Care  

David Bonson updated on the New Models of Care Value Proposition, advising that as the bid 
was asking for less than £5million it would be signed off by the Chief Finance Officer of NHS 
England not the Investment Board. 

The transformation will deliver integrated care at a neighbourhood level.  

Page 13



 

4 

 

There is more work to do around workforce and workshops have been set up to clarify what 
we need to achieve. There is an opportunity to embed services into a social model. 

Action: Mark Johnston to bring/circulate list of workshops and meeting dates. 

8. Public Health in secondary care service review  
David outlined the report and proposals. There is a public health team based at the 
hospital, they were intended to be strategic but have become more operational than 
transformational and needed to embed principles of prevention across the hospital. 
There was some discussion regarding whether the team were achieving their outcomes 
and having an impact or if it was a ‘nice to have’ service. 
The issue has not yet been resolved however it is becoming clear that every pound that 
is spent must have a clear outcome attached. 

9. Commissioning mapping/CSU tender 
Val advised that having looked at contracts a matrix has been developed to identify 
where more than one organisation is being commissioned. There are further 
considerations around collective spending power and contractual issues. 
Regarding the CSU tender; David advised that it has been agreed to pause it for one 
year to allow an opportunity to re-look at what services the CCG were getting and what 
they may need to go out to tender for. 

10. Savings discussion: 2016 onwards – impact on commissioning decisions 
This was deferred to November’s meeting. 

11. Health and Wellbeing Board Draft Forward Plan (for info) 
To be circulated. 

 

Page 14



 

Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Relevant Officer: Dr Arif Rajpura, Director of Public Health 

Relevant Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Graham Cain, Cabinet Secretary (Resilient 

Communities) 

Date of Meeting: 
 

2nd December  2015 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE- HEALTH PROTECTION FORUM  
 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 A mechanism for warning and informing on local health protection arrangements 
within Blackpool was agreed at the Health and Wellbeing Board on 25th September 
2015. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board agreed that the frequency of reports and updates, 
would be twice yearly and by exception and that the existing Health Protection 
Forum becomes part of the formal governance structure reporting into the Health 
and Wellbeing Board. 
 
Terms of Reference for the group have been drawn up and require approval at the 
Health and Wellbeing Board and are attached at Appendix 4a. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 
 

To  approve the Terms of Reference for the Blackpool Health Protection Forum. 

3.0 Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

To ensure that there is good and consistent governance processes.  

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 
 

Yes 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 
None.  

  

4.0 Council Priority: 
 

4.1 The relevant Council Priority is “Improve health and well-being especially for the 
most disadvantaged”.  
 

 
5.0 Background Information 

 
5.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board at its meeting on the 2nd September 2015 

considered a report on the creation of a Blackpool Health Protection Forum to 
undertake the Local Authority’s health protection role. The Board agreed to formally 
create this Forum subject to the approval of a set of terms of reference at a future 
meeting.  
 

5.2 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

5.3 List of Appendices:  
  

Appendix 4a: Terms of Reference 
 

 
6.0 Legal considerations: 

 
6.1 
 

None.  
 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

7.1 
 

None.  
 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

8.1 
 

None. 
 

9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None.  
 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 None. 
 

Page 16



 
 
11.0 Ethical considerations: 

 
11.1 
 

None. 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

This proposal has been discussed by the current informal health protection forum.  
 

13.0 Background papers: 
 

13.1 
 

Protecting the health of the local population: the new health protection duty of local 
authorities under the Local Authorities (Public Health Functions and Entry to 
Premises by Local Healthwatch Representatives) Regulations 2013. May 2013. 
Available online at  
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/19
9773/Health_Protection_in_Local_Authorities_Final.pdf  
 
‘The new Public Health role of local authorities’. Department of Health, October 
2012. 
 
Blackpool’s Public Health Annual Report 2014. 
 

 
  
 

Page 17

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/199773/Health_Protection_in_Local_Authorities_Final.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/199773/Health_Protection_in_Local_Authorities_Final.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 Appendix 4a  

1. PURPOSE, REPORTING LINES, LIMITATIONS AND REVIEW 

This section should set out in no more than a couple of sentences the specific PURPOSE of this group (WHY it 
was established). It should state WHO established this group (usually a parent body), its reporting and 
accountability lines to its parent body and whether it has any limitations placed on its work, or whether it is a 
group of influence/ advisory body to others.  If it does have any delegated powers (e.g. spend) then to state 
HOW it has been given those powers (do not state what those powers are in this section). 

Regarding reporting back to the parent group then this section should state how this is done and if relevant by 
whom.  It should also state how often the group will review the relevance and value of its work and its terms of 
reference.  The terms of reference can only be changed by the body which set this group up. 

 
The Health Protection Forum has been established to provide a mechanism for warning and 
informing on local health protection arrangements within Blackpool to the Health and Wellbeing 
Board. It will provide information and advice on arrangements and plans in place to protect the 
health of the population of Blackpool. The Director of Public Health (DPH) is responsible for the local 
authority’s contribution to health protection matters, including the local authority’s roles in planning 
for, and responding to incidents that present a threat to the public’s health. 
 
The Forum is advisory to the Blackpool Health and Wellbeing Board. It has been agreed that that the 
frequency of reports and updates to the Health and Wellbeing Board would be biannual and by 
exception and that the existing Health Protection Forum becomes part of the formal governance 
structure reporting into the Health and Wellbeing Board, in the first instance and Strategic 
Commissioning Group. 
 
 

2. KEY ROLES, RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES 

This section should state its key roles (in brief), responsibilities and the duties assigned to it from the parent 
body.  These key roles and duties should specifically relate back to the purpose of the group and not deviate 
away from it. 

 

The scope of the Health Protection Forum is to provide a mechanism for warning and informing on 
local health protection arrangements within Blackpool to the Health and Wellbeing Board; providing 
information and advice on arrangements and plans in place to protect the health of the population of 
Blackpool. It will provide a forum for professional discussion by local partners of health protection 
plans, risks and their mitigation and opportunities for joint action. 

The Forum will assist the Health and Wellbeing Board by providing information and advice with a 
view to promoting the preparation of health protection arrangements by key health and care 
partners within the local area. 

The Forum will: 

 highlight risks and provide recommendations to the Health and Wellbeing Board about the 
strategic management of these risks and to escalate concerns where necessary 
 

 To review reports of significant incidents and outbreaks, consider recommendations for 
change as a result, and promote quality improvement of the health protection system, 

Page 19



2 

 

through encouraging implementation of recommendations 
 

 To promote reduction in inequalities in health protection across the Local Authority 
 

 To identify key data on health protection needs to feed into the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment process 
 

 Ensuring the health of the local population is protected through delivery of key health 
protection services by other organisations ( e.g. Public Health England, NHS Trusts, NHS 
England). 
 

 Ensure an appropriate response to incidents and outbreaks. 

Topic included are: 

 Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response (EPRR), including Severe Weather, 
Prevention and control of Infectious diseases (TB, and Pandemic Influenza) 

 Public Protection Issues (food hygiene, tattoo parlours, sunbed outlets) 

 Vaccination and Immunisation Campaigns 

 Screening Programmes 

 Infection, Prevention and Control; Blood Borne viruses, STI’s, Health-care Associated 
Infections (HCAI) 

 Prevention and Management of Environmental Hazards and Coastal Water Quality 

 Relevant Public Health Schemes and initiatives 

 

 
 

3. MEMBERSHIP, APPOINTMENTS AND INTERESTS  

This section should state who can be a member, how and when and by whom they are they appointed and the 
duration of the appointment.  It should state if the membership of the group is open to anyone else and what 
the restriction on numbers are.  There should be balanced representation from interested organisations and a 
nominated deputy to attend in the representative’s place.  If this is not set down then a reason should be stated 
for this difference. 

 
The list below identifies the members of the group, who have been appointed as members on a 
permanent basis and there are no arrangements for substitute members. Invited members will 
attend when there are items specific to their role and expertise. 

The Public Health Specialist Lead for Health Protection will be the Chairman of the Forum 

Core membership will be as listed below: 

 Head of Adult Social Care, Blackpool Council 

 Risk and Resilience, Blackpool Council 

 Head of Public Protection, Blackpool Council 

 Public Protection Officer, Blackpool Council  

 Corporate Health Manager, Blackpool Council 

 Lead Nurse Health Protection, Blackpool Council 

Page 20



3 

 

 Public Health Business Manager/Health Emergency Planning Lead 

 Senior Public Health Analyst, Blackpool Council 

 Representative Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group 

 Representative Public Health England 

 Representative Education services, Blackpool Council 

 Head of Coastal and Environmental Partnerships Investment, Blackpool Council 

 Health and Safety Representative, Blackpool Council 

 

4. CHAIRING ARRANGEMENTS, FREQUENCY OF AND PROCEDURES FOR THE MEETING AND 
GOVERNANCE SUPPORT  

This section should set down WHO the chairman is and whether they were pre-appointed by the 
parent body or whether this group appoints them. It should also set down their term of office, if this is 
set.  

It should state the frequency of meetings, HOW MANY meetings will be held each year and WHERE 
will they be held . It should state brief arrangements for how reports for the agenda are co-ordinated 
and when the meeting papers will be circulated in advance of the meeting.  

Regarding the format of the meetings, then this section should state any rules of debate and voting 
arrangements (members or nominated deputies to vote) and whether the chairman has a casting 
vote.  It should also state who will provide secretariat for the group. 

    

The meeting is chaired by Public Health Specialist Blackpool Council. If the Chairman is not in 
attendance then the Forum will appoint a Chairman for that meeting.  

Meetings of the group will take place quarterly. The agenda is co-ordinated by Lynn Donkin, Public 
Health Specialist. Meetings will be held at No1 Bickerstaffe Square, administered by the Council’s 
Public Health Secretary. An agenda included papers will be circulated a week in advance of the 
meeting. 

 

5. SHARING OF INFORMATION, CONFIDENTIALITY ISSUES 

This section should state whether the meeting will be held in private or whether it will be open to the public to 
attend.  It should state how group members will share information and resources (and any limitations on these). 
It should also state whether the papers are confidential and for what reason. 

 
 
The meeting is an informal one and due to the items under discussion is not open to members of the 
public to attend. Reports and agendas should only be shared with members of the group and 
members of the Health and Well Being Board unless otherwise specifically stated. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



4 

 

 

Terms of reference last updated (date): 2
nd

 December 2015 

Quality assured by: Mark Towers, Director of 
Governance and Regulatory 
Services, Blackpool Council 

Terms of reference last updated (name of 
establishing body: 

Newly formalised group 

 

6. CONTEXT AND RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER GROUPS 

This section will explain the environment to which the group belongs and it will also explain the links and 
relationships between associated groups and the reason for those relationships. 

 

Under this duty the local authorities are required to take certain steps to protect the health of their 
local population. In particular, they are required to provide information and advice with a view to 
promoting the preparation of health protection arrangements by key health and care partners within 
the local area, recognising that Public Health England (PHE) provides the specialist health protection 
functions of the Secretary of State.  

To provide strategic oversight of the health protection system in Blackpool and to provide a forum for 
professional discussion by local partners of health protection plans risks and their mitigation and 
opportunities for joint action. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 

Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Relevant Officer:  Paul Threlfall, Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board 

Business Manager 

Relevant Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Graham Cain, Cabinet Secretary (Resilient 

Communities) 

Date of Meeting: 
 

2nd December 2015 

 

BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT  
 
1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 Working Together (2015) requires Local Safeguarding Children Boards to submit their 
annual report to the Health and Wellbeing Board. This will ensure that the Health and 
Wellbeing Board is aware of the work of Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board 
during 2014/15 and its plans for 2015/16 and beyond. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 To note the contents of the Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 
and to utilise its conclusions to inform its future work plan. 

 
3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

Local Safeguarding Children Boards are required to publish annual reports that 
include a rigorous and transparent assessment of the effectiveness of local services 
to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. They are also expected to work 
with Health and Wellbeing Boards, drawing on and informing the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment. By receiving this report the Health and Wellbeing Board will be 
able to utilise its conclusions to inform their own work plan and to ensure that 
children are adequately safeguarded. 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 
 

Yes 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



 
3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 None  
 
4.0 Council Priority: 

 
4.1 The relevant Council Priorities are: 

 Tackle child poverty, raise aspirations and improve educational achievement  

 Safeguard and protect the most vulnerable  

 Create safer communities and reduce crime and anti-social behaviour  

 Deliver quality services through a professional, well-rewarded and 
motivated workforce  

 
5.0 Background Information 

 
5.1 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
5.4 

Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board was established in 2006 and is a partnership 
body in which all the agencies that work to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children in Blackpool are represented. 
 
The period covered by the attached annual report encompasses the Ofsted 
inspection of July 2014, in which the Board itself received a grade of Requires 
Improvement. In the subsequent months a new Independent Chairman, David 
Sanders, was appointed and following the conclusion of the reporting period 
progress was deemed such that the ensuing Improvement Notice was lifted. 
 
Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board has therefore resumed its full statutory 
responsibilities and is currently working toward a two year business plan addressing 
the major safeguarding themes of Child Sexual Exploitation, Neglect, Early Help and 
the ‘Toxic Trio’ (parental mental health, substance misuse and domestic abuse). 
 
The Board’s current activity is also characterised by a larger than typical number of 
serious case reviews, together with a sustained effort to better engage with our 
colleagues in schools. 
 

5.5 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

 

Page 24



 
5.6 List of Appendices:  
 Appendix 5a: Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 

2014/15 
 

 
6.0 Legal considerations: 

 
6.1 
 

None 
 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

7.1 
 

None 
 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

8.1 
 

None  
 

9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None  
 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 None 
 

11.0 Ethical considerations: 
 

11.1 
 

None  
 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

None  
 

13.0 Background papers: 
 

13.1 
 

None 
 
 
 

 
  
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD 
ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015

Page 27

tsplseob
Typewritten Text
Appendix 5a



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION 1

CHAPTER 1 - WHO WE ARE AND WHAT WE DO 3

CHAPTER 2 - THE CHILD’S JOURNEY 16

CHAPTER 3 - WHAT HAPPENS WHEN A CHILD DIES OR IS SERIOUSLY 
HARMED IN BLACKPOOL?

24

CHAPTER 4 - THE CHALLENGES AHEAD 27

CHAPTER 5 - MESSAGES FOR OUR STAKEHOLDERS 28

APPENDIX A 29

Page 28



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 1

INTRODUCTION

I am pleased to present the 2014/15 Annual Report of Blackpool Safeguarding Children 
Board (BSCB). It outlines the work of the Board during the year, assesses how effectively 
children are safeguarded within the area and outlines the challenges ahead for all agencies 
as we seek to work together to keep children safe from harm.

It has been a year of change for the BSCB, not least 
in the role of Independent Chair which I assumed in 
November 2014. My predecessor, Pauline Newman, 
led the Board through a difficult period following 
the 2012 Ofsted Inspection and I would like to take 
this opportunity to recognise her contribution to the 
progress that has been made. In the eight months 
that I have been in post I have been impressed by 
the energy and commitment of Board members; their 
obvious willingness to challenge each other to improve 
outcomes for children will stand us in good stead for 
the future.

Throughout the reporting period BSCB has been 
accountable to the Children’s Improvement Board 
under the terms of the Improvement Plan imposed 
followed the 2012 Ofsted inspection of Local Authority 
Children’s Services and of BSCB, which deemed 
both to be inadequate. The publication of a further 
inspection in September 2014 that judged both 
to require improvement demonstrated a positive 
direction of travel, but also the work yet to be done. 
I am pleased to report that since the year end the 
Improvement Plan has been signed off as complete 
and that BSCB will resume its full statutory duties.

Like all LSCB we are working in a time of increasing 
challenges within our population, but at a time of 
public sector re-organisation and dwindling resource. 
Our challenge is to ensure that all agencies with 
responsibilities to safeguard children in Blackpool are 
represented on BSCB and that we understand their 
work, I am consequently pleased to see early signs 
of progress in terms of developing our discourse with 
schools and GPs. It is also crucial that all agencies 
respond to the challenge of ensuring that BSCB is 
provided with the proper financial resources to be 
effective in its role.

The reporting period has been characterised by 
considerable learning activity for BSCB. We are in the 
process of undertaking an unprecedented number 
of serious case reviews, while the multi-agency audit 
programme was commended by Ofsted and continues 
to challenge and develop practice. Our reviews of child 
deaths have resulted in awareness raising campaigns 
for professionals and the continuing ‘Safer Sleep’ 
campaign for new parents. Over the next year we will 
collate this learning to identify what it tells us in totality 
and use this to drive systems changes.

Considerable progress has been made in terms of our 
provision of training during the last six months, aided 
by the recruitment of a Training Co-ordinator after a 
two year vacancy. This has allowed us to develop a 
training programme that reflects our current priorities 
and which provides a range of styles of training to 
meet to needs of a diverse group of professionals. 
Over the next year we will seek to better understand 
the effectiveness of our training to improve practice 
and to change the lives of children.

Safeguarding in Blackpool continues to be 
characterised by high numbers of children in need 
of help, at every stage of the system. Over the 
reporting period BSCB has sought understand this 
and to challenge agencies to ensure that referrals are 
appropriate and that help is provided at the earliest 
possible stage. I will ensure continuing oversight of 
the Getting it Right (GIR) assessment and referral 
framework and the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH). The successful establishment of these are 
critical to ensuring a prompt and effective response to 
lower levels of need which should reduce the pressure 
on higher tier services and, more importantly, the harm 
caused to children.

Page 29



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 2

Like all Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCB) 
we have paid close attention to the plethora of national 
reports on child sexual exploitation (CSE) and have 
made some progress in understanding CSE within 
our area, which we know does not conform to the 
nationally understood model. Our CSE team continues 
to represent an effective multi-agency response to 
CSE, while local and pan-Lancashire oversight of 
CSE has been developed to ensure that a disconnect 
between the operational and strategic responses does 
not form. However, we must do more to understand 
what is an effective response to CSE, to raise 
professional and public understanding of CSE and to 
develop our knowledge of children who go missing. 

Safeguarding children in Blackpool is the responsibility 
of numerous frontline professionals, to whom I would 
extend the thanks of all BSCB. I recognise that their 
understanding of safeguarding in Blackpool may not 
always be that of Board members and am keen to 
listen to what they can tell us. I am therefore pleased 
to report the establishment of Multi-Professional 
Discussion Forums (MPDF) and the Shadow Board 
which will provide an ongoing means to achieve this.

Our members have identified four safeguarding 
priorities for the next two years which are reflected 
in our new Business Plan. These are CSE, Neglect, 
Early Help and the Toxic Trio of parental mental health, 
substance misuse and domestic abuse. That these are 
reflected throughout this report is therefore no surprise 
and emphasises the challenge of tackling these. 
Finally, the voice and experience of children and young 
people should be at the centre of everything that we 
do. This is an area of our work that we need to do 
better and which I will prioritise over the next year.

Finally I would like to thank all members of the 
Board and the safeguarding team for their unstinting 
support, enthusiasm and sheer hard work in tackling 
safeguarding issues and reducing risk to children and 
young people in Blackpool.

David Sanders 
Independent Chair, Blackpool Safeguarding 
Children Board

Page 30



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 3

CHAPTER 1 - WHO WE ARE  
AND WHAT WE DO

The Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board (BSCB) is 
the partnership body responsible for co-ordinating and 
ensuring the effectiveness of services that safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children in Blackpool.

BSCB was established in 2006 in compliance with the 
Children Act 2004 and the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board Regulations 2006. During 2014/15 the work 
of BSCB was governed by the statutory guidance of 
Working Together to Safeguard Children 2013, which 
sets out how organisations should work together to 
safeguard children.

We aim to fulfil our remit in two ways:

We co-ordinate local work by:

• Developing robust policies and procedures 
that are shared by all our members

•  Participating in the planning and 
commissioning of services in Blackpool

•  Communicating the need to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children and 
explaining how this can be done

We ensure the effectiveness of local work by:

• Monitoring what is done by partner agencies to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children

• Undertaking serious case reviews, multi-
agency learning reviews and audits and 
sharing learning opportunities

• Collecting and analysing information about child deaths

• Publishing an annual report on the effectiveness 
of local arrangements to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children in Blackpool

Our Organisation
Key Roles

Independent Chair

BSCB is led by an Independent Chair. This ensures 
that we are able to speak with an independent voice 
and to challenge any of our member agencies. 

During the period covered by this report Pauline 
Newman resigned from this role in September 2014 and 
was replaced by David Sanders in November 2014. 

The Independent Chair is appointed by and 
accountable to the Chief Executive of Blackpool 
Council for the effective working of BSCB. The work 
of BSCB and the Independent Chair is supported 
by a full-time Business Development Manager and 
part-time Training Co-ordinator, with appropriate 
administrative support.

Blackpool Council

Blackpool Council is responsible for the establishment 
and maintenance of BSCB.

The Chief Executive, in conjunction with the Leader 
of the Council, and drawing on the expertise of Board 
members holds the Independent Chair to account for 
the effective working of BSCB.

The Director of Children’s Services has the legal 
responsibility for the provision of all services to 
children by the Council, including safeguarding, and 
sits on BSCB. During the reporting period Del Curtis 
replaced Sue Harrison in this role. She is held to 
account by the Lead Member for Children’s Services, 
Councillor Ivan Taylor (replaced by Councillor John 
Jones following the year-end), who sits on BSCB as a 
participating observer and  therefore informs but is not 
part of decision making processes.

Partner Agencies

BSCB comprises of a range of partner agencies (full 
membership is detailed in Appendix 1), all of whom 
have a statutory responsibility to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children and are committed to 
the effective operation of BSCB.

A number of our partner agencies have a statutory 
responsibility to sit on BSCB, while others have been 
invited to join due to the significance of their work in 
Blackpool.

Board members all hold a strategic role within their 
agency and are able to speak for their agency with 
authority, commit their agency on policy and practice 
matters and hold their organisation to account.

Page 31



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 4

Designated Professionals 

Health commissioners should have a designated 
doctor and nurse to take a strategic, professional 
lead on all aspects of the health service contribution 
to safeguarding children in the locality. Designated 
professionals are a vital source of professional advice 
on safeguarding matters to partner agencies and 
BSCB. Both are Strategic Board members and in 
Blackpool chair the Case Review and Training and 
Development subgroups respectively.

Lay Members

LSCB should take reasonable steps to appoint two 
lay members to make links with community groups, 
to support stronger public engagement and improve 
local understanding of safeguarding children. The 
lay member acts as an independent voice within the 
Board to question decision making and hold agencies 
to account. At the end of the reporting period BSCB 
had one lay member in post. The recruitment of 
a second lay member should be prioritised in the 
forthcoming business year.

Key Relationships

Children’s Improvement Board

The combined inspection of Blackpool Council’s 
services for children in need of help and protection, 
children looked after and care leavers and review of 
the effectiveness of BSCB by Ofsted in 2012 judged 
both to be inadequate.

An Improvement Plan, under the governance of the 
Children’s Improvement Board (CIB), remained in place 
throughout the reporting period. BSCB consequently 
became accountable to the CIB, which assumed some 
of its functions. The Independent Chair and other 
Board members also sit on the CIB. 

Following the Ofsted inspection in July 2014 (detailed 
below), BSCB started to resume scrutiny of a number 
of areas previously held by the CIB. In June 2015, 
following the end of the current reporting period, the 
Department for Education signed off the Improvement 
Plan as complete, thereby dissolving the CIB and 
returning all statutory functions to BSCB.

The Health and Wellbeing Board

This Board brings together the Local Authority, NHS 
agencies and other partners to work together to 
understand local health needs, to identify priorities and 
to encourage commissioners to work in a joined-up 
way. BSCB submits its annual report to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board (H&WBB) and, in return, holds it to 
account to ensure that the safeguarding of children is 
prioritised in the delivery of services. 

During 2014/15 BSCB scrutinised the H&WBB action 
plans in respect of sexual health, alcohol use and 
mental health.

Blackpool Children and Young People’s 
Partnership

The Children and Young People’s Partnership was 
established in 2014, as the successor to the Children’s 
Trust, and is a partnership of agencies in the locality 
committed to working together to improve all 
outcomes for children. 

BSCB reports annually to this body and, in return, 
holds it to account for ensuring that commissioned 
services adequately safeguard children.

Police and Crime Commissioner

The Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) is elected 
by residents of Lancashire and is charged with 
securing effective and efficient Policing within the 
area. BSCB is required to present its annual report 
to the PCC and will use its influence to outline key 
safeguarding challenges and policing action necessary 
in response. The PCC has identified protecting 
vulnerable people (including children) as part of his 
four point plan.

Developing relationships 

As the work of BSCB progresses and new 
safeguarding priorities become apparent, BSCB will 
develop relationships with other strategic boards, seek 
to influence their agenda and hold them to account 
for their responsibility to safeguard children. In the 
forthcoming year relationships with the Community 
Safety Partnership, Blackpool Safeguarding Adults 
Board and the YOT Management Board will be 
developed.

How we work

The work of BSCB is driven by the Strategic Board 
which met eight times during the reporting period. The 
delivery of the BSCB business plan and other statutory 
functions are delegated to a number of subgroups, 
some of which are shared with Lancashire and 
Blackburn with Darwen LSCB. Subgroup members are 
drawn from the agencies considered necessary for it 
to meet its objectives, while chairs are Strategic Board 
members with the necessary expertise to tackle to 
area in question.

Page 32



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 5

Structure Diagram

STRATEGIC BOARD

Pan-Lancashire Groups

Policies and Procedures

CSE Strategic Group

Chairs and BDM’s

E-Safety

Case Review 
Subgroup

Training and 
Development 

Subgroup

Performance 
Management 
& Evaluation 

Subgroup

Multi-Agency 
Audit Group

Child Sexual 
Exploitation

Financial 
Planning

Child Death 
Overview  

Panel

Financial Arrangements

Funding for the operation of BSCB continues to be provided by a core group of partner agencies and 
has remained unchanged for the last five years. The contribution of other resources ‘in kind’ by the wider 
membership is acknowledged and remains critical to the ongoing functioning of BSCB.

Contributions for 2014/15 totalled £178,570. An underspend from previous years made the total income available 
to BSCB £237,488 and ensured that the overall running costs of the Board were met. BSCB has agreed to carry 
forward an underspend of £52,888 to the 2015/16 budget.

Board staffing remains the largest area of expenditure, although the primary pressure on the BSCB budget 
continues to be the unprecedented number of Serious Case Reviews that have been undertaken recently. 

Income and Expenditure Summary

Income Expenditure

Blackpool Council 95,369 Staffing Costs 96,920

Blackpool CCG 51,867 Training programme 10,549

Lancashire Constabulary 21,697 Board support costs 31,132

Blackpool Coastal Housing 2,793 Serious Case Reviews 36,000

Probation 6,294 Council support 10,000

CAFCASS 550

178,570 184,601

Page 33



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 6

What did we do in 2014/15?
The work of BSCB during the early part of the reporting 
period was hindered by the lack of a business plan. 
The following priorities were, however developed and 
adopted over the summer of 2014 and provided the 
framework for work over the remainder of the period.

Priority One

We will undertake work to improve our 
understanding of the impact on local children 
exposed to harm from key risk factors, to evaluate 
the quality of support and services offered and 
whether they have led to improved outcomes. 

• BSCB has scrutinised service provision for adults and 
children who misuse alcohol and illicit substances 
and for children with mental health issues.

• The commissioners and providers of these services 
have agreed action plans to address identified gaps 
in services and will report progress back to BSCB.

• A Blackpool CSE subgroup has been established 
and expanded to include a wide range of agencies, 
thereby ensuring that all work to keep children safe. 

• A comprehensive Child Sexual Exploitation 
(CSE) action plan has been developed 
and agreed. The content and delivery of 
this action plan is reported below.

• Further work against this priority will include 
providing scrutiny to the forthcoming re-
commissioning of Domestic Abuse services in 
Blackpool and developing the strategic oversight 
and performance monitoring of responses to CSE.

Priority Two

The Board will continually monitor the 
safeguarding activities of staff and partners and 
the systems used to protect our children and 
young people to ensure work is of a consistently 
high standard

• BSCB has provided scrutiny to its partner agencies 
through its monitoring of performance information, 
for example seeking explanation and addressing 
issues with Looked After Children (LAC) health 
assessments and in ongoing work to understand 
the reason for high numbers of children admitted 
to A&E following incidences of self-harm. 

• BSCB has provided scrutiny to H&WBB 
actions plans that have direct safeguarding 
implications for children. Action plans have 
been developed as a result and reporting 
arrangements for these are in place.

• Further work against this priority will include the 
development of a dataset that more fully represents 
the work of our full range of partner agencies. 

Priority Three

The Board will ensure that people who work with 
children and young people are doing their jobs 
well and to the high standards that we expect, 
and we will challenge them when necessary

• Direct scrutiny of partner organisations was 
provided through the Section 11 audit process 
and the equivalent Section 175 process for 
schools. Agencies were asked to complete a 
self-evaluation and subsequently invited to attend 
a scrutiny day at which further evidence was 
sought and an action plan developed to address 
any gaps identified. All of these action plans 
had been completed by the end of the year.

• Further work in this respect is planned to 
develop joint ways of working with Blackpool 
Safeguarding Adults Board, thereby providing 
assurance that staff in agencies who primarily 
work with adults also safeguard children.

Page 34



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 7

Priority Four

The Board will continually review and develop 
policies, procedures and training practice; 
applying the learning from research, reviews and 
national policy to improve services which help to 
protect local children

• BSCB continues to maintain a Policies and 
Procedures website (in conjunction with our pan-
Lancashire partners) and has, this year, developed 
a new missing from home protocol and sought 
external assurance from the NSPCC that our 
Harmful Sexual Behaviour policy is fit for purpose.

• The BSCB training programme has been reviewed 
and significantly improved to meet changing training 
needs and to provide a range of styles of training.

• A Training Impact Analysis strategy has been 
agreed that will allow for the evaluation of 
the effectiveness of the training programme, 
both in terms of staff practice and its 
impact on children and families.

• The programme of multi-agency audits has 
continued to make recommendations for single- 
and multi-agency improvements in practice 
and findings have been disseminated to staff 
through ‘Lessons Learned’ newsletters.

• Two serious case reviews have been published 
and action plans have been developed to make 
changes in practice, based on the findings.

• BSCB is a learning organisation and work 
in this respect will always remain ongoing 
with further serious case reviews, a multi-
agency learning review and audits all due 
to report over forthcoming months.

Priority Five

The Board will have effective and strong 
relationships with other agencies, taking and 
sharing responsibility for keeping children safe 
from harm

• BSCB has developed its own membership 
during the year to ensure that it meets statutory 
requirements and more fully represents 
all organisations with a responsibility to 
safeguard children in Blackpool. 

• The programme of multi-agency audits continues 
to seek evidence and provide challenge to 
ensure that all organisations contribute to the 
safeguarding of children. This has included a 
repeat audit of core group attendance which 
has identified year on year improvements 
and some ongoing areas for concern.

• BSCB is developing its ability to engage with 
staff on all levels of partner agencies through 
its new programme of Multi-Professional 
Discussion Forums and the Shadow Board.

• Regular reporting from and engagement with 
the MASH and GIR steering groups ensures 
that scrutiny is provided to multi-agency 
safeguarding processes in Blackpool.

• Further work in this respect is planned 
to formalise working arrangements with 
other strategic boards in Blackpool.

Priority Six

The Board will ensure that all agencies 
communicate with each other; understand their 
role in relation to safeguarding and ensure that 
children, young people and their families are 
listened to and know where to get help and how 
to keep themselves safe

• BSCB has commissioned a new website, 
which will include specific sections for 
parents/ carers and children.

• The pan-Lancashire Child Death Overview Panel 
(CDOP) has continued its safer sleep campaign 
which has now attained national recognition.

• A campaign to raise public awareness of 
private fostering has been developed and 
will be launched in the summer of 2015.

• Further work is planned to identify existing 
children’s participation groups in Blackpool 
and to identify ways that BSCB can 
effectively listen to the voice of the child.

Having taken the opportunity to review the work of BSCB 
following the change of Independent Chair and in light of 
the recent Ofsted inspection, BSCB has chosen to adopt 
a new two year business plan for 2015-17. This includes 
the further work identified above and seeks to address 
the key safeguarding themes identified in Blackpool. 
More information in respect of our plans for the future is 
provided in Chapter 4, below. 

Page 35



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 8

The work of our subgroups
Performance Management and 
Evaluation Group (PMEG)

PMEG is responsible for the delivery of an open and 
transparent multi-agency performance management 
and quality assurance process for safeguarding in 
Blackpool. This is primarily achieved through the 
delivery of a dataset, the Section 11 and Section 175 
audit processes and a programme of ‘deep dive’ audits 
into single agency practice.

What has been achieved by PMEG in 2014/15?

• PMEG has chosen to adopt a new core dataset 
that is being utilised by a significant number 
of north-west LSCB. This should improve 
our ability to collect multi-agency data and 
allow for comparisons across the region. The 
core element of the dataset was largely in 
place at the end of the reporting period.

• Scrutiny was provided to BSCB partner 
agencies through a Section 11 interview day 
in which senior managers were invited to meet 
the Independent Chair and PMEG members to 
provide further evidence to support their returns. 

• An abridged Section 175 audit was 
utilised and returns were received 
from all apart from two schools.

• A programme of ‘deep dive’ audits of individual 
agency practice has been undertaken. This has 
included providers of children’s mental health and 
substance misuse services who were invited on the 
basis of questions raised by reviews, inspections 
and through scrutiny of the dataset. Audits are 
a two way process in which action plans are 
developed for the agency and a forum is provided 
in which they can discuss barriers that they face.

• Scrutiny of specific issues, for example low take 
up of health assessments by LAC was identified 
as a problem, feedback from the LAC engagement 
officer was sought and challenge provided 
to agencies. This has resulted in additional 
funding being provided by the CCG for staff in 
this respect and an improved take up rate.

• The initiation of an ongoing programme 
of Multi-Professional Discussion Forums 
which are designed to ensure that BSCB 
understands the views and experiences of 
front line practitioners dealing with specific 
issues. The first event addressed professionals’ 
understanding and experience of the 
Getting it Right (GIR) referral process.

Challenges and Areas for development in 2015/16

• Securing a full range of multi-agency data, 
with analytical commentary to ensure 
that we understand its significance.

• Assessing whether information provided by 
agencies in their Section 11 audit returns 
matches the perceptions of their frontline staff.

• Developing our Section 175 audit programme of 
schools to scrutinise what they are telling us.

• Identifying a plan of work that will respond to 
and enhance the understanding of services 
to safeguard children that we have developed 
through our dataset and audit activities.

Case Review subgroup

The case review subgroup is tasked with discharging 
BSCB’s responsibilities in respect of conducting serious 
case reviews. The circumstances in which a review 
is commissioned and details of those undertaken by 
BSCB are detailed in Chapter 3 below, this section will 
outline the work of the subgroup during the year.

Page 36



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 9

What has been achieved by the Case Review 
subgroup in 2014/15?

• The two Serious Case Reviews in progress 
at the start of the year were published and 
actions plans were in the process of being 
developed and delivered at the year end.

• A further five cases for consideration were received, 
resulting in the commissioning of four Serious Case 
Reviews and one Multi-Agency Learning review.

• The action plan from the SCIE systems review of 
children subject to a child protection plan as a 
consequence of neglect that was presented to 
Board in March 2013 was completed. This review 
has resulted in the introduction of single agency 
quality assurance processes for Getting it Right 
referrals and the commissioning of a bespoke 
neglect assessment tool for use in Blackpool.

• An action plan was developed in response 
to the publication of the Child R SCR by 
Lancashire LSCB in view of the involvement 
of a number of Blackpool agencies.

• Learning from Serious Case Reviews has been 
disseminated in pan-Lancashire seminars to 
ensure as wider audience as is possible.

Challenges and areas for development in 2015/16

• The number of reviews under way presents a 
significant challenge in terms of capacity for the 
BSCB business unit and subgroup members and 
financially for the Board. Following publication, 
there becomes a comparable demand on 
partner agencies to implement action plans.

• Securing Independent Reviewers has proved 
problematic. This is being addressed through 
a regional plan to train more reviewers.

• Working Together 2015 was published in late 
March and introduces a requirement for all Ofsted 
Serious Incident notifications to be submitted 
to the LSCB. The Case Review Subgroup 
will review these notifications, the impact on 
its capacity has yet to be determined.

Training and Development Subgroup

Working Together requires LSCB to monitor and 
evaluate the effectiveness of training. Like most 
other Boards, BSCB also chooses to deliver its own 
programme of training as a means of promoting good 
quality, multi-agency working.

The purpose of the Training and Development subgroup 
is to promote learning and development and to be 
responsible for the planning, delivery and evaluation 
of multi-agency training and the verification of single 
agency training.

What has been achieved by the Training and 
Development Subgroup in 2014/15?

• The BSCB training programme has been 
significantly revised and developed, this has 
been made possible by the appointment of a 
part-time training co-ordinator after a lengthy 
period in which the post was vacant.

• The training programme now involves a range of 
training styles, including seminars, half and full day 
events. The Working Together course that was 
previously delivered over two days is now modular.

• A pool of trainers drawn from Board partners 
has been identified. This shares expertise 
and reduces reliance on commissioned 
trainers, thereby increasing capacity.

• An Impact Analysis strategy has been implemented 
which will provide for a longitudinal assessment 
of the impact of a training course on practice.

• Attendance at training has been improved 
through the adoption and implementation of a 
consistent policy of charging for non-attendance.

• A joint training subgroup has been established with 
BSAB, which will be put in place from April 2015.

Page 37



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 10

Challenges and areas for development in 2015/16

• Developing a joint approach to training with BSAB 
to share good practice, develop efficiencies 
of scale and ensure that a wider range of staff 
receive appropriate training to enable them to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children.

• Ensuring that training is provided to meet current 
and emerging Board priorities for staff of all grades.

• Delivering a programme of seminars or briefings 
to disseminate learning from current SCR and 
evaluating the impact of these on practice.

• Development of single agency safeguarding 
and CSE courses which will be made 
widely available and allow BSCB to be more 
readily assured of the quality of training 
delivered by agencies for their own staff.

• Understanding the training needs of 
professionals in Blackpool.

• Evidencing the impact of training on 
the lives of children in Blackpool.

During 2014/15 we have delivered the following 
training courses: 

• Harmful sexual behaviour

• Working together

• Working together refresher

• Core groups

• Injuries to non-mobile infants

• Fabricated and induced illness

• Serious Case Review briefing 

• Child sexual exploitation

• Mental health and safeguarding

• Working with fathers

• E-Safety live

• Substance misuse and the effects of children

• Hidden harm 

The 718 attendees at BSCB training courses came from the following agencies

 Health

 Police

 Housing Education

 Education

 Probation

 Children’s Services

 YOT

 NSPCC

 Other

187

25

47

172

113

132

14
3

24

Page 38



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 11

Multi-Agency Audit Group

The MAAG undertakes audits of multi-agency work to 
safeguard children, each with a specific theme. Audits 
are typically intensive pieces of work that require group 
members to research their own agency’s involvement, 
before these are reviewed by the group and collated, 
by the Chair, into a report with recommendations. 
Recommendations are tracked by PMEG and result in 
changes to single- and multi-agency practice, while 
also enhancing BSCB’s understanding of safeguarding 
practice in Blackpool. Findings from audits therefore 
inform our understanding of safeguarding practice in 
Blackpool which is outlined in Chapter 2.

What has been achieved by the MAAG in 
2014/15?

• The completion of ten themed audits incorporating 
core groups (twice), early help, children of 
adults in mental health services, harmful sexual 
behaviour, neglect, core group attendance, 
domestic abuse, CSE and missing from home.

• The core group attendance audit was a file audit 
of 231 core group meetings, the remaining nine 
audits examined 39 cases in total, either in groups 
of five or as ‘deep dive’ audits of one or two cases.

• Audits have started to incorporate questionnaires 
for involved front line practitioners to ensure that 
the group properly understands their actions.

• A wide range of agencies has participated 
in audits, ensuring that findings are 
as comprehensive as possible.

• The findings of audits have influenced the 
development of a Domestic Abuse perpetrators’ 
programme and the implementation of 
training for harmful sexual behaviour work 
with children under the age of 10.

• Examples of single agencies improving practice 
as a result of audit findings include improved 
school nurse attendance at core groups, 
the Local Authority introducing a tracking 
system for the timeliness of distribution of 
Child Protection Conference (CPC) minutes 
and Probation developing a tracking system 
for CPC invitations and attendance.

• Lessons Learned from audits are distributed to front 
line professionals through a series of newsletters.

Challenges and areas for development 2015/16

• The completion of audits is time consuming 
and intensive. Ways to make the work of the 
group as efficient and effective as possible 
need to be explored, together with the means 
to distribute responsibility for audits.

• Ensuring that the recommendations 
of audits can be achieved and their 
impact is evidenced and evaluated.

• Finding ways to listen to the experiences 
of children and families when we audit the 
way agencies have worked with them. 

Child Sexual Exploitation Subgroup

The CSE subgroup provides strategic oversight to 
the multi-agency response to CSE in Blackpool. 
Representatives of this group also sit on a Pan-
Lancashire group to ensure that a consistent approach 
is delivered across the wider Lancashire Constabulary 
area. The effectiveness of the operational response to 
CSE is assessed later in this report.

What has been achieved by the CSE subgroup in 
2014/15?

• A multi-agency strategy has been agreed 
for 2015-18. The strategic priorities are: 

1. Leadership

2. Prevention: Public confidence and awareness

3. Protect: Protect, support and safeguard victims 
and manage risk

4. Pursue: Identify and bring offenders to justice

5. Partnerships: Co-location and co-working

6. Intelligence and performance monitoring

7. Learning and Development

• The CSE subgroup has developed its membership 
to include representatives from public health, 
YOT, Probation, the education sector and 
licensing, thereby widening the range of 
organisations that work together to tackle CSE. 

•  A comprehensive training programme has been 
developed to provide briefings, together with 
more in depth training packages, ensuring staff 
are trained to a level appropriate to their role. 

Page 39



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 12

Challenges and areas for development in 2015/16

• BSCB oversight of the response to CSE has 
been inconsistent and needs to be strengthened. 
Appropriate reporting mechanisms, both within 
Blackpool and pan-Lancashire have been 
established but must be implemented consistently.

• Continually refining our understanding of CSE in 
Blackpool through the Lancashire Constabulary 
problem profile and the CSE element of the 
BSCB dataset. Particular attention should be 
applied to the numbers of male and LGBT 
victims, who are seemingly over-represented.

• While we have been able to develop our 
understanding of what CSE looks like in 
Blackpool, more work is needed to help us 
know whether our work to protect victims 
and to pursue perpetrators is effective. 

• Engaging the wider community to act against 
CSE, specifically targeting taxi drivers and 
the hospitality industry, together with minority 
groups who may otherwise be excluded, 
or at heightened risk of victimisation.

• Understanding the experiences of 
CSE victims and using this to inform 
how we deliver services to them.

E-Safeguarding

The E-Safeguarding group is a pan-Lancashire group that 
aims to provide children with a safe online environment, 
through its four strategic objectives of Safer Management, 
Safer Access, Safer Learning and Safer Standards.

What has been achieved by the E-Safeguarding 
subgroup in 2014/15?

• The development of a central web presence to 
distribute consistent and timely messages.

• The raising of practitioner awareness through the 
E-Safety Live event, which is also used to collate 
information about current issues for practitioners.

• Provision of practical support to member 
agencies to address E-Safeguarding issues.

• Participation in national projects to improve 
online safety, ensuring that we remain alert to 
the latest developments in a fast moving area.

Challenges and areas for development in 2015/16 

• Given changes in technology a responsive 
approach to E-Safeguarding is necessary.

• Understanding what children and young 
people would see as important.

• Developing the means to cascade information 
as widely as possible, by securing as broad 
engagement with schools as is possible.

• Linking the work of the E-Safeguarding subgroup 
to that of the CSE subgroup to ensure a joined 
up and effective response to online grooming.

Understanding the views 
and experiences of front 
line staff
BSCB has recognised the need to ensure that its own 
work to set the strategic direction for multi-agency 
safeguarding practice in Blackpool is grounded in the 
reality of the experience and views of front line staff 
who deliver the services. This guards against strategic 
and operational staff working in isolation from each 
other, which was identified as a factor in the inquiry 
into CSE in Rotherham. Two ways of listening to 
frontline staff have been implemented:  

Shadow Board

The Shadow Board (SB) was established in March 
2015, so at the completion of the reporting period 
was very much in its infancy. It is based on the multi-
agency Shadow Children’s Improvement Board which 
ran alongside the CIB over its final two years. The SB 
meets in the week prior to the Strategic Board and 
considers the same papers, enabling the views of 
practitioners to be fed into the Strategic Board.

Multi-Professional Discussion Forums

Multi-Professional Discussion Forums (MPDF) draw 
together groups of practitioners to discuss individual 
themes to enable BSCB to gauge their views of 
specific areas of service provision. The first event, in 
November 2014, considered thresholds for referral 
into Children’s Social Care and, amongst other 
issues, identified the need for consistent feedback 
on referrals, for better provision of Early Help and 
better step down procedures. These views were fed 
back to the relevant agencies to influence the ongoing 
development of the referral process. MPDF will be held 
on a six monthly basis, considering themes relevant to 
the ongoing delivery of the Board’s business plan.

Challenges and areas for development in 2015/16

• SB members need to develop ways of working 
within their own agency, in conjunction with 
their Strategic Board representative, to raise 
awareness of the work of BSCB and the SB 
and to ensure that they represent the views 
of front line staff as widely as possible.

• Both the SB and MPDF should develop checks and 
balances to ensure that they are truly representative 
of the views of multi-agency professionals in 
Blackpool and not just individual members.

Page 40



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 13

Learning and Improvement 
Framework
BSCB is a learning organisation. Working Together 
2013 emphasises the need for professionals and 
organisations to reflect on the quality of their services 
and to learn from their own practice and that of others. 
This fosters an understanding of what works well 
and provides a forum for a rigorous and objective 
assessment of what has not worked to reduce the risk 
of future harm to children.

LSCBs are consequently required to maintain a 
Learning and Improvement Framework (LIF), which 
is shared across organisations, to enable them to be 
clear about their responsibilities, to learn from their 
experiences and to improve services as a result.

The LIF should support the work of the LSCB 
and their partners to ensure that:

•  Reviews are conducted regularly on cases 
that meet the statutory criteria and those that 
could otherwise provide useful insights, the 
learning from which should be widely shared.

• Reviews look at what happened in a case, 
and why, and what action will be taken 
to learn from the review findings.

• Actions taken result in lasting improvements 
to services which safeguard and 
protect the welfare of children.

• There is transparency about findings and 
actions taken to address these, including the 
sharing of SCR reports with the public.

The LIF should cover the full range of audits and 
reviews that are aimed at driving improvements to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children, at a 
minimum including child death reviews, SCR and other 
multi- or single-agency case reviews and audits. The 
LIF can also incorporate relevant reviews conducted by 
other bodies, for example, Domestic Homicide Reviews.  

How are we doing?

BSCB has a well-established programme of learning 
and improvement activities, primarily exercised through 
the work of the Case Review subgroup, the MAAG 
and the CDOP, the findings of which are referred to 
throughout this report. A wider culture of learning 
is evident in how we seek to review and continually 
improve our processes and practices.

The work of the MAAG was singled out for praise by 
Ofsted as being an effective means by which issues 
were identified, improvements made and progress 
evaluated. The more recent development of this 
group to include a broader spectrum of agencies and 
to seek out the views of front line professionals will 
enable more accurate conclusions to be drawn as to 
whether findings are specific to individual cases or 
representative of practice in general.

Having had an established audit programme and 
CDOP for a number of years and, more recently, 
embarked on a significant number of SCR, BSCB is 
in a position in which it has learned a considerable 
amount about practice in the locality. In turn, 
the resulting volume of action plans provides a 
considerable logistical challenge for partner agencies 
to implement and BSCB to co-ordinate. To date, 
insufficient work has been undertaken to evaluate the 
outcomes of changes made and to collate broader 
themes that emerge from the totality of learning.

In the forthcoming year it is therefore essential that 
the LIF is redrafted, in accordance with statutory 
requirements, to illustrate the Board’s combined 
learning from a range of processes, its consequent 
plans to make changes to practice and to evaluate the 
effectiveness of this process. By drawing together the 
streams of learning into one document a more co-
ordinated approach can be developed, reducing the 
risk of duplication, and providing a robust means to 
recognise emerging themes in learning. Consequently, 
ways of evaluating learning, for example by repeated 
audits or changes in the dataset can be introduced. 
The LIF should therefore become the central means by 
which the Board’s learning and improvement activities 
are co-ordinated and shared with partner agencies.

Page 41



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 14

What Ofsted said and what we did
BSCB was reviewed by Ofsted in July 2014 and was found to require improvement. Following the review an 
action plan was drawn up to address the key areas identified by Ofsted, which we worked to implement over  
the following months. 

Ofsted said “BSCB is not yet compliant with all its statutory duties… not all statutory 
partners attend or fully contribute to the work of the Board, although membership and 
participation is improving”

What we did:

We invited CAFCASS, North West Ambulance 
Service, the Director of Public Health, YOT and a 
primary schools representative to become Strategic 
Board members.

We widened subgroup membership, for example to 
include Licensing within the CSE subgroup, North 
West National Probation Service in the Case Review 
Subgroup and Substance Misuse Services in MAAG.

We introduced Schools’ Twilight Sessions as a 
means of engaging directly with schools to meet the 
challenge of an increasingly diverse range of provision 
within the locality.

Funding has been agreed for the employment of a 
Schools’ Safeguarding Advisor, part of whose role will 
be to act as a conduit between schools and BSCB.

What we will continue to do:

We will work to ensure that all agencies that are 
responsible for safeguarding children in Blackpool 
are represented on or engaged with the work of the 
Board. We will work to ensure that all providers in the 
increasingly diverse range of schools and GPs are 
accountable for their safeguarding practice and able 
to access the support and expertise of the Board.

Secure more balanced representation between 
agencies, be it financial, through attendance at 
and/ or chairing of meetings or simply through 
contributions made within meetings.

Ofsted said “Performance information is not yet provided by all partners to support the 
robust scrutiny of service effectiveness”

What we did:

We adopted a new framework for our dataset that 
includes a range of multi-agency performance 
information. The same framework is being used 
across the north- west, which means that we should 
be able to obtain and compare information more 
easily.

Information obtained from the dataset is used to 
determine a programme of ‘deep dive’ audits in which 
the work of single agencies is scrutinised and action 
plans developed to address identified weaknesses.

What we will continue to do:

Develop our dataset to obtain more in depth 
information about our safeguarding priority areas 
drawn from as many agencies and sources of 
information as possible.

Use this information in our LIF to judge changes made 
in practice and to identify further changes needed.

Page 42



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 15

Ofsted said “Thresholds for the provision of early help and referrals to children’s social care 
are not understood by all partners”

What we did:

Held a Multi-Professional Discussion Forum to seek 
the views of front line practitioners about thresholds.

Supported the work of the GIR steering group to 
establish a network of over 70 GIR champions 
throughout Blackpool to promote effective use of the 
process within their own agency. 

What we will continue to do:

Develop stronger ownership of GIR as a partnership 
and assume oversight of training for professionals in 
this respect.

Establish regular reporting of the work of the GIR 
Steering Group into BSCB.

Audit a series of referrals to Children’s Social Care to 
identify how systems could be improved to help staff 
who need to refer.

Ofsted also commented that “an appropriate range of multi-agency training 
is provided, and positive impact on practice in some areas has been identified 
through case audits… Learning from national serious case reviews and local 
reviews is used to drive improvements in practice”.

Page 43



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 16

CHAPTER 2 - THE CHILD’S JOURNEY

What we know about 
children in Blackpool
Blackpool is a seaside town in the north west of 
England. Its population of 141,400 people living within 
an area of 34.92 km2 renders it one of the most 
densely populated areas outside London. Transience 
is a significant feature of the town with 8,000 people 
estimated to move in and out of the town annually.

There are approximately 28,853 children and young 
people aged under 18 living in the area, making up 
20.4% of the population. Children and young people 
from minority ethnic groups form 8.5% of the school-
age child population, compared to 27.8% nationally. 
Approximately 1,000 children qualify for Disability 
Living Allowance. Life expectancy for children born 
between 2011 and 2013 is estimated to be 74.3 and 
80.1 for boys and girls respectively, compared to 79.4 
and 83.1 nationally.

It is estimated that 8,300 children aged 0-16 (31.3% 
of this population) live in poverty. Blackpool itself 
experiences considerable deprivation and in 2010 was 
ranked as the 6th most deprived local authority area 
out of 326 in England, a position that had worsened 
since previous assessments. 46 out of 94 smaller 
areas within Blackpool are amongst the most deprived 
20% in the country, while none are within the most 
affluent 20%.

Outcomes for children reflect those associated with 
high levels of deprivation, for example attainment 
at Key Stage 4 is lower than average, while levels 
of teenage pregnancy and hospital admissions due 
to substance and alcohol misuse and self-harm are 
amongst the worst in the country.

Within Blackpool there were 1826 children in need 
as of 31st March 2015 (2014: 1872), equating to 629 
per 10,000 population. This is considerably in excess 
of both the national average of 346.4 and that of our 
statistical neighbours of 503.7 (2014 figures).

Early Help
Professionals within Blackpool work to the BSCB 
“Thresholds for Intervention” document, which 
was published in 2013. This outlines the level of 
intervention that should be provided to a child based 
on their assessed needs. 

The GIR framework provides a combined continuous 
assessment tool for children with lower levels of 
need, together with a referral form for Level 3 and 4 
interventions from either the Early Assessment Team 
or Children’s Social Care. Individual agencies are 
expected to assess, co-ordinate and provide early help 
for those assessed in need of Level 2 intervention. 

Our partner agencies deliver a range of early help 
initiatives within Blackpool including:

Baby Steps

The NSPCC has delivered the Baby Steps 
programme within Blackpool for three years to 
date. This is an evidence based perinatal education 
programme for parents with additional needs and is 
designed to strengthen protective factors such as 
family relationships, social networks and emotional 
well-being. Baby Steps will now be scaled up as 
part of the Better Start programme.

Page 44



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 17

Better Start 

Better Start has obtained £45 million of Big Lottery 
funding over the next ten years to improve the life 
chances of children aged 0-3 and their families. The 
multi-agency project, led by the NSPCC, has two 
outcomes: healthy gestation and birth and school 
readiness. The Better Start approach is built on four 
‘cornerstones’: improving public health outcomes, 
changing systems to provide services for those 
with additional needs, ensuring evidence based 
interventions are delivered to address specific needs 
and to build and share learning from work undertaken.

The Better Start programme will be rolled out 
gradually, initially providing an evidence based 
ante-natal programme to all parents in seven wards, 
which will subsequently be extended throughout 
the town. Future interventions will target parents 
in treatment for alcohol and substance misuse, 
parents of children at risk of neglect or maltreatment, 
improved parental attachment and parents who were 
neglected in their own childhood. By the conclusion 
of the funding period changes should be embedded 
to the extent that they are part of the overall system 
and children are born into an environment in which 
help is provided at the earliest opportunity, thereby 
improving their life chances and reducing the 
demand for more costly, higher tier services.

Head Start

Blackpool Council is the lead organisation for the 
Head Start partnership which has secured Big 
Lottery funding for the pilot of a project to raise the 
emotional resilience of 10-14 year olds. Interventions 
will be based on an ecological approach that aims 
to create an environment in which young people 
are able to flourish. The project aims to create a 
whole systems change that will provide and embed 
universal and targeted interventions that will continue 
beyond the time frame of the initial funding.

In addition to the larger multi-agency early help 
initiatives there are a range of single agency early 
help initiatives that were evident in a BSCB multi-
agency audit of early help undertaken in June 2014. By 
expecting single agencies to co-ordinate and provide 
early help there is a risk of a lack of understanding 
of available services and consequent inability to gain 
assurance that adequate provision is available for all 
children in need of intervention. In the forthcoming 
year BSCB will consequently attempt to map early 
help service provision and provide an online resource 
for professionals to enable them to access appropriate 
services for the child that they are working with. 

BSCB’s understanding of the need for and provision of 
Early Help is significantly hindered by the lack of data 
as to the number of children assessed as meeting the 
Level 2 threshold of need. Whereas a central record of 
open Continuous Assessment Frameworks used to be 
maintained, the introduction of the GIR framework did 
not provide for any collation of completed Continuous 
Assessment Tools where single- or multi-agency 
intervention was provided at a lower tier. This introduces 
a risk of duplication between agencies and a lack of 
understanding as to levels of need and pressures within 
the system for commissioners of services. 

Points of entry into 
safeguarding services
‘The Front Door’

All referrals to the Early Assessment Team or Children’s 
Social Care are routed through the Front Door and 
are expected to be received on a GIR referral form. 
This process was launched in October 2013, so 
remains in its relatively early days. In summer 2014 
Ofsted commented on the variability in quality of 
referrals and noted “that some agencies do not fully 
understand thresholds for services”. A subsequent 
BSCB Multi-Professional Discussion Forum for front 
line practitioners enabled an open dialogue between 
referrers and the Duty and Assessment Team. 
Professionals present were adamant that they did 
understand thresholds, however it was evident that 
individual agency interpretation was not always shared. 

In order to address this issue, agencies have been 
asked to introduce quality assurance processes for 
referrals, while the GIR training has been subject to 
considerable revision. A network of GIR champions 
has been established, providing professionals with an 
immediate source of reference for advice about the 
framework. To date evidence of improvements in the 
quality of referrals is mixed.

During the forthcoming year, BSCB intends to assert 
greater partnership ownership of the GIR framework 
in order to counter any perceptions of it as a Local 
Authority process, will continue to monitor data 
regarding referrals and will undertake a thresholds 
audit to identify whether referrals are made at the 
appropriate stage. In the longer term BSCB intends 
to assume oversight of GIR training, which is currently 
provided by the Local Authority, in order to be 
better assured that it fosters a shared partnership 
understanding.

Page 45



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 18

Blackpool MASH

Lancashire Constabulary, in conjunction with the three 
pan-Lancashire children’s services, health and other 
agencies established the Lancashire Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH) in April 2013 to handle 
Police vulnerable child referrals. In June 2014 the 
Blackpool element of the MASH was disaggregated 
and returned to be physically located within the area. 

The MASH currently only accepts referrals from the 
Police (although in practice some referrals may be 
made by other agencies and then placed on the 
system by the Police). Information about the referrals 
is then shared with partner agencies to build a multi-
agency chronology and to ensure that the child 
involved is referred on to appropriate services. 

This should ensure that interventions can be provided 
at the earliest possible stage and promotes effective 
sharing of information between agencies. A key 
feature of the MASH is co-location of agency staff. At 
the end of March 2015 Police, Health, Pupil Welfare, 
Early Help, Children’s Social Care, Children’s Centres 
and YOT were all represented, while information is 
additionally shared with substance misuse services, 
Fire and Rescue, Probation and Adult Social Care. 

A second phase of development is projected to start 
later in 2015, which will expand the scope of the 
MASH to include CSE referrals and eventually will 
allow for referrals to be received from all agencies.  
The longer term goal is to route all current Front  
Door referrals through the MASH, allowing for initial 
multi-agency information sharing and responses. 

BSCB has been apprised of the development of the 
MASH, but should assume greater strategic oversight 
of its work, to drive multi-agency collaboration and to 
better understand its performance through the scrutiny 
of performance indicators.

Referrals 
In 2014/15 the Front Door received 10,832 contacts 
(2014: 13,276). A contact, in this context, can include 
anything from a request for urgent safeguarding action 
to pieces of information that required sharing, but no 
further action. The combination of all contacts into 
this figure renders analysis of the conversion rate into 
referrals difficult, as some clearly are not intended to 
lead to referrals, and means that conclusions cannot 
be drawn from breakdowns of contacts by agency. 
While the reduction since 2014 is welcome, this masks 
an upward trend at the year end and continues to 
place significant pressure on a small team.

Of the 10,832 contacts, 3,096 (28.6%) (2014: 28.1%) 
were referred on to Children’s Social Care and 
1,843 (17.0%) (no 2014 figure available) to the Early 
Assessment Team for further assessment, while the 
remainder required no further action. Longer term 
comparison of the conversion of contact to referral 
to Section 47 Enquiry to Initial Child Protection 
conference is included on the graph below.

Blackpool’s rate of referrals and of children at every 
subsequent stage of the safeguarding process 
remains well in excess of those of both its statistical 
neighbours and England as a whole. It is of similar 
concern that 31.0% of referrals are repeats (that is 
having been previously referred within the last 12 
months), compared to 23.4% amongst our statistical 
neighbours and 24.9% across England (2014 figures).

15,000

12,000

9,000

6,000

3,000

0

 Contacts

 Referrals

 s47 Enquiries

 Initial Child Protection Conferences

Page 46



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 19

Child Protection Plans
If professionals at an ICPC are concerned that a 
child is at risk of significant harm due to neglect, 
emotional, physical or sexual abuse then the child is 
made subject to a child protection plan. The plan sets 
out what family members and professionals must do 
to keep the child safe and well. The plan is managed 
through regular core group meetings and reviewed at 
child protection conferences.

On the 31st March 2015 there were 355 children 
subject to a child protection plan in Blackpool, a 
15.7% increase on the previous year (this is a rate of 
approximately double that of our statistical neighbours 
and treble the national average figures for 2014). Of the 
455 children who became subject to a child protection 
plan during the year, 83 had previously been subject to 
a plan, representing a rate of 18.2% compared to the 
national average of 15.6%. This potentially indicates 
that plans are being ended before changes made 
to protect the child are sufficiently embedded. Data 
in respect of gender, ethnicity and ages of children 
subject to child protection plans all conforms to 
expected levels, in view of Blackpool’s population. 

The most common reason for a child protection 
plan being put in place was emotional abuse (67.1%) 
followed by neglect (54.5%). Both figures are in excess 
of the most recently published national figures of 32% 
for emotional abuse and 42% for neglect (although 
this may, in part, be explained by Blackpool’s practice 
of allowing registration in more than one category, 
whereas some areas only list a primary category). 
Concerns regarding emotional abuse most commonly 
relate to a child experiencing domestic abuse. The 
difference between Blackpool’s and national rates 
may therefore reflect the known high prevalence of 
domestic abuse within the town. There has however, 
been a considerable increase in plans made in 
this respect since 2014, which needs to be better 
understood. The rate of plans in respect of neglect 
remains stable and may reflect the levels of poverty 
within the locality. 

Despite the high numbers of children within the 
system, Blackpool perform well in some respects, 
holding 91.7% of initial child protection conferences 
within 15 working days of the start of the section 
47 enquiry (compared to a national figure of 69.3%); 
reviewing 97.7% of child protection plans within time 
scale (94.6%) and having 2.7% of plans in place for 
over 24 months (4.5%). All child protection plans are 
managed by qualified social workers.

There has been considerable multi-agency effort to 
understand the continuing high level of child protection 
activity within Blackpool, which is evident at every stage 
of the system. Rates in excess of the national average 
would be expected in view of the levels of deprivation in 
the locality, however Blackpool continues to experience 
rates well in excess of those of its statistical neighbours. 
A single agency audit of children becoming subject to a 
child protection plan in the summer of 2014 did identify 
some plans that had been put in place where it was not 
considered that the threshold had been met, although 
this would in no way account for Blackpool’s overall 
high rates. It would also be fair to say that the overall 
multi-agency audit activity of BSCB does not indicate 
that there is a significant issue with children being 
inappropriately assessed as meeting the threshold for 
a child protection plan. BSCB will continue to seek to 
assure itself that the high numbers of children referred 
to and within the child protection system are in need of 
this level of intervention, or whether this number could 
be safely reduced. However, it is also imperative and 
that an understanding is achieved as to the high level of 
need. One explanation could be that appropriate early 
help is not being provided to address needs before they 
become acute. Work will therefore be undertaken to 
inform our understanding of the effectiveness of early 
help services.

In view of the high levels of need in respect of 
domestic abuse and neglect, BSCB will seek to 
influence commissioning of services in this respect, 
for example to close the gap in provision for an 
intervention for perpetrators of domestic abuse and to 
provide a robust assessment tool for neglect.

Page 47



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 20

Core Groups

Core group attendance and functioning was identified 
as a significant area of concern in the course of the 
2012 Ofsted inspection. In the intervening period 
BSCB has required all partner agencies to take steps 
to address this issue and has provided training to 202 
professionals. 

In their 2014 inspection findings Ofsted commented 
“There is now generally better attendance by relevant 
practitioners. Recent cases were seen where 
core groups were monitoring the progress of child 
protection plans effectively, and amending them as 
appropriate”.

BSCB has completed two recent audits of core 
groups. The first was an in depth audit of five child 
protection plans and identified improved timeliness 
of core groups, effective management of the child 
protection plan by the core group and  good inclusion 
of the parents. The explicit consideration of the views 
of the child was noted to be insufficiently evident. 

A second audit of agency attendance at core groups 
noted continued good social worker attendance, 
improved school nursing and schools attendance, but 
a slight decrease in parental participation and ongoing 
poor attendance from adult mental health services and 
CAMHS. 

Partner agencies are now being asked to develop their 
own systems for recording attendance to enable them 
to provide evidence of their own effective practice.

Neglect
Neglect has been an area of ongoing concern for 
BSCB. This was initially identified by a thematic 
review of neglect that was undertaken in early 2013 in 
response to which we made the following changes:

• Ensured specific reference to neglect was 
included within our new thresholds document.

• Implemented a concerns resolution process 
to encourage professionals to challenge 
each other’s decision making.

• Worked with child protection conference 
chairs to help them set more realistic 
and effective objectives.

• Developed and implemented a set of 
core professional values to promote 
a child centred approach.

It has therefore been disappointing to note the 
continued increase in the number of children subject 
to a child protection plan, out of which the proportion 
in place due to neglect remains above the national 
average. A ‘deep dive’ multi-agency audit of two such 
plans undertaken this year furthermore concluded that 
despite intensive intervention over a sustained period, 
levels of improvement were not as would have been 
expected.

A further recommendation of the original thematic 
review was the need to adopt a specialist assessment 
tool for neglect. This should enable professionals 
to identify and address neglect at an earlier point, 
thereby limiting the harm caused to the child and 
reducing the demand on services. There has been 
considerable delay in the delivery of the assessment 
tool, initially caused by difficulties identifying a 
suitable tool for use in Blackpool. A bespoke suite of 
neglect assessment tools has now been identified, 
in conjunction with the NSPCC, which will allow 
practitioners to select the right assessment for 
their concerns and area of professional expertise. 
Consistent use of the tool throughout interventions 
with a family will enable change to be measured and 
concerns to be identified and addressed.

Following the conclusion of this reporting period a 
Neglect Subgroup has been established to drive 
this process forward, however it is essential that the 
assessment tool is delivered at the earliest possible 
opportunity and that implementation is not allowed  
to drift. 

Child Sexual Exploitation
When a child is believed to have been a victim of CSE 
they are referred to the multi-agency Awaken team. 
The team includes staff from Health, Police, Children’s 
Social Care, Education and a missing from home 
co-ordinator. The lead professional for each child will 
be the person who it is felt they will work with most 
effectively, although Social Workers will always fulfil 
their statutory responsibilities toward a child. Children 
may, in turn, be referred on to other services, for 
example the WISH team who provide interventions for 
those in need of less intensive support. The work of 
the team is co-ordinated through weekly operational 
meetings in which individual issues and emerging 
trends are discussed. Senior managers are briefed as 
to the content of these meetings.

Page 48



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 21

The Awaken team is a well established response to 
CSE within Blackpool, having been in place for over 
ten years. The wider partnership has also worked to 
raise the profile of CSE within Blackpool, for example 
through the provision of training for elected members 
and through the delivery of PHSE lessons by the WISH 
team to pupils in Years 7 and 9. A pan-Lancashire 
CSE awareness week is held each year in November 
and includes publicity campaigns, a conference for 
professionals and increased police enforcement and 
disruption activity. 

In Blackpool in 2014-15 there were 243 referrals to the 
Awaken team, of which 152 were assessed as high 
risk (the risk assessment is based on the perception 
of the person making the referral, so is not based on 
a formal CSE risk assessment), which continues the 
broadly stable trend seen over the last four years that 
is also reflected pan-Lancashire. On a pan-Lancashire 
basis and during 2013-14 (the most recent data 
available) 62% of victims were aged between 13 and 
15, while in 40% cases the perpetrator was fewer than 
five years older than the victim. 

There have been a considerable number of reports 
published nationally in respect of CSE in the last year, 
however our understanding of CSE within Blackpool 
does not conform to the national stereotype. In 
Blackpool the predominant model of CSE is of white 
men operating alone, coming into contact with victims 
online, at parties or through hotspots. There is little 
evidence of gang related or taxi linked offending 
or of perpetrators being disproportionately drawn 
from ethnic minority communities. While full data 
is not available, a higher than expected number of 
male victims has been identified, as a consequence 
of which specialist support is provided through a 
Children’s Society worker.

Recent analysis of a cohort of victims identified other 
vulnerabilities including being the victim of other 
forms of abuse or violence within the family home, 
incidences of going missing, being a looked after 
child, family disputes, mental health problems, school 
exclusions and association with other victims. A 
multi-agency audit of five cases also identified a high 
prevalence of domestic abuse within the victim’s home 
and multiple previous referrals to children’s services. 
Further work is needed to understand whether 
Blackpool’s high incidences of sexually transmitted 
diseases and A&E attendance due to self-harm are 
reflective of CSE. 

Blackpool has a distinct economy, which is heavily 
dominated by the hospitality and leisure industry. 
Consequently many who work within this sector may 
have contact with perpetrators or victims of CSE so 
may provide an additional means by which victims 
can be protected. Awareness raising work in this 
respect has been limited to date and should be further 
developed. 

It is recognised that while there is a well-developed 
operational response to CSE in Blackpool, that the 
strategic oversight has not always been as robust as 
is required. More recent progress has been evident 
though in the development of the CSE subgroup to 
more fully reflect the partnership approach needed, 
the agreement of effective reporting mechanisms and 
the establishment of a pan-Lancashire strategy and 
Blackpool specific action plan. In forthcoming months 
the Standard Operating Protocol for CSE teams will be 
updated and further work undertaken to develop the 
CSE dataset.

Children who go missing 
from home
Children who are missing from home are vulnerable 
at that time, quite simply because those responsible 
for their care are unable to ensure that they are safe. 
Research into longer term risks would also suggest 
an increased likelihood of becoming a victim of 
abuse, committing or being a victim of crime and 
involvement in substance use. The already vulnerable 
group of Looked After Children (LAC) are over-
represented amongst those going missing (although 
this may, to some extent, reflect a greater willingness 
of care homes over parents to report children who 
go missing), while locally a correlation between 
incidences of missing from home and being a victim of 
CSE has been identified. This is evident in seven of the 
ten most children most frequently missing from home 
being open to the Awaken team.

The multi-agency response to MFH is delivered 
according to a revised pan-Lancashire LSCB protocol 
that was launched in September 2014. The priority 
in responding to any child who goes missing is 
ensuring their safety. Once they have been returned 
home a return interview should be carried out within 
72 hours to try to understand why the child went 
missing and what can be done to reduce the risk of 
them individually and children more generally going 
missing again. Toward the end of the reporting period, 
a standard question about CSE was introduced to the 
interview pro-forma. 

Page 49



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 22

A degree of professional decision making is allowed for 
as to whether the interview is necessary and the child 
may decline to participate, as a consequence of which it 
cannot be expected that all interviews will be undertaken. 
However, there is currently a lack of standard recording 
and reporting of these interviews as a consequence 
of which it is unclear how many are completed or 
what they tell us about why children go missing. This 
represents a considerable gap in our understanding 
of the issue. For BSCB, these interviews represent a 
potential source of information both as to the reasons 
why children go missing and to the experiences of the 
child, that has not been utilised to date.

Our understanding of children who go missing 
from home in Blackpool is hindered by changes in 
data collection processes and definitions. This has 
most recently been evident in Police data no longer 
including children reported as ‘absent’ (that is, simply 
not where they are expected to be, as opposed 
to positively missing). Consequently, the broadly 
stable figure of 378 children having been missing 
during the year (although each child will typically be 
reported as missing on more than one occasion), may 
mask an increase now that absences are no longer 
included. Likewise, the increase of LAC identified by 
their Independent Reviewing Officer to be involved 
absconding or going missing from 4.5% to 8.1% 
requires further exploration. 

BSCB should seek to ensure that better information is 
available to enhance its understanding of children who 
go missing, both in terms of their experiences, links to 
CSE, and in terms of securing robust, comparable data. 

Children in Care
When it is no longer possible, or in the best interests 
of the child, to remain within their own family they are 
placed in the care of the local authority, either with 
the agreement of their parents or under the terms of 
a court order. Many children who are looked after are 
vulnerable and the local authority, as their corporate 
parent, is responsible for ensuring that they remain 
safe, healthy and are able to realise their potential. All 
children in care are subject to regular independent 
reviews of their care, while the overall work of the local 
authority and its partners to provide for children in 
care is co-ordinated by the Corporate Parenting Panel. 
Children who are remanded in custody also become 
looked after and the YOT partnership maintains 
oversight of their treatment, while also working to 
reduce the rate of re-offending by LAC.

There were 454 children in care on at the end of 
March 2015, compared with 443 in 2014, which 
represents an increased rate of 156.4 per 10,000 
of the child population compared to 152.4 in 2014. 
That this is well in excess of the national rate of 60.0 
(2014), is expected given the high numbers of children 
throughout the system.

As corporate parents, the local authority seeks to 
reduce the disruption that each child experiences. 
The level of children placed more than twenty miles 
outside Blackpool has remained stable in recent years 
(currently 10.3%), while the 9.9% experiencing three or 
more placements within a 12 month period compares 
favourably with the national average of 10.7%. A 
significant number of LAC from other areas continue 
to be placed within Blackpool, this figure stood at 120 
at the end of the reporting period. The strain that this 
places on local services has been exacerbated by 
guidance from April 2014 that local health providers 
should provide for their health assessments.

Where the best interests of the child would be 
served by their being permanently adopted, it would 
be expected that this is achieved as quickly as is 
possible. In 2014-15 50 children were adopted, 
although the number of days between their entering 
care and being placed with their adoptive family stood 
at 752, compared with a national average of 647.

Private Fostering
A private fostering arrangement is one in which a child 
under 16 (or 18 if disabled) is looked after, or planned 
to be looked after, for over 28 days by someone other 
than a close relative. Any such arrangement should be 
notified to the local authority, in order for them to be 
satisfied that the child is safeguarded and their welfare 
promoted. 

From a starting position of 10 private fostering 
arrangements that were in place in April 2014, 11 
commenced and 14 ended during the year, leaving a 
total of 7 in place at the end of March 2015. This figure 
has remained broadly stable during the last five years, 
reflecting the national picture.

BSCB accepted the 2014 Ofsted inspection finding 
that it had paid insufficient attention to children in 
private fostering arrangements and has established 
a pattern of six monthly reporting to the Board in this 
respect. A publicity campaign is being developed to 
improve public and professional awareness of the 
need to make notifications.

Page 50



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 23

The work of the Local 
Authority Designated 
Officer (LADO)
The LADO works with local employers and voluntary 
organisations to decide whether a complaint or 
allegation about an adult working with a child is true 
or not. By operating independently, the LADO should 
be able to provide a fair and speedy resolution to 
concerns that are raised and ensure that unsuitable 
people are removed from the children’s workforce. 

During 2014/15 there were 91 formal referrals to 
the LADO. The greatest number of referrals came 
from Children’s Social Care (43%), education 
providers (23%) and the Police (13%). Referrals were 
predominantly concerned with those working within 
education (43%), foster carers (23%) and voluntary 
organisations (23%). In 30 cases the allegation that 
was investigated was substantiated. 

The LADO also undertakes work to raise awareness of 
safer recruitment practices and has worked with one 
voluntary organisation to develop their safeguarding 
practices to standard at which they can be used to 
demonstrate good practice.

During the forthcoming year the LADO will work with 
schools to ensure that all providers within Blackpool 
are aware of and utilise the service, where necessary, 
and with the Police and Health providers to try to 
understand whether the low number of referrals in 
respect of staff in these organisations is an issue that 
requires further attention.

In the course of the reporting period the LADO role was 
moved from the BSCB business unit, to sit within the 
local authority safeguarding team. BSCB will maintain 
oversight of the work of the LADO through the receipt 
of an annual report and other exception reporting.

Page 51



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 24

CHAPTER 3 - WHAT HAPPENS WHEN A 
CHILD DIES OR IS SERIOUSLY HARMED 
IN BLACKPOOL?

Serious Case Reviews
LSCB are required to undertake a SCR when abuse or 
neglect is known or suspected and either a child dies, 
or is seriously harmed and there is cause for concern 
as to the way professionals have worked together to 
safeguard the child.

SCR form part of the Learning and Improvement 
Framework and should establish what happened and 
why and whether there are lessons to be learned from 
the case about the way in which local professionals 
and organisations work together to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children. LSCB are required to 
publish SCR and their response to the findings.

BSCB is also committed to undertaking smaller scale 
reviews of cases in which the threshold for a SCR is 
not met, but in which it is felt that useful learning could 
be secured.

A summary of the work of the Case Review 
Subgroup’s management of the SCR process is 
included in Chapter 1.

This year BSCB published two SCR.

Child BR

What happened?

A 15 year old child was found dead at the family 
home, which a subsequent post-mortem examination 
attributed to methoxetamine (a synthetic Class B 
drug) toxicity, chronic renal failure and hypertensive 
heart disease. Child BR suffered from a significant 
and potentially life limiting chronic health condition 
and there had been previous concerns regarding 
neglect. In the years prior to Child BR’s death securing 
engagement with specialist medical treatment, at a 
distant location, proved increasingly difficult. 

Child BR had consequently been the subject of 
considerable interventions from healthcare providers and 
children’s services, as the consequence of successive 
child protection and child in need plans. The challenge 
for practitioners was of a young person with a significant 
health problem who resisted treatment and whose 
parents were unable to enforce attendance.  

What did it tell us?

The report concluded that “professionals and family 
worked tirelessly to try to influence Child BR to make 
appropriate choices about accessing health care”, 
noting that the family believed that there was nothing 
more that professionals could have done. Interagency 
working and communication were assessed to have 
been excellent.

There were, nevertheless, six learning points identified:

• The need to explore the effectiveness of 
joint working between primary health care 
and tertiary centres for children and young 
people with chronic health conditions.

• When brief interventions are successful, 
the ways that these can be maintained over 
longer periods should be explored.

• Agencies should ensure that staff are 
appropriately supported at times of increased 
pressure e.g. the death of a child or when 
cases prove particularly challenging.

• Arrangements should be available for multi-
agency discussion of ‘stuck’ cases. 

• Children’s social care should ensure 
that assessments are reviewed following 
significant events in a child’s life.

• Commissioners of tertiary healthcare should 
ensure that children with chronic medical 
conditions and their families have prompt 
access to psychological support.

What are we going to do?

At the end of the reporting period an action plan was 
under development and will be included in next year’s 
annual report. Work was already under way to develop 
multi-agency forums for ‘stuck’ cases and to revise 
assessment training.

Page 52



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 25

Baby Q

What happened?

A three week old baby was found to be unresponsive 
in the course of a home visit by a health visitor. On 
admission to hospital Baby Q was found to have an 
unexplained head injury, for which the mother has 
subsequently been convicted. Baby Q’s young age 
at the time of the incident was such that the family’s 
involvement with services had been brief. 

Prior to birth there had been a referral to children’s 
social care due to mother’s poor engagement with 
maternity services and concerns about her vulnerability, 
although no action was deemed necessary. Following 
birth the perceived anxiety of the parents resulted in 
more frequent than expected contact with midwifery 
and health visiting services, while Baby Q was seen at 
hospital twice. On the latter occasion a laceration to the 
mouth was initially treated as unexplained, prompting 
the involvement of children’s social care, however no 
further action was taken after a change of diagnosis to 
a medical explanation.

What did it tell us?

The review concluded “that there was little evidence 
that indicated that the harm to Baby Q could be 
predicted or prevented”. Good practice was noted 
in the identification and response to the family’s 
vulnerability by midwifery and health visiting services.

Recommendations were made to  
ensure that:

• Pregnancies are notified to health visitors at an 
early stage, to allow for effective co-ordination of 
enhanced midwifery and health visiting services.

• Professionals ask about parental substance misuse, 
mental health and domestic violence in all cases, 
the latter being undertaken in an environment 
in which disclosure can be made safely.

• Professionals guard against 
acceptance of self-reporting.

• Handover procedures are in place for hospital 
doctors when there are suspected non-accidental 
injuries to children and in these cases that wider 
child protection processes are not stopped 
until all information has been fully evaluated.

• When midwifery services are transferred 
between areas that all vulnerabilities 
are recorded and transmitted.

• Steps are taken to reduce the risk of 
losing information as a result of different 
surnames being used for the same child.

• Children are able to access GP services regardless 
of the nature of their accommodation in Blackpool.

What are we going to do?

An action plan in respect of this SCR was also in 
development at the end of the reporting period and will 
be fully reported in the next annual report. Due to the 
time elapsed since the incident some improvements have 
already been made, including automatic reporting of all 
pregnancies to health visitors at the time of booking.

It is anticipated that BSCB will have published four 
SCR within a seven month period by the summer of 
2015. Partner agencies are expected to disseminate 
the learning to staff, while BSCB will develop a series 
of briefings for multi-agency staff to explore themes in 
more detail.

Full copies of these reports are available on the  
BSCB website.

Child Death Reviews 
in Blackpool
The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) is a subgroup 
of the three LSCB of Blackpool, Blackburn with 
Darwen and Lancashire and undertakes the Boards’ 
statutory functions in relation to child deaths. 

By its very nature the death of a child is very 
distressing for parents, carers, siblings and clinical 
staff. CDOP carries out a systematic review of all child 
deaths to help understand why children die and to 
help prevent future deaths. By identifying modifiable 
factors, the panel can recommend measures to help 
to improve child safety and prevent future deaths. 
Broader findings can be used to inform strategic 
planning and commissioning of services.

Within Blackpool there were 14 child deaths during 
the reporting period and CDOP reviewed 12 deaths (a 
CDOP review occurs after all other legal processes are 
completed, as a result of which the number of reviews 
will always differ from the number of deaths).

Of the 12 deaths reviewed:

•  5 (42%) were deemed to have modifiable 
factors (circumstances that, if changed, would 
reduce the risk of future child deaths)

• 7 (58%) were expected (predictable 
24 hours prior to death)

• 6 (50%) were aged under one year

• 8 (67%) were female

CDOP uses learning from reviews to inform awareness 
raising campaigns amongst professional and the public. 

Page 53



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 26

During the reporting period these have included:

• Continuation of the well-established 
Safer Sleep campaign, which has been 
recognised as good practice by NICE and 
included on their website as such.

• Publication of a first CDOP newsletter for 
professionals highlighting, amongst others, 
the dangers of swallowing lithium batteries.

• Disseminated a dangerous dogs presentation to 
assist professionals to identify banned breeds.

How are we doing?

The weakness of considering Blackpool (and even 
pan-Lancashire) figures alone is that the low numbers 
(80 in seven years) are statistically insignificant. 
Consequently, while individual cases may cast light 
on risk factors or issues with service provision, 
extreme caution has to be utilised in drawing general 
conclusions. Nevertheless, CDOP has now collected 
seven years’ data since its inception which begins 
to build a picture of child deaths pan-Lancashire. 
Analysis of this data has been hindered by the lack 
of a database, which is being addressed as a matter 
of priority. The ability to undertake more detailed 
statistical analysis (for example, in respect of parental 
risk factors) will enable CDOP to draw evidence based 
conclusions that can be used to inform local planning.

Work has begun to assess the consistency of decision 
making by the pan-Lancashire CDOP panel, however 
a greater understanding is necessary as to whether 
regional and national panels are consistent. Without 
this it is not possible to compare data with any degree 
of confidence. 

Sudden Unexplained Deaths in Childhood (SUDC)

When a child dies unexpectedly a rapid response 
process is set in motion to review the circumstances 
of the child’s death. Multi-agency colleagues work 
together to share information to ensure a thorough 
investigation, to ensure that the bereavement needs 
of the family are met and that lessons are learnt from 
the death, where possible. The pan-Lancashire SUDC 
service is well-established and led by two nurses 
(outside office hours initial co-ordination is provided by 
the police), in conjunction with a range of multi-agency 
partners, including Children’s Services, Acute Hospital 
Trusts, North West Ambulance Service and Lancashire 
Constabulary.

A new SUDC protocol was implemented during the 
reporting period to strengthen and standardise the 
service provided, while training has been provided for 
multi-agency staff. In the forthcoming year we intend 
to undertake a thematic review of unexpected deaths 
that the service responds to, as a means of ensuring 
that any wider learning is identified and acted on.

A more full analysis can be found in the CDOP annual 
report which is available on the BSCB website.

Page 54



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 27

CHAPTER 4 - THE CHALLENGES AHEAD

BSCB’s current activity is driven by a two year 
business plan, which is available on the Board website. 
The plan addresses four key safeguarding themes 
that were identified by Board members during the 
course of a development day in January 2015. These 
themes were considered to represent the primary 
areas that need to be addressed in order to keep 
children safe in Blackpool. A final part of the business 
plan concentrates on the Board’s own functioning 
and development, building on the action plan that was 
compiled following the 2014 Ofsted review.

The analysis contained within this report raises 
additional challenges for the Board that can be 
grouped under the safeguarding themes of the 
business plan:

Child Sexual Exploitation 

• Do we utilise all available sources of information 
to know what CSE looks like in Blackpool and to 
understand whether our response is effective?

• How do we raise awareness of CSE amongst 
all professionals, children and members of 
the public, including those in employment 
in the taxi and leisure industries?

• How do we develop our understanding 
of children who go missing from home 
and how we can keep them safe?

Early Help

• Does the high number of children subject to 
child protection plans or looked after represent 
a failure to deliver effective early help for 
children at Level 2 and 3 thresholds?

• Is there sufficient early help provision 
for children in Blackpool?

• How can we better understand the level of 
need for lower level intervention, in view of 
the absence of a central record of children 
assessed as being in need of Level 2 services?

Neglect 

• The implementation of a neglect assessment 
tool has been significantly delayed, what action 
is necessary to prevent further delay?

• In view of the recent multi-agency audit in 
respect of neglect, are we confident that effective 
services to tackle neglect are in place?

Toxic Trio 
Children living with parental domestic abuse, 
substance use or mental health issues

• Given that child protection plans implemented 
in respect of emotional abuse are typically 
indicative of domestic abuse, what does 
the significantly increased proportion of 
plans under this category tell us?

BSCB development

• BSCB has accumulated a wealth of learning 
from reviews and audits. How can we ensure 
that broader themes are understood and 
result in meaningful systems changes?

• How can we measure the impact of actions 
taken on systems, on professionals and, most 
importantly, on children and families?

• How can we be assured that we collect the 
right data from all our partner agencies to 
capture safeguarding activity in Blackpool 
and that we properly understand it?

• BSCB has not undertaken sufficient work to listen 
to what children are telling us or to understand 
the lived experience of children in the town. How 
do put in place processes to achieve this?

Page 55



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 28

CHAPTER 5 - MESSAGES FOR 
OUR STAKEHOLDERS

Children and Young People

You are at the heart of everything we do in the child 
protection system and there are lots of people ready 
to listen to you. If you ever need help please speak 
to someone you can trust, this could be if you feel 
bullied, sad or unsafe. BSCB is here to keep you safe 
and we will find more ways to listen to what you tell us.

The people of Blackpool

Keeping children safe is everyone’s responsibility and 
you could be the person who is able to make sure 
that a child is protected. If you are worried about a 
child please call the Duty and Assessment Team 
on 01253 477299. You will not have to leave you 
name if you would prefer not to.

Elected Members

Demand the best for our children. When you scrutinise 
plans ask what effect they will have on children and 
how they will ensure that they are safeguarded. Expect 
agencies to provide evidence that their actions are 
improving the lives of children. You are Corporate 
Parents for the Looked After Children in Blackpool. 
Use your role to ensure that they have the care and 
life chances that they deserve. Take advantage of the 
training opportunities provided by BSCB.

Front line staff

Thank you for your unceasing work to keep children 
safe in Blackpool. We want to make sure that we 
communicate with you. Take advantage of our multi-
professional discussion forums and shadow board 
to let us know what you think. Keep yourself up to 
date with our work through our website and other 
publications. We provide a wide range of training, 
take advantage of it. If you manage staff please give 
them the space and support to reflect on their work to 
safeguard children.

Chief Executives

We need to be assured that you continue to meet your 
duties under Section 11 of the Children’s Act 2004. 
Help us understand how you safeguard children and 
the impact of any changes in your organisation by 
prioritising your contribution to BSCB. Ensure that 
your workforce is able to attend and contribute to the 
delivery of the BSCB training programme.

Police and Crime Commissioner

Please use this annual report and those of our pan-
Lancashire counterparts to inform your planning. 
In particular we would ask that CSE remains a high 
priority. Ensure that the voices of child victims are 
heard loudly in the criminal justice system and that 
agencies effectively work together to share information 
about those who pose a risk to children.

Commissioners

This means you if you have control of a budget that 
is used to provide a service for children. Ensure 
that you listen to the voice of the child when you 
make decisions. Understand the services that you 
commission and hold your providers to account to 
meet their responsibilities to safeguard children. 

Schools

You are better placed to understand the experiences 
of a child than almost any other agency. Please 
share that understanding to help others work more 
effectively. Assist your staff to access our training and 
let us know what training would benefit you. We are 
keen to communicate more effectively with you, please 
come to our twilight meetings and let us know what 
you would want to discuss at them. Consider whether 
you could become a member of our strategic board or 
subgroups.

Page 56



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 29

Strategic Board Membership (at the time of Publication)

Name Title Agency

David Sanders Independent Chair

Helen Skerritt Chief Nurse (Deputy Chair) Blackpool CCG

Cllr John Jones Elected Member Blackpool Council

Delyth Curtis Director of Children’s Services Blackpool Council

Dr Arif Rajpura Director of Public Health Blackpool Council

Amanda Hatton Assistant Director of Early Help and 
Children’s Services

Blackpool Council

Linda Evans Principal Social Worker Blackpool Council

Andrew Lowe YOT Service Manager Blackpool Council

Sharon Cooper Safeguarding, Quality and Review Service 
Manager

Blackpool Council

Cathie Turner Designated Nurse Blackpool CCG

Dr Sujata Singh GP representative Blackpool CCG

Marie Thompson Director of Nursing and Quality Blackpool Teaching Hospitals  
Foundation NHS Trust

Dr Rob Wheatley Designated Doctor Blackpool Teaching Hospitals  
Foundation NHS Trust

Bridgett Welch Assistant Director of Nursing Lancashire Care Foundation Trust

Sue Warburton Deputy Director of Nursing NHS England

David Rigby Sector Manager NW Ambulance Service

Nikki Evans Detective Superintendent Lancashire Constabulary

Tony Baxter Detective Inspector Lancashire Constabulary

John Donnellon Chief Executive Blackpool Coastal Housing

Karen McCarter Head teacher Norbreck Primary Academy

Chris Thomas Director 14-19 Blackpool and the Fylde College

Jackie Couldridge Service Manager CAFCASS

Tracy Buckley Service Manager NSPCC

Sonia Turner Assistant Deputy Director NW National Probation Service

Louise Fisher Assistant Chief Executive Cumbria and Lancashire CRC

Jenny Briscoe Lay Member

APPENDIX A

Page 57



BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2014–2015 30

Glossary of Acronyms

BSAB Blackpool Safeguarding Adults Board

BSCB Blackpool Safeguarding Children Board

DA Domestic Abuse

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group

CDOP Child Death Overview Panel

CIB Children’s Improvement Board

CPC Child Protection Conference

CSE Child Sexual Exploitation

GIR Getting it Right

H&WBB Health and Well-being Board

LAC Looked after Child/ren

LADO Local Authority Designated Officer

LIF Learning and Improvement Framework

LSCB Local Safeguarding Children Board

MAAG Multi-Agency Audit Group

MASH Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub

MFH Missing from Home

MPDF Multi Professional Discussion Forum

PCC Police and Crime Commissioner

PMEG Performance Monitoring and Evaluation Group

SB Shadow Board

SCIE Social Care Institute for Excellence

SCR Serious Case Review

SUDC Sudden Unexplained Deaths in Childhood

YOT Youth Offending Team

Page 58



For more information on the 

BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD 
visit www.blackpoolsafeguarding.org

C804   9-15

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Relevant Officer: Venessa Beckett, Corporate Development and Policy Officer 

Relevant Cabinet Member  
 

Cllr Graham Cain, Cabinet Secretary (Resilient Communities) and 

Chair of HWB 

Date of Meeting  
 

2 December 2015 

 

HEALTH  AND WELLBEING BOARD DRAFT ANNUAL REPORT 2014-15  
 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 To present the draft Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2014-15 to the 
Board.  
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 To agree the draft document in principle subject to any comments or amendments 
that are raised at the meeting. 
 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

It is good practice for Health and Wellbeing Boards to produce an Annual Report 
detailing key achievements from the year and summarising the work undertaken by 
the board. 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

Yes 

3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 
Not to produce an Annual Report 

  
 
 
 
 

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



4.0 Council Priority: 
 

4.1 The relevant Council Priority is 
 “Improve health and well-being especially for the most disadvantaged”.  

 
5.0 Background Information 

 
5.1 
 
 

This is the second Annual Report that the Board has produced, it focuses on the key 
achievements from April 2014 to March 2015. 
 
The key achievements include: 

 Oversight of the development of a number of strategies and action plans; 

 Thematic debates on cancer and social inclusion; 

 Implementation of several national policy agendas: Better Care Fund, Children 
and Families Act, Care Act, Winterbourne View Concordat and Transforming 
Care agenda; 

 Partnership working to deliver a number of key initiatives and bids for 
funding: Project Search, HeadStart, Better Start 
 

5.2 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

5.3 List of Appendices:  
  

Appendix 5a: (draft) Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2014-
15  

 

 
6.0 Legal considerations: 

 
6.1 
 

None 
 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

7.1 
 

None 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

8.1 
 

None 

9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None 
 
 
 

Page 62



10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 None 
 
11.0 Ethical considerations: 

 
11.1 
 

None 
 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

None 

13.0 Background papers: 
 

13.1 
 

None 

  
 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Health & Wellbeing Board 
Annual Report 

2014–2015  

Page 65

tsplseob_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 6a



Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2014–2015 2

Welcome and Foreword – Chair

Welcome to the second Annual Report of Blackpool’s Health and Wellbeing Board. 
This report focuses on some of our key achievements over the period April 2014 
to March 2015, during this time the Board has become established as the key 
partnership that is driving improvements in health and social care across Blackpool. 

The public sector has seen unprecedented cuts to its budgets in recent years and the next five years will bring even 
greater financial challenges for Blackpool as the government continues to push ahead with further reductions as part of its 
programme of austerity.  In addition the effects of an ageing population and increasing levels of deprivation and inequality 
place increasing demand on health and social care services. 

Blackpool has some of the most challenging health statistics in the country, which places extreme demand on public 
services. Life expectancy for men remains the lowest in the country, and while it is increasing it is doing so at a slower rate 
than the rest of the country. For women the picture is only slightly better, women can expect to live to 80.1 years although 
this is lower than the rest of the country by three years. Even within Blackpool there are large variations in life expectancy, 
demonstrating the inequalities that exist within the town.

Blackpool also has lower healthy life expectancy rates caused by circulatory, digestive and respiratory disease; these 
are attributable to lifestyle factors such as smoking and alcohol and substance misuse. Smoking is the single most 
important influence on death rates and is a major factor in ill health, smoking in pregnancy rates are the highest in the 
country. Blackpool has some of the highest levels of alcohol related harm in the country, not only direct health effects 
such as premature death and chronic liver disease but other consequences such as disorder and violence. There are 
an estimated 40,000 Blackpool residents who drink at hazardous or harmful levels, equating to 28% of the adult 
population. 

Considering these statistics, it is now more crucial than ever for partners in health, local authority, police, fire and rescue 
services and the voluntary and community sector to work together to bring about the systems transformation needed to 
deliver sustainable and long term changes in the way that health care is delivered. We need a major shift in how we deliver 
health and social care; moving away from traditional models of care based on acute services towards more preventative 
methods which promote self-care and are co-ordinated around the needs of individuals.

The Health and Wellbeing Board has a central role to play in this shift and have been placed at the heart of the reformed 
NHS by bringing together different organisations to improve health and encourage better co-ordination of health and care 
services locally through strong, credible and shared leadership.

Cllr Graham Cain 
Cabinet Secretary (Resilient Communities) and 
Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board

Page 66



Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2014–2015 3

Who we are

Blackpool’s Health and Wellbeing Board was established 
in ‘shadow form’ in December 2011 and became a formal 
statutory committee of the council in May 2013. 

The Board builds on strong pre-existing partnerships 
between the NHS, Council and other public sector 
partners. It has nineteen members spanning the Council, 
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group, Healthwatch, the two 
major health providers in the town – Blackpool Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and Lancashire Care 
NHS Foundation Trust; NHS England Local Area Team, the 
Police, Fire Service and Voluntary, Community and Faith 
Sector. A full list of members is included at appendix A.

What we do

Health and Wellbeing Boards are the key mechanism for 
co-ordinating the health system at a local level. They bring 
together major partners to jointly plan how best to meet the 
health and social care needs of the local population, with 
joining up and integration of services a key element of the 
agenda.

The Board’s main focus is on improving outcomes and 
reducing inequalities through every stage in people’s lives. 

Our Vision:
The Board’s vision for the future health of Blackpool is bold 
and ambitious: 

Together we will make Blackpool a 
place where ALL people can live, long, 
happy and healthy lives

Our Priorities

In considering its future direction the Board identified four 
key drivers to focus on and deliver over the longer term 
as those which the Board could most influence or add 
leverage to as a partnership.

1. Stabilising the Housing Market:  
Work with partners to improve housing stock via 
selective licensing, new Blackpool housing company, 
new housing. The Board recognised the importance 
of supporting the council and addressing some of the 
wider determinants of health that drive poor outcomes 
in the town.

2. Substance misuse, alcohol drugs and tobacco: 
Address lifestyle issues by supporting education 
programmes, policy intervention and oversight of 
programmes such as Fulfilling Lives ‘Complex Lives’

3. Social Isolation/Community Resilience:  
Address social isolation for all ages and build 
community resilience so that people become 
empowered to help themselves.

4. Early Intervention:  
Ensure services are joined up and encourage more 
upstream intervention at the earliest stage of life 
possible to make the most gains. Better Start is a major 
catalyst for change.

These priorities provide the foundations for the next HWB 
Strategy which will be developed towards the end of 2015.

They are currently being delivered by local commissioners 
who plan and commission integrated services that meet the 
needs of the whole community, in particular for the most 
vulnerable individuals and the groups with the worst health 
outcomes. 

This work is led by the Strategic Commissioning Group; a 
sub-group of the Board made up of commissioners from 
the Clinical Commissioning Group, local authority and other 
key partners. It provides strategic leadership, oversight and 
co-ordination on commissioning arrangements for children 
and young people, adults, older people and adults with 
mental health problems across the NHS, public health, 
adults and children’s services and key projects such as 
Better Start, HeadStart, Fulfilling Lives and Early Action.

Page 67



Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2014–2015 4

What we have achieved

Evidence, Strategies, Action Plans and 
Performance Management:

The Board has maintained oversight of and supported 
the development and implementation of a number of key 
strategic documents and action plans that contribute 
towards the delivery of the priorities of the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy, along with the evidence bases to 
support strategic planning and a performance management 
framework to monitor performance in these areas.

Sexual health was one of the key priorities of the Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy 2013 – 15. The Sexual Health 
Action Plan 2013-15 plan was approved in April 2014; it 
summarises the needs of the population, gaps in services 
and an agreed approach to filling these gaps through 
effective interventions. 

A number of key actions have been delivered since the 
development of the plan:

• An evidence-based programme for Personal, Social, 
Health and Economic education (PSHE) has been 
piloted in 8 secondary schools, including the Pupil 
Referral Unit; and a ‘Risky Behaviour’ training package 
delivered to those working with young people, including 
teaching staff delivering the pilot PSHE programme.

• Introduction of HIV screening in the Acute Medical Unit 
at Blackpool Victoria Hospital to improve late diagnosis 
rates, an online HIV home self-sampling service for 
high-risk groups and expansion of outreach HIV testing 
service to other venues.

• Availability of domiciliary contraceptive services for high-
risk groups, including looked after children and training 
in post-natal contraception delivered to health visitors.

The Board endorsed the Tobacco Free Lancashire 
Strategy 2014 – 2016 and Pan-Lancashire Smoking 
in Pregnancy Action Plan in October 2014, agreeing to 
work to develop local solutions to the actions identified. The 
Blackpool Tobacco Control Strategy and Action Plan 2014 
– 2016 focuses on a range of actions across three priority 
themes, which the Blackpool Tobacco Control Alliance 
believes to be the areas of greatest opportunity where 
differences can be made:

• Prevention – creating an environment where (young) 
people choose not to smoke

• Protection – protecting people from second-hand smoke

• Cessation – helping people to quit smoking

Key activity includes:

• Blackpool Council has signed the Local Government 
Declaration on Tobacco Control 

• Smoke & Mirrors training has been undertaken in a local 
school with the aim to recruit young people as peer 
supporters to the tobacco control agenda; 

• Blackpool Council has been working with a national 
team (including Public Health England, Tobacco Control 
Collaborative Centre and Tommy’s) to develop and 
research an intervention which aims to provoke women 
to quit smoking during pregnancy;

• An evidence based programme of risk perception 
training has been delivered to midwives at Blackpool 
Teaching Hospitals Trust to provide them with the 
confidence and skills to have difficult conversations 
about the harms to mother and baby of smoking in 
pregnancy; 

• A new Specialist Stop Smoking Service provider 
has been commissioned to ensure improvements in 
effectiveness of service provision and service outcomes 
(person-centred) particularly amongst deprived 
communities.

The Clinical Commissioning Group Strategic Plan 
2014-19 is the overarching plan for commissioning 
healthcare services in Blackpool and is supported by a 
series of smaller plans including a two year operational 
plan; financial plan and Better Care Fund plan. There are 
three cross cutting themes of Cardiovascular Disease, 
Respiratory Disease and Mental Health set out in the 
plan which link across to the priorities of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and Public Health. 

The Lancashire Crisis Care Concordat and Action Plan 
expected that, in every locality in England, local partnerships 
of health, criminal justice and local authority agencies develop, 
agree and sign off Mental Health Crisis Declarations. These 
statements are then supported and implemented through a 
multi-agency action plan with local actions delivering services 
that meet the principles of the national concordat. The Board 
approved the Concordat whose development was led by 
Blackburn with Darwen CCG. 

Page 68



Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2014–2015 5

Since then street triage has been set up with the police 
and mental health nurses on the busiest days each week 
and there are Registered Mental Health Nurses based 
at the police head quarters who are able to give advice 
to officers about people they are coming across on duty. 
Both of these are helping to reduce the numbers of people 
conveyed to hospital under s136 to a place of safety.

The Board received a presentation on the Fylde Coast 
Highways and Transport Masterplan, developed 
by Lancashire County Council and Blackpool Council to 
transform road, rail, tram and cycle networks on the Fylde 
Coast. The proposals sought to boost the economy, reduce 
gridlock on the roads and support healthy lifestyles. The 
Board were supportive of the masterplan.

The Board developed a performance monitoring framework 
to monitor the performance of the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy. This comprised of a number of key indicators 
taken from national frameworks and a smaller subset of 
indicators that were monitored regularly by the Strategic 
Commissioning Group. 

We have widespread quality pharmacy services providing 
extensive cover of the population which was proved in 
2015 when the Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment was 
developed and consulted on. The PNA provides the basis 
for all future pharmacy commissioning intentions, the core 
findings were that pharmacies provide a wide range of 
services above core contracts and there was no identified 
need for new provision. 

In October 2014 the Board received a presentation 
on the Due North report; an important report with 
recommendations for both local government and central 
government, it was particularly relevant at this time 
because of the austerity measures and poverty-generating 
welfare reforms that are hitting the disadvantaged areas 
in the North the hardest. The 2014 Public Health Annual 
Report is Blackpool’s response to Due North, with a single 
recommendation that the council develops an action plan to 
ensure full implementation of the recommendations arising 
from the Due North report. These will be taken forward and 
incorporated into the next Health and Wellbeing Strategy in 
recognition of the need to address the social and economic 
determinants of heath.

Page 69



Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2014–2015 6

Thematic debates

The Board has held a number of thematic debates on 
key issues that have contributed to setting the strategic 
direction for future work.

Cancer

A debate was held on issues related to cancer. The 
debate included a presentation on key statistics on 
cancer in Blackpool, examples of current work and work 
planned for the future. Blackpool has particular problems 
in experiencing a 37% higher death rate from cancer 
compared to national average. There were concerns 
regarding the levels of late diagnosis and lower than 
average participation rates in NHS Cancer Screening 
Programmes. 

Following the debate a steering group was set up to ensure 
a collaborative, coordinated and consistent approach to 
cancer care delivery on the Fylde Coast. The group ensures 
that local cancer services are developed to provide optimal 
care to patients with, or affected by, cancer on the Fylde 
Coast. A patient engagement group is planned which will 
enhance patient engagement and participation and ensure 
that patients and carer voices are at the centre of cancer 
services, which is the cornerstone of improvement of 
existing services and development of new services.  

Social isolation and loneliness

In recent years social isolation and loneliness have 
become increasingly important at national level, more 
so around risks linked with wider health and wellbeing 
outcomes. Research also indicates that both social isolation 
and loneliness can affect anyone regardless of age or 
background. 

Social isolation and loneliness is a key priority for the 
Board and it was the focus of debate at July’s meeting; 
the debate centred on how to ensure issues around 
social inclusion were addressed for all age groups and to 
formalise links to the Better Care Fund. The Board also 
recognised the need to ensure good practice in support for 
carers across Blackpool. 

A small sub-group was set up to take this work forward 
further through the Fairness Commission and a number of 
events and campaigns have taken place for example; 

• Volunteers Month – a celebration of volunteering 
throughout June 2014 with activities to engage people 
in volunteering; 

• The Acts of Kindness Campaign encouraged people 
to undertake a bite size project to promote a sense of 
community; 

• Projects in conjunction with the Joseph Rowntree 
Foundation in communities 

• Easter Buddies – The Easter Buddies Campaign was 
aimed at encouraging people to be more neighbourly 
and friendly towards each other. It was the start of a 
longer-term project to address social isolation and 
loneliness in our communities.

Page 70



Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2014–2015 7

Quality Care

A key responsibility of the Board is to encourage those 
who arrange the provision of health and social care 
services work closely together and in an integrated manner.

Better Care Fund

The £3.8bn Better Care Fund (BCF) was announced in 
the Government’s June 2013 spending review and the 
development of the submission to the fund has been a key 
programme of work that the Board has overseen. The key 
ambition of the Fund was to transform local services to 
ensure people are provided with better integrated care and 
support – which is joined-up, personalised and provided 
closer to home. 

The locality plan aligned to the two-year operational and 
five year strategic plans of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group; it met with the national conditions including a 
commitment to seven day working, better sharing of 
information and protection of social care services. Draft 
and final plans were approved by the Board in February 
and April 2014 respectively before being signed off by the 
Department of Health.

The main element of Blackpool’s Better Care Fund Plan 
was the commitment to deliver New Models of Care in 
the form of the Extensivist Service, this provides pro-
active and co-ordinated care wrapped around the patient 
with a single point of access. The service is fundamentally 
orientated towards supporting patients to have the 
confidence and knowledge to manage their own conditions. 
Once the patient has consented to be part of the service, 
full clinical responsibility will pass from the GP to the 
Extensivist. 

The service is provided by a team of clinicians and non-
clinicians skilled in supporting patients with complex needs 
and having clear accountability on behalf of the system 
for providing and co-ordinating this care. Regular contact 
with a health coach (recruited for the individual’s emotional 
intelligence) and effective use of telehealth approaches are 
some of the elements that will make the service feel very 
different. 

The approach results in significantly improved patient 
experiences, with patients being empowered to manage 
their own health and having an increased sense of 
wellbeing; this should also result in patients having fewer 
unnecessary outpatient consultants and investigations, and 
fewer planned and unplanned hospital admissions.

Children and Families Act 2014

The Board discussed the implications of new legislation 
in relation to the aspects of the Children and Families 
Act 2014 around special educational needs and disability, 
which has introduced “the largest scale changes for a 
generation” in relation to 0-25 year olds with SEN and/
or a disability and their families. The majority of these 
changes had to be implemented by 1 September 2014 and 
there were significant implications for both the council and 
health.

The report outlined the key changes which included:

• Joint commissioning for 0-25 year olds with SEND and 
their families

• Education, health and care plans (EHCP) replacing 
Statements, with an age range of 0-25 years covered

• Full involvement of parents and young people in 
approaches 

• A local offer being developed to outline what statutory 
services offer for SEND, which is interactive and 
dynamic, influencing commissioning

• Options of personal budgets for families and young 
people post statutory school age 

• New appeal processes in place if parents/ young 
people disagree with an approach/provision.

The Board endorsed the approach taken by partner 
organisations as set out in the SEND Commissioning Plan, 
which covered the areas of education, health and care in 
terms of statutory services. The plan outlined how children 
and young people’s needs would be met, within financial 
constraints across agencies, and the duty of each agency 
towards this.

Page 71



Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2014–2015 8

The Care Act 2014

In June 2014 the Board received an update on the Care 
Act which had just received Royal Assent; the Act seeks 
to rebalance Adult Social Care by bringing the patchwork 
of existing legislation together; consolidating best 
practice around personalisation by focusing on aspirations 
and outcomes, and by promoting choice, control and 
independence; and introducing reforms to the way that 
care and support is accessed and funded.

Winterbourne View Concordat and 
Transforming Care agenda

In July 2014 the Learning Disability Health Self-
Assessment was presented to the Board; this delivery 
and monitoring tool supports Clinical Commissioning 
Groups (CCGs) and Local Authorities to assure NHS 
England, Department of Health and the Association of 
Directors of Adult Social Services on the key priorities in 
the Winterbourne View Final Report Annex B, Adult Social 
Care, Public Health and National Health Service Outcomes 
Frameworks. 

An improvement plan had been developed, which was 
monitored by the Board ensuring there is a targeted 
approach to improving health inequalities and achieving 
equal and fulfilling citizenship for people with a learning 
disability; and helping commissioners and local people 
assess how well they are supported to stay healthy, be safe, 
and live well.

In January 2015 the Learning Disability Partnership Board 
assured the Board that progress was being made towards 
achieving the objectives set out in the Winterbourne 
View Concordat; a programme of action designed to 
transform services for people with learning disabilities 
or autism and mental health conditions or behaviours 
described as challenging. Work until then had focused 
on individual service users, future service design and 
commissioning. The Board recognised that this was a 
significant piece of work and that progress had been made 
locally. 

Nationally, it had become clear that the objectives of the 
Concordat would not be met and a new Transforming Care 
Assurance Board was set up, with a multi-organisation 
Transforming Care Programme Board developed to focus 
on immediate actions as well as future service models; 
its key ambition is to support the transfer of 50% of 
people who were inpatients at 1 April 2014, to the most 
appropriate setting. 

Delivering the Transforming Care agenda and taking 
forward the recommendations laid out in the Bubb report 
has imposed new health and social care commissioning 
arrangements across the country. This requires a significant 
scale of work, resource and commitment from CCG’s and 
local authorities given the pace expected nationally. The 
Health and Wellbeing Board are well-informed and have a 
key role in overseeing the development and implementation 
of this work in Blackpool.

Working in Partnership

The Board cements existing strong partnership working 
and relationships to improve outcomes for Blackpool’s 
population. There are a number of key areas of work that 
demonstrate this commitment for example;

Project Search

The Board has supported the implementation of Project 
Search following an initial presentation in June 2014. The 
Project Search model helps disabled people secure and 
keep paid permanent jobs. It is particularly suited to people 
with moderate and severe learning disabilities or autism, 
and others who can benefit from partnership working to 
help them into work. 

The Council has successfully supported ten students 
during the first year of running the initiative from 
September 2014 and following a second presentation to 
the Board in March 2015, plans are underway to extend 
the scheme to other partner organisations. The report 
highlighted the advantages for the organisation in terms 
of recruitment and retention, the work placements and 
the support for students through their family, a special 
education teacher and a support worker from Mencap. The 
key priority for all involved was a focus on an employment 
goal and supporting the student during this transition. Two 
of the students attended the Board meeting to discuss 
with Board members their positive experiences of the 
programme.

Page 72



Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2014–2015 9

Better Start and HeadStart

In 2014 two Big Lottery ‘Fulfilling Lives’ funding bids were 
successfully awarded: Better Start and HeadStart.

Blackpool was one of five LA’s to be awarded £45 million 
funding from the Big Lottery Fund. This will focus on the 
conception to three years age group and a population 
of between 40 and 50 thousand. The funding is for the 
seven most deprived wards in Blackpool – Brunswick, Park, 
Claremont, Victoria, Clifton, Talbot, Bloomfield. 

The learning and programmes will be rolled out across 
Blackpool using the leveraged funds to create a whole 
system change; developing stronger partnership working 
that delivers collaborative services, organised around 
the needs of Blackpool children aged pre-birth to three; 
securing strong social, emotional and physical health 
foundations for children; leading to better educational and 
economic achievement, which is sustained over time. 

The partnership is led by the NSPCC and involves partners 
from the local authority, Clinical Commissioning Group, and 
police. The strategy has four components:

1. A public health approach – shifting the curve for the 
whole population

2. Evidence based interventions – providing more 
intensive help for those who need it

3. Systems transformation – building shared 
understanding and shared action

4. Building and sharing learning – creating the 
Blackpool Centre for Early Child Development

Blackpool was one of twelve local authorities identified 
by the Big Lottery Fund (BLF) to apply for the HeadStart 
funding as part of their Fulfilling Lives programmes. 
HeadStart is aimed at building the resilience of young 
people aged 10-14 years to reduce the likelihood of them 
developing mental health conditions in the future. The 
partnership is led by the Council and includes Lancashire 
MIND, a number of Blackpool’s schools, and the NHS. In 
addition, HeadStart has a steering group of young people 
who advise the partnership and co-produce the strategy.

The funding is a three stage process, Blackpool has been 
successful in both stage one (£10 thousand for project 
development) and stage two (half a million to deliver an 18 
month pilot project). Work has been underway to implement 
the pilot and develop the stage three bid during 2014. 

The main premises of early intervention on which Better 
Start and HeadStart are based are one of the priorities 
for the Health and Wellbeing Board and are key areas of 
work in Blackpool. The Strategic Commissioning Group 
maintains oversight of the commissioning arrangements for 
Better Start and HeadStart to ensure that the projects are 
aligned to the priorities of the Board and achieve the best 
outcomes for children and young people in Blackpool.

Page 73



Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2014–2015 10

Looking ahead 

The first part of 2015 included a review of the Board in terms of how it operates; its governance and sub-structure. 
The Children and young People’s Partnership has been formally adopted as a sub-group of the Board and the Strategic 
Commissioning Group role and remit has been reviewed to focus purely on aligning commissioning. Membership was also 
refreshed as a result of changes in the local Council and a new Chair was selected by the Leader of the Council.

National policy drivers continue to bring changes and developments in terms of reviewing the commissioning and delivery 
of services for people with learning disabilities and also young people with mental ill health and a key focus for the Board 
will be the Learning Disability Transformation Plan and Emotional Health and Wellbeing Transformation Plan respectively.

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment will be refreshed and the new evidence will shape the forthcoming Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy and future policies. Similarly the refreshed Children’s Strategic Needs Assessment will be used to 
shape the Children and Young people’s Strategy. 

There has been some attendance at the Board by members of the public and we intend to increase our levels of 
engagement with the public via consultation on the HWB Strategy and other means such as an open day event.

Locally, the challenges presented by in-year budget reductions to public health and future funding reductions will 
significantly impact on how services are planned and delivered and it will be imperative for the partners on the Board to 
work together even more effectively to tackle these challenges and transform the way that the health and social care 
system operates.

Page 74



Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report 2014–2015 11

Appendix A

Membership of the Board 

•  Cllr Graham Cain, (Chair) Cabinet Secretary (Resilient 
Communities), replaced Leader, Cllr Simon Blackburn in 
May 2015

•  Cllr John Jones, Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Safeguarding and School Improvement, Blackpool 
Council

•  Cllr Eddie Collett, Cabinet Member for Health and 
Wellbeing, Blackpool Council

•  Cllr Don Clapham, Conservative Party Member, 
Blackpool Council

•  Karen Smith, Director of Adult Services, Blackpool 
Council

•  Delyth Curtis, Director of People (Statutory Director of 
Children’s Services), Blackpool Council

•  Dr Arif Rajpura, Director of Public Health, Blackpool 
Council

•  Dr Amanda Doyle, Chief Clinical Officer, NHS Blackpool 
Clinical Commissioning Group 

•  Roy Fisher, Chair, NHS Blackpool Clinical 
Commissioning Group

•  David Bonson, Chief Operating Officer, NHS Blackpool 
Clinical Commissioning Group

•  Dr Leanne Rudnick, GP, NHS Blackpool Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

•  Joan Rose, Director, Healthwatch Blackpool 

•  Gary Doherty, Chief Executive, Blackpool Teaching 
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

•  Ian Johnson, Chair, Blackpool Teaching Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust

•  Nikki Evans, Superintendent, Lancashire Constabulary 

•  Jane Higgs, Director of Operations and Delivery, NHS 
England (Lancashire)

•  Prof. Heather Tierney-Moore, Chief Executive, 
Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust

•  Simon Bone, Community Protection Manager, 
Lancashire Fire and Rescue

•  Chief Executive, Blackpool Council for Voluntary 
Services

Page 75



Page 76



If you would like find out more about Blackpool Health and Wellbeing Board including when we meet;    
the work of our subgroups; Board news and events visit our dedicated web page:    

www.blackpool.gov.uk/hwb

We are always keen to hear your views and to receive questions from you. 
If you have any specific queries about our work or the information in this report please email us directly at 

blackpoolhwb@blackpool.gov.uk
J117738  1115

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Relevant Officer: Kate Jackson, Commissioning Manager, Blackpool Clinical 

Commissioning Group  

Relevant Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Graham Cain, Cabinet Secretary (Resilient 

Communities) 

Date of Meeting : 2nd December 2015 

 

INTERMEDIATE CARE REVIEW UPDATE 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 To update the Health and Wellbeing Board of the progress of the Intermediate Care 
Review Recommendations and Implementation Plan. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 To review the updates in the report following the move into the implementation 
phase of the new model for Intermediate Care in Blackpool. 

 
3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

NHS Blackpool CCG and Blackpool Council have completed a commissioning review 
for Intermediate Care (see appendices) to ensure the health economy has an 
outcome based whole systems model of 24/7 integrated intermediate care services.  
 
Commissioners from Health and Adult Social Care have worked with key providers 
involved in the existing patient pathways to analyse the current picture of service 
provision and to consider where this works well, and where there is scope for the 
improvement of care to benefits patients. 
 
In order to manage the implementation of these recommendations operationally an 
implementation plan has been created by the Operational Sub Group. 
 
In order to deliver the date of the 1st April 2016 these recommendations require 
approval and support from the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 

No 

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



 
3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 

budget? 
 
 

Yes 

3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 
None 

  

4.0 Council Priority: 
 

4.1 The relevant Council Priority are: 

 Safeguard and protect the most vulnerable  

 Improve health and well-being especially for the most disadvantaged  

 Deliver quality services through a professional, well-rewarded and 
motivated workforce  

 
 
5.0 Background Information 

 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 

As part of the service redesign and as recommended in the previously completed 
Fylde Coast Intermediate Care Review (2014) the overall number of residential 
intermediate care beds will be reduced from 53 to 33. The new Blackpool 
Intermediate Care model (see appendices) mainly includes a shift from bed based to 
care at home provision that will require additional rehabilitation and re-ablement 
capacity but also the need to increase flow from bed based care through to at home 
provision.  
 
This model also recommends 24/7 nursing, therapy and social care provision through 
the inclusion of 10 enhanced nursing beds initially for patients requiring nursing care 
but more importantly suggests the need for flexibility to reduce or increase over time 
in line with demand. 
 
From April 1st 2016 bed based Intermediate Care will be based at the Assessment and 
Rehabilitation Centre (ARC) in Blackpool. The new Blackpool Intermediate Care 
Service will encompass existing community care services commissioned by NHS 
Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group, for example, Enhanced Supported Discharge 
and Community Occupational Therapy and Physiotherapy and jointly commissioned 
services such as Rapid Plus and Rapid Response and Blackpool Council commissioned 
services such as Reablement and Social Care staff. 
 
The new Intermediate Care service will need to work more closely with Primary Care  
and the new Enhanced Primary Care Integrated Neighbourhood teams to ensure 
effective transfer to ‘step up’ and ‘step down’ into and out of the Intermediate Care 

Page 80



 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
 
5.6 
 
 
 
 
5.7 
 
 
 
 
5.8 
 
 
5.9 
 
 

service. Co-ordinated links will be made to ensure that patient care is not repeated as 
part of Extensive Care. 
 
It is recommended that core hour medical cover will be provided by the patient’s own 
GP practice and practice pharmacists due to the change in service design and increase 
in flow of the patients through the system.  
 
An Implementation Plan has been developed by provider leads (see appendices) 
alongside a Risks and Issues Log (see appendices). Commissioning Managers from 
both Clinical Commissioning Group and the Council remain involved in the 
implementation stage of this transition. 
 
Operational, Finance, Human Resources and Communications Sub Groups with 
provider and commissioner representation have been set up and the Intermediate 
Care Board continues to drive the implementation of this new model forward towards 
the go live date of 1st April 2016. 
 
New and Joint service specifications are being completed between the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and Council that focus on patient outcomes. 
 
Updates will also be provided regularly to the Clinical Commissioning Group 
Governing Body and Council Adult Executive Board throughout the remaining months 
towards to the operational start date. 
 

5.10 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

5.1 List of Appendices:  
  

Appendix 7a: Intermediate Care Report 
Appendix 7b: Intermediate Care Structure 
Appendix 7c: Risk and Issues Log 
Appendix 7d: Intermediate Care Implementation Plan  
 

 

6.0 Legal considerations: 
 

6.1 
 

None 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

7.1 
 

Staffing for 20 beds at Spiral CIC to be TUPE’d to Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust and all Blackpool Council staff at ARC are under review to enable 
the new model to be delivered as recommended. 
 
 

Page 81



8.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

8.1 
 

Equality Impact analysis has been completed 
 

9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

Financial consideration needs to be given to the potential to increase demand on the 
Adult Equipment budget due to the increase in flow of patients returning home from 
hospital sooner but also that patients will be being cared for at home with an 
increased level of need 

 
10.0 Risk management considerations: 

 
10.1 A Risk and Issues Log has been created and is attached at Appendix 7c.  

 
11.0 Ethical considerations: 

 
11.1 
 

None 
 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

Patient/Service User consultation undertaken as part of initial review and is discussed 
in the Final report 
 
 

 
13.0 Background papers: 

 
13.1 
 

Care and Support Statutory Guidance Issued under the Care Act (2014) 

 

Better Care Fund (2015). Available at: http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-

rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/ 

 

NHS Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group Strategic Plan (2014) available at: 

http://blackpoolccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Blackpool-Strategic-Plan-v-

6.0.pdf 

 

Healthier Lancashire Programme.  Lancashire Leadership Forum (2014) available at: 

http://www.eastlancsccg.nhs.uk/download/governing_body_papers/6.4%20%20Heal

thier%20Lancashire%20Programme%20-%20Purpose%20Document.pdf 

 

 

Page 82

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/
http://blackpoolccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Blackpool-Strategic-Plan-v-6.0.pdf
http://blackpoolccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Blackpool-Strategic-Plan-v-6.0.pdf
http://www.eastlancsccg.nhs.uk/download/governing_body_papers/6.4%20%20Healthier%20Lancashire%20Programme%20-%20Purpose%20Document.pdf
http://www.eastlancsccg.nhs.uk/download/governing_body_papers/6.4%20%20Healthier%20Lancashire%20Programme%20-%20Purpose%20Document.pdf


Fylde Coast Intermediate Care Review and recommendations (2013)  

 

Fylde Coast Unscheduled Care Strategy (2012) available at: 

http://blackpoolccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Unscheduled-Care-

Strategy-Fylde-Coast-FINAL-.pdf 

 

Blackpool Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (2012) available at: 

http://blackpooljsna.org.uk/ 

 

Department of Health Intermediate Care – Halfway Home Updated Guidance for the 
NHS and Local Authorities (2009) available at: 
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/
prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/@pg/documents/digitalasset/
dh_103154.pdf 

  
 

Page 83

http://blackpoolccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Unscheduled-Care-Strategy-Fylde-Coast-FINAL-.pdf
http://blackpoolccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Unscheduled-Care-Strategy-Fylde-Coast-FINAL-.pdf
http://blackpooljsna.org.uk/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/@pg/documents/digitalasset/dh_103154.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/@pg/documents/digitalasset/dh_103154.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/@pg/documents/digitalasset/dh_103154.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



[Type text] 
 

1 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Blackpool Intermediate Care 

Review (July 2015) 
 

 
 

 

 
Page 85

tsplseob_2
Typewritten Text
Appendix 7a



 

2 
 

 

Contents 

 

 

Preface ......................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Background to the Review ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

Commissioning Intentions ........................................................................................................................................ 4 

Aims and Objectives ................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Strategic Relevance ................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Review of Existing Intermediate Care Provision ........................................................................................................ 7 

Current Issues Relating to Intermediate Care Provision ............................................................................................ 7 

Intermediate Care at Home Provision ........................................................................................................................ 8 

Intermediate Bed Provision ........................................................................................................................................ 9 

Consultation Exercise ............................................................................................................................................... 11 

The Future of Intermediate Care .............................................................................................................................. 12 

Summary of Findings ................................................................................................................................................ 13 

Review Options ......................................................................................................................................................... 14 

Recommendations .................................................................................................................................................... 14 

Broad Actions to Meet Outcomes ............................................................................................................................ 15 

Option B - Model and Actions .................................................................................................................................. 17 

Financial Information ................................................................................................................................................ 20 

References  ................................................................................................................................................................ 22 

Glossary ..................................................................................................................................................................... 22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 86



 

3 
 

 
 

Preface   
 

Blackpool CCG and Blackpool Council have 

completed a commissioning review for 

intermediate care to ensure the health economy 

has an outcome based whole systems model of 

24/7 integrated intermediate care services. 

 

Commissioners from Health and Adult Social Care 

have worked with key providers involved in the 

existing patient pathways to analyse the current 

picture of service provision and to consider where 

this works well, and where the is scope of 

improvement to benefit the patient. 
 
 

Background to the Review  
 

The Care Act (2014) places a duty on local 

authorities to promote the wellbeing of 

individuals. They are required to provide or 

arrange for the provision of services, facilities or 

resources which will prevent, reduce or delay 

the development of people’s need/s.  

 

Local authorities must exercise their functions 

with a view to ensuring the integration of care 

and support provision with health provision and 

health related provision where it considers this 

would meet the overarching wellbeing principle 

and improve the quality of care and support for 

adults and their carers.  

 

NHS Blackpool CCG (with support from NHS 

England) has commenced working with external 

support on developing new models of care. This 

work is based on international best practice to 

build on our existing progress in transforming 

and integrating local care delivery.  The new 

system will be radically different, with clusters 

of GP practices working together, supported by 

appropriate services coordinating care in their 

‘neighbourhoods’ closer to patients’ homes.  

 

 

 

 

 

The Fylde Coast neighbourhood models of 

care have been recognised by NHS England  

as one of 29 ‘Vanguard’ sites chosen to lead 

on transforming care for patients. 

 

As part of the Better Care Fund NHS 

Blackpool CCG and Blackpool Council aim to 

implement the recommendations from 

benchmark intermediate care review to 

ensure sufficient capacity within residential 

rehabilitation and community therapy, and 

consider development of plans to integrate 

bed and community based rehabilitation 

services  

 

The ‘Healthier Lancashire’ Out of Hospital 

Care programme seeks to improve outcomes 

for patients who no longer require an acute 

hospital bed but who would benefit from 

further treatment or therapy delivered in a 

non-acute setting. The project would seek to 

provide health and social care support that 

cannot be provided in a person’s own home. 

It will address the longstanding problem of 

hospitals (physical and mental health) being 

unable to discharge patients who require 

further rehabilitation, therapy or 

intermediate care in a timely fashion due to 

lack of suitable alternatives.  

 

This commissioning review considers these 

duties and seeks to support the national 

drive to ensure that local intermediate care 

services are resilient and able to effectively 

contribute to timely hospital discharges and 

prevent avoidable hospital admissions by 

providing intermediate support in the most 

appropriate care setting. 

 

 
 
 
 
 Page 87



 

4 
 

Commissioning Intentions 

 
Intermediate care services, including 

rehabilitation and re-ablement, have the 

potential to reduce the number and length of 

admissions by facilitating a stepped pathway 

out of hospital (step down) and by responding 

quickly to changing needs in the community 

(step up).   

 

Blackpool Commissioners believe that good 

intermediate care should be easily accessible 

and seek to reduce, minimise or reverse 

deteriorating situations and conditions which 

might otherwise lead to a hospital admission.   

 

The development of a whole system model of 

Intermediate Care, where there is real 

integration of services designed to support 

people to gain and regain independence and 

control is seen by Blackpool Commissioners as 

essential to the transformation of health and 

social care and to maximising people’s 

independence.  

 

There is an array of good intermediate care 

services commissioned by Blackpool health and 

social care. However this commissioning review 

has identified issues around the complexity of 

the current model including areas of 

duplication and gaps in provision. Many of 

these issues were previously identified by the 

Fylde Coast Intermediate Care Review (2013). 

For example:    

 

o there are a number of entry points and 

pathways to services which are badged as 

intermediate care 

o there is no single point of coordination 

o there is limited  ‘at home’ provision for 

intermediate care 

o there is limited tailored support for people 

with mental health needs including 

dementia  

o patients experience varying access to 

specialist equipment, medical or 

therapeutic supports.  

 

This commissioning review has explored 

existing and potential service delivery models, 

drawing on the knowledge and experience of a 

range of professionals across a number of 

authorities including Blackpool and seeks to 

address these concerns. 

 

It identifies the key intermediate care 

functions which best meet peoples’ needs and 

promotes their independence across a 

continuum of care from hospital to home 

through bed based or community based 

support/s including; rehabilitation, re-

ablement and resettlement supporting care 

closer to the person’s home wherever 

possible. 

 

The review presents options and makes 

recommendations on potential areas for 

development including; pooling of resources 

and invest to save opportunities to secure 

positive outcomes for people accessing 

intermediate care services and to deliver 

maximum value for money.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 88



 

5 
 

Aims and Objectives  
 

This report aims to identify what kind of 

intermediate care services are needed and how 

these will work together to best effect and to 

describe a model which: -  

 

 Promotes independence and wellbeing and 

prevent, reduce or delay the onset / 

development of need/s 

 Supports care closer to the person’s home 

 Simplifies intermediate care pathways to provide 

effective and accessible integrated services  

 Prevents people attending or going in to hospital 

unnecessarily 

 Prevents people from having to move in to 

residential care or nursing care until they really 

need to 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Strategic Relevance  

 

There are considerable health challenges in 

Blackpool which contribute to significant 

differences in life expectancy for local residents 

compared with national and regional averages1: 

 

 Male life expectancy at birth (74 years) is the 

lowest in England. 

 Female life expectancy at birth (80 years) is 2.9 

years below England & Wales and 1.7 years below 

the North West female life expectancy 

 Not only do people in Blackpool live shorter lives, 

but also spend a smaller proportion of their 

lifespan in good health and without disability. 

 

The causes of death contributing most to 

Blackpool’s low life expectancy are:  

 

 Diseases of the digestive system (Inc. Cirrhosis)  

 

 Circulatory Diseases including Heart Disease 
and Stroke.  
 

 Cancers (especially lung cancer)  
 

 Respiratory diseases including bronchitis and 
COPD  
 

 Accidental overdose and poisoning and self-

harm amongst men  

 

Intermediate Care, delivered promptly and 

effectively, can have a significant impact on the 

quality of life of people with long term health 

conditions. 

 

 

                                                           
1
 Source: Blackpool Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. Core document  - 

Chapter 2 - Health and Wellbeing in Blackpool (August 2014) 

For the purposes of this review the definition 
of intermediate care is provided by the 
Department of Health (Section 2 Care Act 
Guidance 2014)  
 
“Intermediate Care” services are provided to 
people, usually older people, after they have 
left hospital or when they are at risk of being 
sent to hospital.  Intermediate care is a 
programme of care provided by a limited 
period of time to assist a person to maintain 
or regain the ability to live independently. As 
such they provide a link between places such 
as hospital and home and between different 
areas of the health and social care support 
system i.e. community services, hospitals, 

GPs, care and support. 
 

Page 89



 

6 
 

Future Needs 

 

 The biggest % increases in adult population 

are projected to be in the 70-74 and 80-90 age 

groups.  

 

 By 2020, the number of people aged over 65 is 

estimated to increase to over 29,000 people 

and increase by 5%.  

 

 The older age group, those aged 80 and over is 

predicted to increase by 10% as people live 

longer.  

 

 Between 2001 and 2011 the number of people 

providing unpaid care increased by 0.62%.  

 

 As at 2011 the number of people providing 

unpaid care was 18,330 which equates to nearly 

13% of the population.  

 

According to the JSNA, it seems inevitable that 

rising numbers of people will be seeking 

assessment and support from health and social 

care services. 

 

Work stream six of the Fylde Coast Unscheduled 

Care Strategy refers to ‘Seamless wrap around 

health and social care services in the community.’ 

This coupled with the Care Act 2014, seek to 

support people in the community, in their own 

homes where possible for longer.   

 

The likely impact of this trend will be 

increased demand for health and social care 

assessments, appropriate housing options, 

high rates of mobility, personal care and 

domestic needs, and increasing demand for 

services to support people with dementia. 

 

 
 
 

Page 90



 

7 
 

 

 
Review of Existing Intermediate Care 
Provision 

 
The Intermediate Care Review scoped the 

existing health and social care services for 

intermediate care and their current capacity.  A 

range of stakeholders were engaged to identify 

what works well, or not so well in order to 

reach a clear understanding of the current care 

pathway, blockages, areas of duplication and 

where gaps exist. This included consultation 

with a small number of people who have used 

these services. A summary is attached.  

 

The service redesign for intermediate care has 

also considered the Patient Pathway reviews 

currently being completed including falls, stroke 

and respiratory.    

 
Current Issues Relating to Intermediate 
Care Provision 

 
There is no single point of access for 

intermediate care services.  There are a number 

of points in the ‘system’ at which assessments 

for intermediate care are carried out with 

patients experiencing multiple assessments. 

This results in significant duplication, 

fragmentation and a lack of consistency in 

approach. 

Referrers are unsure of the availability of 

intermediate care services, and the criteria for 

accessing these services. 

The A&E admission avoidance Integrated 

Assessment Team (IAT) is effective in 

supporting the rapid return home of patients 

before admission. Significant benefit would be 

gained by improving how the IAT team 

integrates its working practices with the new 

recommended Intermediate Care in the 

community model. 

 

 

There is no identifiable health, multi-disciplinary 

‘Intermediate Care at Home’ team in Blackpool 

unlike the case in the majority of health 

economies, with the exception of the social care 

re-ablement team. Until recently the vast 

majority of the intermediate care at home 

function (other than re-ablement) has been 

incorporated into the district nursing team, 

community matrons and community therapy 

teams with limited interaction between these 

services.  

In April 2015 the Enhanced Supported Discharge 

service (ESD) commenced pro-actively identifying 

patients in hospital who require rehabilitation 

which could be delivered at home.  

 

Existing intermediate care services have 

developed their own assessment documentation 

which potentially leads to a lack of a consistency 

in approach and people not receiving the 

intermediate care service which best meets their 

individual needs.  

 

Medical cover, in some services, is reactive and 

temporary. There appears to be little in the way 

of formal medical cover arrangements within 

some service specifications; for example, medical 

cover for bed-based patients in the Assessment 

and Rehabilitation Centre (ARC) are based upon 

temporary registration of patients with local GP 

practices on an ad hoc basis. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91



 

8 
 

Intermediate Care at Home Provision 
 

Reablement Care at Home (Blackpool In- House 

Provider Services) delivers outcome focused 

support to people through a social care 

programme of time limited intensive 

rehabilitation to enable them to regain their 

independence following a period of illness, injury 

or surgery.  The interventions offered are short 

term helping people ‘to do’ rather than ‘doing to 

or for’ people and normally last up to a 

maximum of 6 weeks.  

The service currently delivers an average of 1400 

hours of Reablement care per month with 

people accessing an average of 7 hours of 

support each week. The service offers some 

flexibility to ‘flex up / down’ to accommodate 

fluctuations in demand.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Blackpool Equipment Service – A number of 

health professionals across the Hospital 

Discharge, Spiral CIC, Early Supported Discharge, 

and Rapid Response Teams together with the 

colleagues across Intermediate Care assess and 

prescribe equipment to patients at the point of 

referral in to intermediate care services. 1,698 

items of equipment were provided in the period 

(01/12/14 – 31/05/15).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Increasing the flow of patients returning home 

from hospital sooner and with higher levels of 

need may lead to an increased draw on the 

community equipment budget as people 

returning home sooner, with greater needs are 

likely to require more equipment and support 

which may have otherwise been available in 

another setting. 

 

Broadly speaking the overall numbers of people 

accessing the new Intermediate care service in 

the short term should remain approximately the 

same. However, in light of the proposed 

reduction to intermediate nursing bed capacity 

and residential intermediate care beds (53 

reducing to 33) combined with increases in the 

local population anticipated by the (JSNA) and 

rising demand for services anticipated over the 

next five years, the focus of intermediate care 

services will need to shift toward supporting 

people to remain at home or return to their 

homes sooner to complete their rehabilitation.  

NHS Blackpool CCG and Blackpool Council also 

commission the Keats Community and Day Care 

service for residents of Blackpool with enduring 

mental health problems. This service is a 

specialist daytime support service providing 

intermediate care in the community.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In 2014 - 2015 the average reablement care at home 

package lasted 29 days 

 

The value of equipment prescribed in the period 

was £65,945.00 (Equivalent £132,000k per year). 

Source: Community Equipment Service Database 

(June 2015).   

 

Page 92



 

9 
 

Intermediate Bed Provision  
 

The current bed provision for intermediate care is 

as follows:- 

 

ARC (Assessment and Rehabilitation Centre) is a 

jointly commissioned (Blackpool Council and NHS 

Blackpool CCG) Social Care led service providing 33 

intermediate care beds with health and therapy 

input. Therapy staff at ARC are commissioned by 

NHS Blackpool CCG from Blackpool Teaching 

Hospitals NHSFT. The ARC is partially funded 

through £591k Better Care Fund    (Community 

Contract - £91k and Section 26 - £500k). 

 

Admission to the ARC is dependent on a referral 

from a social care or health professional. This 

referral will determine whether the access 

criteria is met.  Some admissions are made and it 

is found that incomplete or inaccurate 

information on the referral means that access 

criteria are not met, but as the patient is by this 

time in the service, this can be a challenge to 

manage. 

 

 

 

 

Patients cared for at ARC tend to have a variety 

of health, social care and housing related issues. 

The ARC does not decline referrals based on 

diagnosis of mental health problems or life 

limiting conditions, but the person must be able 

to benefit from a period of residential 

reablement. On average 5.3 residents a month 

were readmitted to the acute hospital.  

People accessing residential intermediate care 

services at ARC receive multi-disciplinary 

assessment and support typically for 6 weeks 

before returning home. Following admission, a 

planning meeting takes place, usually around the 

end of week two. This meeting is attended by the 

person and the Multi-Disciplinary Team and is 

the point at which the individual’s initial 

assessments and planned rehabilitation 

programme is agreed.  Family and carers are 

encouraged to participate with the person’s 

consent. All parties are involved and encouraged 

to contribute the formulation of a care plan.  

Part of the role of the ARC is to support people 

who are considering residential care to ensure 

that all options of support in the community 

have been exhausted before a long term decision 

is made. 

Discharge planning at ARC typically does not 

begin until around week four of rehabilitation. 

The review found that environmental visits are 

not routinely completed and on occasions when 

home visits are completed, they rarely take place 

before the end of the rehabilitation period. 

Consequently opportunities to identify and 

address issues early on that may later affect 

discharge home are lost resulting in avoidable 

delays.  

There is little transitional support available 

during the rehabilitation period to help people 

prepare to return home. Some residents at ARC 

will have experienced 24 hour support in a 

hospital setting followed by an extended period 

of residential rehabilitation and are 

understandably cautious about returning home, 

often alone and with significantly lower levels of 

daily support and oversight.  

People discharged home from ARC tend to go on 

to receive a further package of intermediate 

In 2014 -15 the ARC admitted approximately 250 

people for up to 6 weeks of intermediate residential 

rehabilitation. 

 

Page 93



 

10 
 

reablement care at home for up to a further 6 

weeks.  

A multi- disciplinary review of patients present 

at the ARC on a given date in June 2015 

showed that of 29 patients, 12 could have 

remained at, or been discharged straight to 

their home if there had been suitable 

community support, 9 could have been 

discharged from ARC within 5 days after an 

intensive period of assessment if there had 

been suitable community support to continue 

a rehabilitation program at home and 7 

required a stay of up to 14 days due to more 

complex issues.  2 patients were not suitable 

for a community rehab service and their needs 

would be more appropriate for longer term 

care settings. 

Spiral CIC is a Nurse-led, sub-acute unit at 

Bispham Hospital. This unit has 20 beds. Spiral is a 

Community Interest Company (CIC) and their 

service is sub-contracted by Blackpool Teaching 

Hospitals NHSFT to provide nurse-led intermediate 

care along with some specific programmes of care 

for cardiac patients being discharged from the 

acute hospital.  

In the financial year 2014/15 admissions to the 

Bispham Spiral site were calculated at 480. On 

average 3.8 patients a month were readmitted to 

Blackpool Victoria Hospital approximately 9.5% of 

overall admissions. 

The cohort of intermediate care patients cared 

for at Spiral would not typically be classed as 

‘sub-acute’. The average length of stay of this 

cohort of patients is 13.7 days, which suggests 

many of these patients could be cared for by 

an ‘intermediate care at home’ team, were one 

available. Sub-acute patients generally have 

complex needs, existing co-morbidities and 

require high levels of nursing input and 

potentially some medical review / input to 

ensure their multifaceted, complex needs are 

met.  

 

 

 

The assessment for Spiral is undertaken by their 

own trained Nurse Assessor, in the hospital 

setting, who liaises directly with ward staff to 

identify suitable patients for assessment and 

transfer to the Unit. The Hospital Discharge 

Team does not appear to be involved 

systematically in this process. Spiral has 

developed its own assessment documentation.  

Social Services are not as involved in supported 

discharge as would be expected in a sub-acute 

unit. A dedicated social work assessor attends 

the unit when a referral is received from Spiral 

ward staff. However, Social Services report 

receiving low numbers of referrals from Spiral.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

A review of recent referrals to Social Services 

from Spiral and subsequent assessment 

outcomes suggests that the service tends to be 

occupied by people who have few nursing needs 

and who could potentially be supported to 

return home either straight from the acute 

hospital, or much sooner with more appropriate 

intermediate care services. 

 

A Public Consultation exercise was recently 

undertaken to understand older people’s needs 

and the capacity of rehabilitation services across 

In the financial year 2014/15 the average length of 
stay at Spiral was 13.7 days.   

In 2014 -15 Bispham Spiral admitted approximately 

480 people  

 

Page 94



 

11 
 

the Fylde Coast: Fylde Coast Intermediate Care 

Review and Recommendations (2013).  

With regards to access to beds the report 

concluded that ‘the future need for services 

based at Bispham is being reviewed as part of 

the unscheduled care plan.  Just like other 

services, the new model may enable the 

current Spiral health staff to benefit from new 

ways of working and meeting local needs...’ 

Spiral does not accept patients with a mental 

health need or people who reside in care 

homes. ‘Halfway Home’ specifically makes 

reference to intermediate care services being 

inclusive and that patients should not be 

denied services on these grounds. Nationally, 

the intermediate care patient cohort comprises 

frail older people with a number of long-term 

conditions, including dementia. Wherever 

possible, this client group in particular would 

most benefit from least time in in-patient care 

with maximum intermediate care at home.  

Clifton Hospital is a 72 bedded unit. The unit 

has 3 wards which provide slower stream 

medical and orthopedic rehabilitation and 

complex discharge planning to patients with 

complex health and social care needs and long 

term conditions. This includes patients with 

moderate to severe dementia and patients 

requiring assessment for Continuing Health 

Care. 

This service provides ‘in patient’ rehabilitation 

services, and people supported in this 

environment are assessed as continuing to require 

consultant led care. 

Each Ward is support by a multi-disciplinary 

team made up of consultants, doctors, nurses, 

physiotherapists, Occupational therapists and a 

speech and language therapist. In addition 

there is a Chaplaincy Team that can provide 

spiritual and pastoral care to patients and their 

carers.  

Other facilities on site include a patient gym area 

and an activity of daily living room.  

 

Consultation Exercise    
 

The Commissioning Review carried out a 

telephone survey in July 2015 to ascertain what 

patients and service users felt about the care 

they received, particularly around how involved 

they were made to feel in decision making. The 

survey consisted of a mix of closed and open-

ended questions intended to extract relevant 

information from patients in relation to their 

care, how they were included in decision making 

and how they have coped following the end of 

their intermediate care.  

 

The survey was carried out jointly by the Clinical 

Commissioning Group and Blackpool Council’s 

Adult Services. There were 124 individual cases 

identified to take part in the survey, these were 

split between the CCG and Adult Services and 

included a range of service areas including Rapid 

Response Plus, Reablement and the Assessment 

and Rehabilitation Centre. Taking all of the 

responses together: 

 
Most respondents first came into contact with 

the service through a hospital admission. There 

was a mixed response as to whether or not 

people felt they had been given all the options 

available to them; some felt included in the 

decision making process whilst others said they 

felt that they had had no say in the matter. There 

was a mixed response as to whether or not 

patients had goals discussed and set for them 

and most respondents felt that there was 

nothing more that could have been done to 

Page 95



 

12 
 

enable them to return home any sooner. 

However, a few respondents did feel that 

equipment / support could have been put in 

place sooner to allow them to return home 

earlier.   

 

Consultation Findings and Conclusion  

 

The findings of the survey show that there 

were inconsistencies in how the respondents 

felt about their experiences of the 

intermediate care service. Due to the low 

response rate, 28 responses out of a total of 

124 calls made, the data did not lend itself to 

qualitative analysis and therefore no 

conclusive findings can be made.  

 

The inconsistencies in the experience of 

patients may suggest that a more robust 

exercise is required to gain a more in depth 

insight into why people have mixed opinions 

about the service.  

 

 

The Future of Intermediate Care  
 

The commissioning review anticipates that 

significant improvements could be achieved to the 

provision of intermediate care by moving away 

from the current collection of services which often 

lead to duplication, fragmented and 

uncoordinated care. Designing an integrated 

service which most effectively meets 

patient/service user needs and makes the most 

effective use of available resources is paramount.  

This commissioning review has identified a set of 

principles which should underpin any new model. 

These are: –  

 The support model should be to enable 

people to be at home as soon as possible. 

 The model should be inclusive, but targeted at 

those people who will benefit from a tailored 

intervention. 

 The model should be cohesive, with services 

and professions working together seamlessly to 

support progression through a clear pathway of 

reablement. 

 Any residential element should be short term 

with intensive support, aided by a team who 

are able to solve problems which are barriers 

to the person returning home, whether they 

be health, social care or housing related. 

 The staff within the model should feel part of 

a larger intermediate care team with common 

aims irrespective of the area of the service 

they work within, and the patient journey 

should not feel fragmented. 

 There should be a single point of referral, 

where experts from the intermediate care 

team support positive decision making with 

the patient about their individual pathway. 

 Group work with patients is recognised as 

important, but should be done wherever 

possible in a more localised community 

setting close to the person’s home. 

 Intermediate care services should support 

people to build up their knowledge of self-

management of long term conditions and 

health risks, and support them to be resilient 

to further changes in their health the future 

to reduce the dependency on health and 

social care services. 

 There should be strong and effective links 

with new models of care. 

 
 

Page 96



 

13 
 

Summary of Findings 
 

A greater number of people could be   supported 

to return home sooner if the intermediate care 

pathway operated more efficiently. The 

following outlines the high level conclusions of 

the review:- 

 

 A service redesign for Intermediate care is 

essential in the strategy for managing the 

projected rise in the older population and the 

increased numbers of people with long term 

conditions living longer with more complex 

needs. The challenge facing the Local Authority 

and the NHS is to commission a high standard 

of care and support within the current financial 

constraints and growing demand.  

 

 A key aim of the local intermediate care offer 

should be to provide rehabilitative care closer 

to peoples’ homes; reducing the level of 

unscheduled care presentations, admissions 

and readmissions. Also reducing the length of 

hospital stays, delayed transfers of care   and 

the level of admissions to residential care; 

including admissions to residential care from 

the acute hospital. 

 A service re-design should deliver improved 

patient / service user and carer experiences 

and an enhanced multi-disciplinary response 

to individual needs. A change in 

organisational cultures and approaches will 

be key to delivering integrated health and 

social care services which have traditionally 

been delivered to people either as in-patients 

or residential setting rather than at home. 

 

 Commissioners should seek to develop a 

quality and cost effective local intermediate 

care offer delivering a spectrum of 

intermediate care services in line with the 

‘Halfway Home’ recommendations; 

establishing integrated re-ablement services at 

home alongside bed based provision.  

 

 Financial reconfiguration will be necessary to 

develop appropriate levels of at home and 

closer to home based services which 

encourage and support patients / service users 

to be independent and maximise their 

opportunities for recovery and wellbeing. 

 

 There is potential for a moderate increase in 

demand on the community equipment budget 

as greater numbers of people with complex 

needs are supported to remain at for home 

longer or to leave hospital sooner. The new 

service will promote independence and explore 

alternative options and appropriate solutions.  

 

 Environmental / home visits are a key 

opportunity to identify potential barriers to 

returning home. Conducting visits early on in 

the rehabilitation process ensures issues can be 

addressed more quickly and may reduce the 

length of a person’s requirement for support. 

 

 Reducing overall intermediate bed capacity 

will lead to an increase in demand for 

alternative services such as: nursing at home, 

therapy at home, re-ablement at home, care 

and recuperation at home, and residential 

recuperation. Failure to properly resource 

community based intermediate care services 

will result in people falling into crisis and re-

presenting at A&E or being re-admitted to 

hospital.  

 
 

 
 

Page 97



 

14 
 

Review Options 

 

Option A 

 
To continue with the current intermediate 

service provision, although this option 

presents a greater risk around achieving 

national and strategic aims and will lead to 

continued gaps in intermediate care services. 

 

Option B 

 

To reduce the overall number of residential 

intermediate care beds and utilise funding to 

develop and appropriately resource 

Enhanced Intermediate Care services and 

develop an improved and more flexible 

intermediate care pathway and workforce 

delivering a continuum of intermediate care 

across the community. 

 

Recommendations 
 

Recommendations are made by the 

commissioning review are made the context of 

the following local and national drivers: 

 
Fylde Coast Health Economy Public Consultation: 
“The future of older people’s rehabilitation 
services on the Fylde Coast.” 
Fylde Coast Unscheduled Care Strategy 2012 

Department of Health – “Halfway Home” 

recommendations 

Care Act 2014 - prevent reduce delay onset 
 

The commissioning review recommends 

Option B which delivers one local integrated 

intermediate care service. A description of 

the proposed model, broad actions to achieve 

desired outcomes are included in this report. 

The model incorporates and encourages new 

and innovative ways of working to meet local 

needs, focusing on the rehabilitation and re-

ablement of Blackpool residents. 

 

Intermediate care should be regarded as an 

investment in each individual, supporting them 

to recover and retain levels of independence 

for longer.  Investing in intermediate care 

services closer to home is seen as a way of 

supporting people to be more resilient. 

Ensuring appropriate levels of ‘wrap around’ 

care at home or in a residential rehabilitation 

centre will be critical to the success and 

sustainability of the strategy.   

 

The service will provide a local integrated 

intermediate care programme normally lasting 

up to 6 weeks or less and including a range of 

multi-disciplinary supports in whatever 

intermediate care setting. i.e not 6 weeks 

residential intermediate care followed by a 

further 6 weeks reablement at home totalling 

12 weeks.  

 

Due to the level and pace of the recommended 

changes certain service areas will remain out of 

scope for now i.e. intravenous therapy, Acute 

Rehabilitation service, and Stroke Enhanced 

Supported Discharge but will be considered for 

future service development. 

 

It is recognised that some people will have 

repeat occurrences of intermediate care due to 

their increasing age and frailty, but it should be 

a key principle of the model that these 

episodes are mitigating and prevented 

wherever possible. At the end of the 

intermediate care period it is also necessary to 

ensure robust discharge planning and exit 

strategies in order that people do not become 

delayed in the system unnecessarily or access 

Page 98



 

15 
 

free intermediate care services longer than is 

necessary. 

 

In being able to meet these outcomes health 

and social care will need to deliver care in a 

way that not only demonstrates clear 

outcomes for in improving the health and 

wellbeing of individuals but cost effective and 

efficient services that demonstrate value for 

money.  

 

The joint commissioning strategy and service 

specification will need to monitor and review 

performance to ensure that intermediate 

care services meet identified needs and 

achieve desired outcomes within the defined 

budget. 

 

Broad Actions to Meet Outcomes  
 

1. Prevent crisis situations occurring through 

earlier interventions and joint working; 

including timely and appropriate access to 

specialist services, preventing avoidable 

admissions to hospital and facilitating timely 

discharges. Individuals will receive their care 

in the right place, at the right time. We will 

reduce the cost of acute hospital care and 

manage increasing projected demand. 

 

 implement an improved patient focused, 

efficient and effective intermediate care 

pathway to facilitate joint working, flexible 

and responsive service delivery for Blackpool  

 

 enable people who have completed periods 

of intermediate care to ‘self- refer’ for advice 

or ‘step up’ to avoid unnecessary admissions. 

 

 provide open communication pathways in 

order to develop mechanisms for accessing 

clinical and social care advice from secondary 

care for patients, carers and intermediate care 

staff and vice versa.   

 

 Identify a Single Service accessible to all 

referrers and which is promoted widely to meet 

a full range of intermediate care needs.  

 

 Develop a unified assessment process, trusted 
by all with appropriate information shared 
between partners. 
 

 Develop the pathway to provide an integrated 

continuum of service provision. Develop a 

person centred ‘menu based’ approach to 

service provision. 

 

 Redesign Intermediate Care to provide in-reach 

support to care homes and hospital. 

 

 Review and develop the capacity to provide a 

rapid response component of the Intermediate 

Care service to provide urgent community 

based assessment and immediate intervention 

in people’s homes. 

 

 Increase use of Assistive Technologies and 24/7 

response to support people to remain in their 

own homes. 

 

 Review community equipment available to 

intermediate care teams 

 
2. People receive timely and co-ordinated short 

term care at home or closer to home enabling 

them to live independently, reducing 

unnecessary admissions to long term care. 

Assessment and decision making about peoples 

long term care needs will only be made only 

after they have had the opportunity for 

rehabilitation, recuperation and recovery. 

Page 99



 

16 
 

 Implement new pathway to ensure that no 

one is transferred directly from an acute 

ward to long term residential care (unless in 

exceptional circumstances) without being 

offered a period of Intermediate Care and 

Reablement. 

 

 Support independent care home providers to 

manage people who live there to access 

intermediate care. 

 

 Ensure that individuals with more complex 

needs (i.e. dementia) have equity of access 

for assessment and rehabilitation, prior to 

decisions being made about their longer-term 

needs. 

 

 Develop clear and consistent referral 

pathways between intermediate care and 

Accident and Emergency, the Medical 

Assessment Unit and Primary Care. 

 

 Facilitate a ‘step down’ provision via an 

intermediate care hub that will aim to avoid 

delayed transfers of care and decrease length 

of stay by ensuring patients receive the 

intermediate care that they require in the 

most suitable environment for them, whether 

that be at home or in a residential ‘Halfway 

Home’ environment. 

 

 Facilitate a  ‘step up’ provision from the GP 

neighbourhoods, community services and 

Extensive Care which aims to reduce 

secondary care admission by ensuring 

patients receive the intermediate care that 

they require in the most suitable 

environment for them whether that be home 

or in a residential ‘Halfway Home’ 

environment.  

 

 Reduce the number of residential intermediate 

care beds for Blackpool from 53 to 33 beds, and 

increase the flow of people through the pathway 

by reducing the average length of intermediate 

residential admissions from 6 weeks to 3 weeks. 

All admissions should will have an onward exit 

plan and discharge planning to commence from 

the day of admission 

 

 Increase Reablement care at home capacity and 

develop a seamless intermediate support 

service to ‘reach in’ and  transition people 

home from the acute hospital or residential 

rehabilitation settings; promoting 

independence, building confidence and 

facilitating timely discharges so that people can 

continue their rehabilitation programme at 

home with appropriate levels of support.    

 

 Ensure short term residential care is made 

available (where appropriate) to people with 

complex discharge issues i.e. housing, awaiting 

adaptations, and awaiting CHC assessments. 

N.B. Assessed weekly charges will be applied. 

 

 Explore potential to develop a small number of 

temporary sheltered 1 x bedroom flats as part 

of a local ‘Halfway Home’ intermediate care 

offer to temporarily address (up to 3-6 months) 

specific housing and adaptation issues until 

more appropriate and permanent solutions are 

in place.  

 
3. People have control over their lives; 

involvement in their care and choice over their 

treatment. Increase patient and service user 

satisfaction and maximise people’s potential to 

remain independent  

 

Page 100



 

17 
 

 Strengthen working relationships with 

specialist and community health services, 

including Long-term conditions, Falls and 

Stroke pathways. 

 

 Partner organistions to agree clear eligibility 

criteria, protocols and pathways through 

partnership agreements 

 
 

Option B - Model and Actions 
 
 
Commissioning an Integrated Intermediate Care 
Team  
 
Intermediate care functions commissioned by 

NHS Blackpool CCG and Blackpool Council to 

deliver health and social care services including 

bed based or at home provision will become 

one integrated team. An Integrated 

Intermediate Care Team service specification will 

be completed focusing on rehabilitation using 

outcomes based key performance indicators as a 

monitoring tool ensuring that the Intermediate 

Care Team work together as an integral part of 

the health and social care system with a key aim 

for rehabilitation will be fundamental to its 

successful implementation and operation. 

 

The new intermediate care pathway will be 

underpinned by a jointly commissioned NHS 

and Social Care management and governance 

structure which will include an overall service 

manager. The recommended service 

management post will implement the reviews 

recommendations in conjunction with partner 

agencies to realise the delivery of the co-

ordinated whole system benefits. 

 

An Intermediate Care Hub will be responsible 

for both Primary Care and Community (step-

up) and Hospital (step-down) admissions 

allowing an overall view of patient flow, 

demand and capacity into intermediate care. 

The integrated service delivery approach and 

integrated management structures will provide 

efficiencies, more streamlined pathways for 

patients and a better patient experience focusing 

on regaining independence. 

 

Co-ordination of Referrals and Flow 

 

Demand for Intermediate Care Services will be 

channeled through the Integrated Care Hub 

which will enable the effective management 

and operational oversight of capacity and flow 

in the system. This will facilitate service 

provision that provides ‘wrap around care’ for 

the individual referred to the Intermediate Care 

Service.  

 

The Intermediate Care Hub will be responsible 

for reviewing and coordinating referrals. The 

‘navigator’ role  will have responsibility  for 

working closely with the secondary care referrers 

in order to ‘Step Down’ patients in a timely 

manner and ensure the most suitable type of 

Intermediate Care is provided in the most 

appropriate setting which is tailored to the 

individual’s needs. 

 

There will be an increased requirement for 

Health and Social Work assessments to meet 

the rise in the level of referrals. The new team 

will work closely with Out of Hours care 

coordination services to develop care plans for 

‘out of hours’ provision to avoid unnecessary 

admissions. The team will work towards an 

integrated IT infrastructure with data sharing 

agreements, currently being developed by the 

new models of care. 

 

Page 101



 

18 
 

Commission an Enhanced Intermediate Care 
Service  
 
As part of the service redesign, and as 

recommended in the Fylde Coast 

Intermediate Care Review and 

Recommendations report, the overall number 

of residential beds for Blackpool will be 

reduced from 53 to 33 beds. The shift from 

bed based to home provision will require 

additional Reablement care at home capacity.  

 

In future Intermediate Care beds will be based at 

one location in Blackpool. Staff affected by this 

change will be consulted with a view to TUPE 

transfer into the new model. 

The model will provide 24/7 nursing, therapy 

and social care provision. Initially ten beds will 

be allocated for patients requiring nursing 

input but importantly there will be flexibility to 

reduce or increase over time in line with 

demand. 

 

Core hour medical cover will be provided by 

the patient’s own GP practice and practice 

pharmacists. Additional GP cover will be 

available over 7 days to complete ‘ward 

rounds’ and deal with medication issues. The 

out of hours medical cover will be provided by 

the out of hours provider 6.30pm – 8am. 

 

Co-ordinated links will be made to address 

medicines management issues with Practice 

and Community Pharmacists.  

 

The model will include nursing or residential 

beds for patients referred requiring nursing 

care or a residential care bed but whose 

potential rehabilitate and to return home is 

real.  

 

The Intermediate Care team will need to work 

closely with primary care colleagues to ensure 

effective discharge information and general 

advice is made in a timely way. Co-ordinated 

links will be made to ensure that patient care is 

not repeated as part of the Extensive Care 

Service. 

 

Intermediate Care Capacity 

 
Intermediate care capacity will be re-balanced 

in a phased approach from the current 

emphasis on bed provision towards 

intermediate care at home provision in line with 

intermediate care provision nationally.  

 

An initial increase from the current average of 

1400 hours to 2240 hours per month will be 

necessary to facilitate the support of an 

additional 10 people per week each accessing an 

average of 7 hours support per week to return 

home either from the acute hospital (3) via Early 

Supported Discharge (2) and to support the 

increased rate of discharges from residential 

intermediate care each week (5).  

Funding from de-commissioned services will 

need to be re-channelled in to the Reablement 

care at home service in order to ensure 

increased Reablement care capacity.   

 

Close monitoring of demand across an extended 

period (6 – 12 months) will help commissioners 

to better understand the effects of the new 

model locally and to ascertain the actual level of 

demand and capacity required.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 102



 

19 
 

Communication 

 

It is important to ensure messages about the 

Intermediate Care Review, particularly to staff, 

are consistent and positively managed. If the 

proposed model is agreed, a communication 

strategy will need to be developed and 

implemented by partner organisations to 

support implementation of the model and to 

promote cultural change. Communication 

specialists from the various partner 

organisations will be well placed to assist with 

this work. 

 

Further Expand the Use of Telehealth and 

Telecare Technologies  

 

The model will aim to further develop use of 

technologies in clinical triage with patients 

from the Intermediate Care Hub and primary 

care services.   

 

Intermediate care provides a timely 

opportunity for all individuals, using either a 

bed-based or a home-based service, to review 

the scope for utilising assistive technology to 

enhance the individual’s ability to maintain 

their independence at home and maximise the 

opportunities for prevention of crises in the 

future.  

 

Telecare and Telehealth maximises the 

opportunities to support self-care and self-

management which fits with the ethos of the 

new focus on rehabilitation.   

 

To accomplish the above actions, the model 

needs to include appropriate health and social 

care specialists and access to timely medical 

assessment and input, at the triage point and 

during the intermediate care period.  

Page 103



 

20 
 

Financial Information  

 
Current cost of existing intermediate care provision for health and social care in Blackpool: 

 
 
Current service costs 
 

Service 
 

  Cost 
Comments 

BTH Health £4,565,000 Includes 1.6 m Spiral funding 

Blackpool Council Social care £2,860,863  

ARC £1,328,073  Includes property budget 

Equipment £151,676  Includes 15% staffing costs 

Approximate  overspend M2 

Telecare £250,000*  All provision  

Vitaline £420,000*  All provision  

Rapid Response 
Plus 

£126,946   

Reablement  £584,169  Includes urgent bridging care 

 
Total value 
 

  £7,425,863 
 

 *Figure is for all provision /units including ongoing care at home  

 

Stakeholders have expressed concern about 

increasing the flow of patients through the 

intermediate care pathway, effectively shifting the 

burden of care at a time when intermediate care 

services are operating either at or close to full 

capacity. By seeking earlier discharges from 

hospital, community based services will in many 

cases need to deliver much higher and staff 

intensive community based care packages than 

would have been the case if the individuals 

concerned spent a few more days in hospital.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A shift in resources is required to enable 

community based services and other associated 

support services to respond appropriately, meet 

the level of demand quickly closer to the 

person’s home and to sustain flow through the 

intermediate care pathway.  

 

 

 

Page 104



 

21 
 

References  

 
 

Care and Support Statutory Guidance Issued under the Care Act (2014) 

 

Better Care Fund (2015). Available at: http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-

fund/bcf-plan/ 

 

NHS Blackpool Clinical Commissioning Group Strategic Plan (2014) available at: 

http://blackpoolccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Blackpool-Strategic-Plan-v-6.0.pdf 

 

Healthier Lancashire Programme.  Lancashire Leadership Forum (2014) available at: 

http://www.eastlancsccg.nhs.uk/download/governing_body_papers/6.4%20%20Healthier%20Lancashi

re%20Programme%20-%20Purpose%20Document.pdf 

 

Fylde Coast Intermediate Care Review and recommendations (2013)  

 

Fylde Coast Unscheduled Care Strategy (2012) available at: http://blackpoolccg.nhs.uk/wp-

content/uploads/2013/07/Unscheduled-Care-Strategy-Fylde-Coast-FINAL-.pdf 

 

Blackpool Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (2012) available at: http://blackpooljsna.org.uk/ 

 

Department of Health Intermediate Care – Halfway Home Updated Guidance for the NHS and Local 

Authorities (2009) available at: 

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/

groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/@pg/documents/digitalasset/dh_103154.pdf 

 

Page 105

http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/
http://blackpoolccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Blackpool-Strategic-Plan-v-6.0.pdf
http://www.eastlancsccg.nhs.uk/download/governing_body_papers/6.4%20%20Healthier%20Lancashire%20Programme%20-%20Purpose%20Document.pdf
http://www.eastlancsccg.nhs.uk/download/governing_body_papers/6.4%20%20Healthier%20Lancashire%20Programme%20-%20Purpose%20Document.pdf
http://blackpoolccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Unscheduled-Care-Strategy-Fylde-Coast-FINAL-.pdf
http://blackpoolccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Unscheduled-Care-Strategy-Fylde-Coast-FINAL-.pdf
http://blackpooljsna.org.uk/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/@pg/documents/digitalasset/dh_103154.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130107105354/http:/www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@en/@pg/documents/digitalasset/dh_103154.pdf


 

22 
 

 

Glossary 

 
 
 

Acute Care 
 

Specific care for diseases or illnesses that progress quickly, feature 

severe symptoms and have a brief duration. 

Assistive Technology The term ‘assistive technology’ refers to ‘any device or system 
that allows an individual to perform a task that they would 
otherwise be unable to do, or increases the ease and safety 
with which the task can be performed’ (Royal Commission on 
Long Term Care 1999). It is designed to maintain or improve 
someone’s independence such as Telehealth and Telecare. 

Assistive technology ranges from very simple tools, such as 
calendar clocks and touch lamps, to high-tech solutions such 
as satellite navigation systems to help find someone who has 
got lost. 

 
Care Package 

 
Help people to stay at home with services based upon 
individual need. Clients can choose the type of support they 
want. 

 
Care Plan 

 
A single, overarching plan that records the outcome of 
discussion between the individual and the professional. It 
could be electronically stored or written on paper.  It should 
be accessible by the individual in whatever form is suitable to 
them. 

 
Carer 

 
A carer spends a significant proportion of their life providing 
unpaid support to family or potentially friends. This could be 
caring for a relative, partner or friend who is ill, frail, disabled 
or has mental health or substance misuse problems. 

 
Commissioning 

 
The means to secure the best care and the best value for local citizens. 

It is the process of translating aspirations and need, by specifying and 

procuring services for the local population, into services which: 

• deliver the best possible health and well-outcomes, including 

promoting equality; 

• provide the best possible health and social care 

provision: and 

• achieve this within the best use of available resources. 

Page 106



 

23 
 

  
Complex A term used to describe people who have an intricate mix of 

health and social care needs.  Because of their vulnerability, simple 

problems can make their condition deteriorate rapidly, putting them at 

high risk of unplanned hospital admissions or long-term 

institutionalisation. 

Holistic Used in medical terms as treatment which deals with the whole 

person, not just the injury or disease. 

Home For the context of this strategy references to an individual’s home 

means ‘an individual’s usual place of residence’.  This includes owner 

occupiers, rented accommodation, sheltered housing, extra care, care 

homes and prisons. 

Integrated Care NHS and local authority health responsibilities are managed 

together so that care trusts can offer a more efficient and better 

integrated service. 

Intermediate Care Integrated services for people that promote faster recovery 

from illness, prevent unnecessary hospital admissions and maximise 

independent living. 

Long Term Conditions Those conditions that cannot, at present, be cured, but can be controlled 

by medication and other therapies. 

Multidisciplinary A team made up of professionals across health, social care 

and third sector who work together to address the holistic needs of their 

patient service users/clients in order to improve delivery of care and 

reduce fragmentation. 

Pathway The route followed by the service user into, through and out of NHS and 

social care services. 

Personalised Personalised care is about putting individuals firmly in the 

driving seat of building a system of care and support that is designed with 

their full involvement and tailored to meet their own unique needs. 

Primary Care The collective term for all services which are people’s first 

point of contact with the NHS, e.g. General Practitioners, dentists. 

Re-ablement Re-ablement aims to help people accommodate their illness 

or condition by learning or relearning the skills necessary for daily living -  

it encourage and supports people to do as much as they can for 

themselves, doing tasks with individuals rather than for them. For some, it 

could be supporting them with 

Page 107



 

24 
 

 
 
 

personal care or making meals, while for others it could be helping them to 

get out of the house and taking part in social activities, or helping them 

with rehabilitation programmes (e.g. physiotherapy, occupational therapy). 

Rehabilitation Rehabilitation is a goal orientated and time limited process 
aimed at enabling a person to improve/restore a person’s 
physical, mental and social functioning. It can also aim at 
providing a person with tools to deal with their loss of and 
change in function 

Secondary Care The collective term for services to which a service user is 
referred to by a consultant. Usually this refers to NHS 
hospitals in the NHS offering specialised medical services 
and care. 

Service Users Anyone who uses, requests, applies for or benefits from 
health or local authority services. 

Single Assessment 
Process [SAP] 

Process that ensures older people’s care needs are 
assessed thoroughly and accurately. 

Telecare A continuous, automatic and remote monitoring of real time 
emergencies  over time in order to manage the risks 
associated with independent living 

Telehealth The delivery of healthcare at a distance using electronic 
means of communication – usually from service user to 
clinician e.g. a service user measuring their vital signs at home 
and this data being transmitted via a telehealth monitor to a 
clinician 

 
Urgent care 

 
“medically necessary services that are required for an illness 
or injury that would not result in further disability or death if not 
treated immediately, but require professional attention and 
have the potential to develop such a threat if treatment is 
delayed longer than 24 hours.” In other words, what the medical definition 
of urgent care means is that an injured or sick person who may suffer from 
irreversible complications or even death if his injury or illness is not treated 
in a timely manner is care required immediately or classified as “urgent.” So 
any injury or illness that has the potential to become something more 
serious, or even deadly, is considered a basis for receiving urgent care. 

 
 

 Page 108



Telehealth

Telecare

Reablement

Blue Light Care

Community 

Services 

Bed 

Based 

Services

Nurses
Care Support

Domestic/ 

Catering 

Support

(Blackpool) IAT

(Blackpool) Rapid Response 

Blackpool Rapid +

Blackpool ESD

Intermediate OT/ Physio/ 

Generic

Social Work

No rehab potential 

but requires 

support for 

discharge - HDT

Potential for rehab – hospital 

seeing discharge support

Person at home 

seeking Support 

L/T 

Residential/ 

Nursing 

Care/ CHC

Dom Care 

Services (LT)

Day Services 

(LT)

Carer Support 

Services (LT)

S
o

ci
a

l 
C

a
re

 

S
e

rv
ic

e
s 

(L
T

)

No rehab potential 

but requires 

support Adult 

Social Care

Potential for 

rehab and/ or 

admission 

avoidance

Transformational Change - Overall System/ Change 

Management/ KPI Reporting

CQC Registered Manager

CQC Registered Manager

Extensive Care

Enhanced Primary Care

Independent from 

commissioned 

services (with or 

without informal 

support)

Appropriate 

supervision, direction 

and support 

Complex 

rehabilitation 

as in-patient

Clifton

CHC
Equipment service

Support worker/ 

navigator

Links to voluntary 

services
Links to Public Health

Appendix 7b

P
age 109



Explanatory Notes

1. Patients can be identified by anyone who is supporting the person at home or in hospital. The following key principle will apply to support the 

identification of patients for the pathway –

– Diagnosis will not be a barrier to referral.  What is important is that the person can engage in a programme of intermediate care.

2. Contact with the hub will be made by telephone.  Lines will be available 24/7.  The intermediate care hub will be staffed by a multi disciplinary team 

who are able to make decisions and respond quickly to requests for visits/ discussions with patients.  These staff will hold the caseload of people 

supported though the intermediate care pathway.

3. The intermediate care hub team will have key resources at their disposal to deliver a tailored service – this will include 10 nursing beds, 23 

residential beds for intensive assessment and short term support, a team of skilled care workers and telecare/ telehealth.  Social Workers and 

Therapists will work with people across these  bases to support the short and long term planning process.

4. The pathway can commence while the patient remains at hospital if aspects of preparatory work are required to facilitate discharge which if not 

acted on promptly will delay discharge or lengthen intermediate care period.

5. Care and support in the home will be designed to support the person to do as much for themselves as possible, and to follow the goal oriented 

plan.  It will include where required support to access the community, exercise programmes, medication management, dietary support, district 

Nursing interventions etc. 

6. Therapy support will be delivered in the persons own home and some activities may be carried out with by carers as directed by health care 

professionals and in line with a plan.  Some therapy activities may be carried our in group settings in neighbourhood locations to support the 

reduction of social isolation as well as maximising value.

7. Discharge planning should start as early as possible in the process and the plan will outline how the person can support their own resilience as well 

as the support they will receive (if any) from others in a formal or non formal way.  Where the person has a reliance on another person to meet 

some aspects of their care needs, good contingency plans will be encouraged.

8. The person “owns” their plan and it will stay with them when the service ends so that they can monitor their own progress toward goals.

9. The patient can access the team directly for advice and support after they have been discharged.  This may require information and advice, or 

access back in to the intermediate care process to prevent or halt a deterioration.

P
age 110



Appendix 7c  

 

 

 

Page 1 of 3 

RISK & ISSUES LOG –INTERMEDIATE CARE DELIVERY PLAN 
 

 
 
Document Version: November 2015  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Probs – low <25%; 25 – med - 75%; high > 75%.       
Impacts  - Low- no material effect to timescales of delivery and/ or quality of service, less than £5k of cost impact, Medium – some material 
impact on timescales of delivery and/ or quality of service, or between 5-50k of cost impact  High – Unacceptable impact on timescales of 
delivery and/ quality of service, or over 50k of cost impact. 
 
 
Risk/ 
Issue 
no. 

 
 
Date 
last 
updated 

 
 
Description of 
Risk/Issue 

Probabil
ity 
(Low/ 
Medium/ 
High) 

Impact 
(Low/ 
Medium 
/High) 

Owner 

( to be 

confirme

d) 

Counter  
Measure(s) 

Decision Decision  
by and  
date 

Status 
(Open /  
Closed) 

1 03/11/15 The staffing model 
will not be sufficient 
to meet the Clinical 
needs of the service 
user group – leading 
to failure to support 
people safely at 
home, impact on 
patient welfare and 
impact on hospital 
admissions/ 
discharges. 

Medium High Kate A/ 
Lorraine 
K 

Staff consultations to 
commence in November 2015, 
with proposed model and 
staffing requirements 
discussed.  Lorraine to lead on 
health input required to meet 
the bed and community based 
need, and Kate to lead on the 
social care input required. 
Final staffing proposal to be 
agreed at board and to be in 
line with expected demand as 
outlined by commissioners. 

Monitor at 
board level. 

KA 
06/11/15 

Open 

H 1, 3, 4, 5, 6 2, 7 8

M 9

L

o L M H

Im
p
a

c
t

Probability  

P
age 111



Appendix 7c  

 

 

 

Page 2 of 3 

2 03/11/15 The staffing model 
will not be sufficient 
to meet the care 
needs of the service 
user group – leading 
to failure to support 
people safely at 
home, impact on 
patient welfare and 
impact on hospital 
admissions/ 
discharges. 

Medium High Kate A/ 
Lorraine 
K 

Staff consultations to 
commence in November 2015, 
with proposed model and 
staffing requirements 
discussed.  Lorraine to lead on 
health input required to meet 
the bed and community based 
need, and Kate to lead on the 
social care input required. 
Final staffing proposal to be 
agreed at board and to be in 
line with expected demand as 
outlined by commissioners. 

Monitor at 
board level. 

KA 
06/11/15 

Open 

3 03/11/15 There will not be 
sufficient time to 
make the changes 
required to deliver 
the new model 

Medium High Kate A/ 
Lorraine 
K 

A clear project plan is in place 
phased over two parts – 
design and consultation (Nov- 
Dec15) and Delivery (Jan – 
March 16) with clear 
milestones in place to ensure 
that there is sufficient time to 
recruit staff to new roles and 
deliver the new model 
alongside the existing one 
ready for system transfer on 
April 1st 16. 

Monitor at 
Ops group 
level and 
report 
exceptions 
to Board 

KA 
06/11/15 

Open 

4 03/11/15 There will be 
insufficient funds in 
the Intermediate 
Care Budget to 
deliver the model 
designed 

Low High Kate A/ 
Lorraine 
K/ Adam 
McKnight 

The envelope of existing 
spend has been identified (with 
some assumptions) and the 
new model will be costed in 
these perimeters.  If there are 
costs associated with the new 
model which are not met in the 
budget, these will be clearly 
articulated to the board. 

Monitor at 
Finance 
group and 
report 
exceptions 
to the Board 

KA 
06/11/15 

Open 

P
age 112



Appendix 7c  

 

 

 

Page 3 of 3 

5 03/11/15 There will be a 
challenge to the 
process which delays 
implementation 

Medium High Board All stakeholders have been 
informed through the process, 
and there is a collaborative 
implementation approach 
planned. 

Monitor at 
Ops group 
and Board 
level. 

KA 
06/11/15 

Open 

6 03/11/15 The model will not 
deliver the required 
support in the 
community to reduce 
the requirement for 
bed based care 

Medium High Kate A, 
Lorraine 
K 

The model is based on the 
commissioning review which 
was reviewed resources and 
service use.  If increased 
community support can be put 
in place before bed reductions 
take place it will be. 

Monitor at 
Ops group 
and Board 
level. 

KA 
06/11/15 

Open 

          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          
          

 

P
age 113



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ID Task 
Mode

Task Name Duration Start Finish

1 Intermediate Care Model - Delivery 150 days Fri 30/10/15 Thu 26/05/16

2 Phase1 - Design (must complete by
Jan 16)

51 days Fri 30/10/15 Fri 08/01/16

3 Model and Update 
communicated to key 
stakeholders

27 days Thu 12/11/15 Fri 18/12/15

4 CCG
5 Health and Wellbeing Board 1 day Wed 

02/12/15
Wed 
02/12/15

6 Council staff directly impacted 2 days Thu 12/11/15 Fri 13/11/15

7 Health staff directly impacted 1 day Thu 12/11/15 Thu 12/11/15

8 Council Exec 1 day Fri 11/12/15 Fri 11/12/15

9 Staffing consultation period 
begins

20 days Mon 
16/11/15

Fri 11/12/15

10 Staffing consultation period 
ends

0 days Mon 
14/12/15

Mon 
14/12/15

11 Using Consultation outcome - 
refine detailed model for 
delivery

5 days Mon 
14/12/15

Fri 18/12/15

12 Inform CQC at quarterly 
meeting

5 days Mon 
23/11/15

Fri 27/11/15

13 Communications 10 days? Fri 06/11/15 Thu 19/11/15

14 Create communication 
document with agreed 
messages on model and 
implementation for wider 
stakeholders

10 days Fri 06/11/15 Thu 19/11/15

15 Create communication slides 
for any presentations

10 days Fri 06/11/15 Thu 19/11/15

16 Meet with health and council 
comms team re message 
management (internal and 
public)

17 Finance 45 days Fri 30/10/15 Thu 31/12/15

18 Agree approx. cash envelope 
for model

0 days Fri 30/10/15 Fri 30/10/15

14/12

30/10

26/10 02/11 09/11 16/11 23/11 30/11 07/12 14/12 21/12 28/12 04/01 11/01 18/01 25/01 01/02 08/02 15/02 22/02 29/02 07/03 14/03 21/03 28/03 04/04
October November December January February March April

Task

Split

Milestone

Summary

Project Summary

External Tasks

External Milestone

Inactive Task

Inactive Milestone

Inactive Summary

Manual Task

Duration-only

Manual Summary Rollup

Manual Summary

Start-only

Finish-only

Deadline

Progress

Page 1

Project: Project1
Date: Fri 06/11/15

P
age 115

tsplseob_3
Sticky Note

tsplseob_4
Typewritten Text
Appendix 7d 



ID Task 
Mode

Task Name Duration Start Finish

19 Cost in detail new model 45 days Fri 30/10/15 Thu 31/12/15

20 Staffing 50 days Fri 30/10/15 Fri 08/01/16

21 Establish whether there are 
TUPE implications

11 days Fri 30/10/15 Fri 13/11/15

22 Job Descriptions written 5 days Mon 23/11/15Fri 27/11/15

23 HR to evaluate Job 
Descriptions (non clinical)

20 days Mon 
30/11/15

Fri 25/12/15

24 Agree proposed staffing model
with board

0 days Fri 08/01/16 Fri 08/01/16

25 Phase 2 - Delivery and 
Implementation

60 days Fri 08/01/16 Thu 31/03/16

26 Creation of Nursing "wing" 80 days Tue 01/12/15 Mon 21/03/16

27 Scope refurbishment 
requirements for Bedrooms

20 days Tue 01/12/15 Mon 
28/12/15

28 Ensure budget for 
refurbishment can be met

20 days Tue 29/12/15 Mon 
25/01/16

29 Refurbish nursing rooms as 
scoped

40 days Tue 26/01/16 Mon 
21/03/16

30 CQC 100 days Fri 08/01/16 Thu 26/05/16

31 Apply to vary conditions at 
ARC to allow the provision of 
Nursing Care

10 wks Fri 08/01/16 Thu 17/03/16

32 Share new Statement of 
Purpose with CQC

10 wks Fri 18/03/16 Thu 26/05/16

33 Finance 1 day? Fri 08/01/16 Fri 08/01/16

34 Monitor finance spend current
and projected

35 Staffing 12 days Mon 11/01/16Tue 26/01/16

36 Job Descriptions issued 10 days Mon 11/01/16Fri 22/01/16

08/01

26/10 02/11 09/11 16/11 23/11 30/11 07/12 14/12 21/12 28/12 04/01 11/01 18/01 25/01 01/02 08/02 15/02 22/02 29/02 07/03 14/03 21/03 28/03 04/04
October November December January February March April

Task

Split

Milestone

Summary

Project Summary

External Tasks

External Milestone

Inactive Task

Inactive Milestone

Inactive Summary

Manual Task

Duration-only

Manual Summary Rollup

Manual Summary

Start-only

Finish-only

Deadline

Progress

Page 2

Project: Project1
Date: Fri 06/11/15

P
age 116



ID Task 
Mode

Task Name Duration Start Finish

37 Recruitment commences 
(internal)

1 day Mon 
25/01/16

Mon 
25/01/16

38 Recruitment commences 
(external) (if required)

1 day Tue 26/01/16 Tue 26/01/16

39 Key Delivery Milestones 110 days Fri 30/10/15 Thu 31/03/16

40 Internal staffing comms complete 0 days Thu 12/11/15 Thu 12/11/15

41 Model fully delivering 0 days Thu 31/03/16 Thu 31/03/16

42 Agree model with Intermediate 
Care Board

0 days Fri 08/01/16 Fri 08/01/16

43 Present final model to Exec 0 days Fri 08/01/16 Fri 08/01/16

44 Present final model to CCG

45 CQC Agree varied conditions 0 days Fri 18/03/16 Fri 18/03/16

46 Scheduled meetings 92 days? Tue 24/11/15 Wed 30/03/16

47 Board 1 day Wed 25/11/15Wed 25/11/15

48 Board 1 day Wed 16/12/15Wed 16/12/15

49 Board 1 day Wed 20/01/16Wed 20/01/16

50 Board 1 day Wed 17/02/16Wed 17/02/16

51 Board 1 day Wed 30/03/16Wed 30/03/16

52 Finance

12/11

31/03

08/01

08/01

18/03

26/10 02/11 09/11 16/11 23/11 30/11 07/12 14/12 21/12 28/12 04/01 11/01 18/01 25/01 01/02 08/02 15/02 22/02 29/02 07/03 14/03 21/03 28/03 04/04
October November December January February March April

Task

Split

Milestone

Summary

Project Summary

External Tasks

External Milestone

Inactive Task

Inactive Milestone

Inactive Summary

Manual Task

Duration-only

Manual Summary Rollup

Manual Summary

Start-only

Finish-only

Deadline

Progress

Page 3

Project: Project1
Date: Fri 06/11/15

P
age 117



ID Task 
Mode

Task Name Duration Start Finish

53 Ops group 1 day Tue 24/11/15 Tue 24/11/15

54 Ops group 1 day Tue 15/12/15 Tue 15/12/15

55 Ops group 1 day Tue 05/01/16 Tue 05/01/16

56 Ops group 1 day Tue 26/01/16 Tue 26/01/16

57 Ops group 1 day Tue 16/02/16 Tue 16/02/16

58 Ops group 1 day Tue 08/03/16 Tue 08/03/16

59 Ops group 1 day Tue 29/03/16 Tue 29/03/16

26/10 02/11 09/11 16/11 23/11 30/11 07/12 14/12 21/12 28/12 04/01 11/01 18/01 25/01 01/02 08/02 15/02 22/02 29/02 07/03 14/03 21/03 28/03 04/04
October November December January February March April

Task

Split

Milestone

Summary

Project Summary

External Tasks

External Milestone

Inactive Task

Inactive Milestone

Inactive Summary

Manual Task

Duration-only

Manual Summary Rollup

Manual Summary

Start-only

Finish-only

Deadline

Progress

Page 4

Project: Project1
Date: Fri 06/11/15

P
age 118



 

Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

Relevant Officer: Dr Arif Rajpura, Director of Public Health 

Relevant Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Eddie Collett, Cabinet Member for Reducing 

Health Inequalities and Adult Safeguarding  

Date of Meeting: 
 

2nd December 2015 

 
HEALTHY WEIGHT STRATEGY 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 
 
 
1.2 

This report provides an update on the Healthy Weight Strategy 2014-16 and the 
future direction. 
 
To present the Local Authority Declaration on Healthy Weight.   
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 
 
2.2 
 
 

To continue to support the delivery of the Healthy Weight Strategy. 
 
To  agree to support sign up to the Local Authority Declaration on Healthy Weight 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

Obesity is a serious Public Health problem for the town and contributes significantly 
to poor health.  Not only does obesity result in an increase in chronic disease leading 
to distress and sickness, there are significant impacts for the broader economy of 
Blackpool through disability, unemployment and burden on the social care system.   
 
The picture for the children in Blackpool is a major concern.  The data from the 
National Child Measurement Programme for 2013/14 shows that 27% of Reception 
children (approx. 2,600) have excess weight (overweight or obese) compared to 23% 
for the North West and 21% nationally.  The children are also weighed in Year 6 and 
for the same year, 36.1% have excess weight compared to 34.4% for the North West 
and 33.5% nationally.  Rates of overweight and obesity are increasing faster than the 
national average which appears to be starting to level off. 
 
 

Page 119

Agenda Item 8



High levels of sugar consumption, particularly in the form of sugary drinks, are 
increasingly being recognised as a key driver of obesity levels but is also a major 
contributor to poor levels of dental health in children. Blackpool is seeing high 
numbers of admission to hospital for tooth extraction under general anaesthetic 
amongst children. In Blackpool, 1,168 children aged 0-19 years were admitted to 
hospital for a simple tooth extraction in the three year period 11/12 to 13/14.  
Children in Blackpool are being admitted to hospital for tooth extraction at a younger 
age than the national average with three quarters of those admission being under 10,  
compared to 57% aged under 10 across England. 
 
In Blackpool it is estimated that there are approximately 83,580 Blackpool residents 
aged 16 and over who are overweight or obese. This is 72% of the Blackpool 
population compared to the North West 66% and England 63.8%.    
 
There is a growing consensus that preventing childhood obesity is key to achieving 
healthy lives in adulthood and ultimately to reversing obesity prevalence. To achieve 
this we need to change our approach as a society to food, drinks and physical activity 
and prioritise the creation of ‘healthy-preference learning environments’ for children. 
Also highlighted is that a relatively quick way to reduce inequalities  by enabling 
disadvantaged communities to express healthy food preferences by ensuring access 
to healthy food, skills and social support. 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

Yes 

3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 
None 
 

4.1 The relevant Council Priorities are: 
 

 Tackle child poverty, raise aspirations and improve educational achievement  

 Improve health and well-being especially for the most disadvantaged  
 

 
5.0 Background Information 

 
5.1 
 
 
 

Healthy Weight Strategy 2014-16 
 
The vision of the Healthy Weight Strategy 2014-16 was “all people who live, learn, 
play, work and visit Blackpool will enjoy the benefits of a health promoting town 

Page 120



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

which makes choosing to eat a balanced diet and having a physically active lifestyle 
an easier option.  For those individuals that require additional support to achieve and 
maintain a healthy weight, effective tailored programmes and interventions will be 
provided appropriate to their age, sex, ability, ethnicity, socioeconomic status and 
personal circumstances.” 
 
To date this has been achieved through 

 Healthy Catering Award 

 Health Works Award 

 Development of vending machine guidelines 

 Fit2Go project across Blackpool for year 4 pupils 

 Family Fit2Go project 

 Adult weight management service 

 Love my Beach Campaign 

 Increased in walking and cycling in Blackpool  

 Allotments and Community growing schemes 

 Development of a sustainable food network 

 Supporting Food Active with the campaign Give up Loving Pop (GULP) 

 Free School Breakfast 

 Links with enforcement for work with the fast food outlets 

 Change for life campaign 
 
Further work is still required in some areas 

 Appointment of Healthy Urban Planner 

 Increase the number of businesses engaged with healthy catering award and 
health works award 

 Work around the Fast Food outlets/sweet shops and ice cream vans 
 

5.2 The Future direction of the Healthy Weight Strategy 
 
Healthy Weight Strategy is currently being refreshed in light of emerging research, 
evidence and trends.   
 
The Government recently published its response to the House of Commons Health 
Select Committee report on the Impact of physical activity and diet on health 
(Department of Health, 2015).  The document highlights that interventions have been 
focused on encouraging individuals to change their behaviour with regard to diet and 
physical activity, but suggest these need to be underpinned by broader population-
level interventions.  This means considering measures to include  
 

 Pricing 

 Availability of unhealthy foods 

 Redesigning environments to promote physical activity  

Page 121



 Make healthy choices the default choice.   
 

Population interventions have the added advantage on impacting on greater 
numbers and a more effective approach on tackling health inequalities.  This is 
further supported through a series of documents published by the Lancet, in 
particular series two article which highlights that people’s environments emerge as 
central for making changes between learned food choices and eating behaviours 
(Hawkes, et al., 2015). The research highlights 4 key mechanisms to support change 
 

 Provide an enabling environment for healthy preference learning 

 Overcome barriers to the expression of healthy preferences 

 Encourage people to reassess existing unhealthy preferences 

 Stimulate a food-systems response 
 
The publication of the NICE quality standard 94: Obesity: prevention and lifestyle 
weight management in children and young people supports the development of 
population level interventions to prevent children and young people aged 18 and 
under from becoming overweight or obese (NICE, 2015)  This standard is expected to 
contribute to improvements in the following outcomes:- 
 

 Excess weight in children and young people under 18 years 

 Dietary habits 

 Time spent being inactive or sedentary 

 Prevalence of type 2 diabetes in children and young people 

 Use of children and adolescent mental health services 

 Self-esteem 

 Mental wellbeing 
 
In view of the evidence base it is proposed that the new Healthy Weight Strategy will 
focus on population level interventions that will help us all to consume healthier 
diets.  The Council has a clear responsibility and lead role on this agenda within the 
town.  Signing the Local Authority Declaration on Health Weight is fundamental in 
making a difference to health. 
 

5.3 Local Authority Declaration on Healthy Weight 
 
Blackpool Council has been working with Food Active to develop the Local 
Declaration on Sugar, Sugar Sweetened Beverages and considering their impact on 
obesity.  Food Active is a collaborative programme launched by the North West 
Directors of Public Health in November 2013.  The purpose of the collaborative was 
to tackle the increasing levels of obesity.  Focusing on population-level interventions 
which take steps to address the social, environmental, economic and legislative 
factors that affect people’s ability to change their behavior.  The three key objectives 

Page 122



which were agreed by the Directors of Public Health were: 
 

 Sugary drinks duty 

 Stronger national regulatory controls on junk food marketing 

 Improved spatial planning measures 
 
A key focus of Food Active has been to develop a Local Government Declaration on 
Healthy Weight.  The declaration is a statement that the Council encapsulates a 
vision to reduce obesity/improve the health and wellbeing of the population by being 
a responsible Local Authority by continuing to advance existing strategies.  The key 
themes of the declaration are:- 
 

1. Protecting our residents from the commercial pressures and vested interests 
of the food and drink industry supplying HFSS products.  

2. Consider partnerships including monetary, in-kind or research funding based 
or to fund discretionary services.  

3. Review provision in all our public buildings, facilities and providers to make 
healthy foods and drinks more convenient and affordable and limit access to 
high-calorie, low-nutrient foods and drinks (to include all public institutions 
such as schools, hospitals, care homes, leisure facilities);  

4. Increase public access to fresh drinking water; on local authority controlled 
sites  

5. Consider supplementary guidance for hot food takeaways, specifically in areas 
around schools, parks and where access to healthier alternatives are limited;  

6. Advocate plans with partners including the NHS and all agencies represented 
on the Health and Wellbeing Board, healthy cities, academic institutions and 
local communities to address the causes and impacts of obesity;-  

7. Strive to protect our children from inappropriate marketing by the food and 
drink industry;  

8. Support the government in taking action at national level to help local 
authorities reduce obesity prevalence and health inequalities in our 
communities;  

9. Ensure food and provided at public events includes healthy provisions, 
supporting food retailers to deliver this offer  

10. Support the health and well-being of local authority staff and increase 
knowledge and understanding of overweight and obesity to create a culture 
and ethos that de-normalises unhealthy weight  

11. Consider how strategies, plans and infrastructures for regeneration and town 
planning positively impact on physical activity  

12. Monitor the progress of our plan against our commitments and publish the 
results. 

 
5.4 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 
No 

Page 123



 
 

5.5 List of Appendices:  
  

Appendix 8a: Refreshed Blackpool Healthy Weight Strategy 2014-2016 
 

 
6.0 Legal considerations: 

 
6.1 
 

There are no legal considerations in relation to signing the Local Authority 
Declaration. 

 
7.0 Human Resources considerations: 

 
7.1 There are no Human Resources implications 
 
8.0 Equalities considerations: 

 
8.1 
 

Obesity and poor nutrition are significant contributors to health inequalities in the 
town and reducing the inequalities is a fundamental part of the strategy. 

 
9.0 Financial considerations: 

 
9.1 
 

There are no costs associated to signing up to the declaration 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 Sign up to the declaration is seen as a core aspect of the Healthy Weight Strategy 
going forward, therefore failure to sign up would compromise the future delivery of 
the strategy 

 
11.0 Ethical considerations: 

 
11.1 
 

None 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

A Stakeholder event has been held to inform the refresh and further consultation 
with internal departments is being arranged. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 124



13.0 Background papers: 
 

13.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Blackpool Health and Wellbeing Board (2015) Health Behaviours in Blackpool; A 
summary of the Blackpool Lifestyles Survey 2015 
Blackpool Council, Public Health; SHEU Survey Results; Supporting the Health and 
Well-being of Young People in Blackpool. 
 
Department of Health (2015). Government response to the House of Commons 
Health Select Committee Report on the Impact of physical activity and diet on health. 
London: HM Government 
 
Hawkes C, Smith TG, Wardle J, Hammond R A, Friel S, Throw A M et all (2015) Smart 
Food policies for obesity prevention.  Lancet, 2410-2421 
 
NICE (2015) Obesity: Prevention and lifestyles weight Management in children and 
young people; NICE quality standard 94. London 
 
 

 
 

Page 125



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 1 

 

Appendix 8a 

Healthy Weight Strategy for Blackpool 2014-16   

Refresh 2015  

Page 127



 

 

 2 

Table of Contents 
Introduction ............................................................................................................................................ 3 

The case for action .................................................................................................................................. 4 

Why focus on healthy weight?............................................................................................................ 4 

Overview of overweight and obesity – A National Perspective.......................................................... 5 

Causes of excess weight ...................................................................................................................... 5 

Obesity harms health .......................................................................................................................... 5 

The cost of obesity .............................................................................................................................. 6 

Obesity harms communities ............................................................................................................... 6 

Obesity does not affect all groups equally.......................................................................................... 7 

The picture in Blackpool.......................................................................................................................... 7 

Children and Young People ................................................................................................................. 7 

Adults ................................................................................................................................................ 10 

Evidence base for action ....................................................................................................................... 13 

NICE Quality standard 94: Obesity prevention and lifestyle weight management in children and 

young people; July 2015 ............................................................................................................... 13 

NICE Quality standard 84: Physical Activity: Encouraging activity in all people in contact with the 

NHS; March 2015 .......................................................................................................................... 13 

NICE Guidance 7: Maintaining a healthy weight and preventing excess weight gain amongst 

adults and children; March 2015 .................................................................................................. 13 

NICE Public Health Guidance 55: Oral Health: Approaches for local authorities to improve oral 

health of their communities; October 2014 ................................................................................. 13 

NICE Public Health Guidance 49; Behaviour change; Individual approaches; January 2014........ 13 

World Cancer Research Fund International NOURISHING Framework: Updated July 2015 ........ 13 

Public Health England; Obesity and the environment briefing; regulating the growth of fast food 

outlets; March 2014 ...................................................................................................................... 14 

Local Government Association: Investing our nation’s future the first 100 days of the next 

government; Tackling the causes and effects of obesity; January 2015 ...................................... 14 

Lancet Obesity Series 2015 ........................................................................................................... 14 

What is happening in Blackpool ............................................................................................................ 15 

Future direction .................................................................................................................................... 17 

Targets .............................................................................................................................................. 17 

Actions .............................................................................................................................................. 17 

 

Page 128



 

 

 3 

Document Control 

Document owner: Nicky Dennison/Lynn Donkin 

Document number: 2 

Document category: Healthy Weight Strategy 

Document location: Public Health 

Issued by:  

Last edited: 16 September 2015 

 

Record of Amendments: 

Date Version Amended by Description of changes 

16/09/2015 Version 1 Nicky Dennison/Lynn Donkin Strategy Refresh 

    

    

    

    

    

 

Approved By: 

Name Title Signature Date 

    

    

    

 

  

Page 129



 

 

 4 

Introduction 
Much work has been undertaken in recent years under the Healthy Weight Strategy for Blackpool 

2014-16.   

Good progress has been made with the action plan. This, along with new data on the local picture 

and emerging research and evidence and guidance on effective population levels actions to promote 

healthy weight and good nutrition, means that it is timely to refresh the strategy. 

This document presents a summary of the work to date, provides an update on local data including 

recent health and lifestyle surveys, summarises emerging research and new guidance, and sets out a 

refreshed set of actions. 

The scope of this document is primarily concerned with food consumption; the ‘calories in’ 

component of the weight equation. Physical activity has an important part to play in weight 

management and maintaining healthy weight, as well as having important benefits independent of 

weight. Recognise that physical activity is the subject of a separate strategy. 

This strategy should be read in conjunction with the ‘Blackpool Sport and Physical Activity Strategy 

2013-2018’.  The Sport and Physical Activity Strategy is produced and monitored by Blackpool 

Council’s Leisure Services Department, who are the Local Authority lead for physical activity. 

The case for action 

Why focus on healthy weight? 

The benefits of maintaining healthy weight and nutrition are numerous, not only to the quality of 

life, but also the quantity of life.  Physically and emotionally, an unhealthy body weight is a burden, 

but can be avoided or lowered.  Reaching and maintaining a healthy weight is important for overall 

health and can help you prevent and control many disease and conditions.  If you are overweight or 

obese, you are at higher risk of developing serious health problems.  Therefore maintaining a 

healthy weight is important as it helps in the following ways:- 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Reducing the risk of heart disease; 

 Reducing the risk of stroke; 

 Reducing the risks of developing some forms of cancer; 

 Relieving back and joint tension; 

 Increasing energy levels; 

 Optimizing the immune system; 

 Reducing the risks of osteoporosis; 

 Reducing infertility risks; 

 Reducing the risk of anaemia; 

 Having more self-esteem; 

  Increasing energy and welfare levels. 

Page 130



 

 

 5 

 

Overview of overweight and obesity – A National Perspective 

Obesity is widespread and the prevalence remains high for England and has been rising sharply over 

the past 20 years.  The Health Survey for England data has shown two thirds of adults, a quarter of 2-

10 year olds and one third of 11-15 year olds are overweight or obese.  It is predicted that 

overweight and obesity in adults will reach 70% by 2034.  Obesity threatens the health and well-

being of individuals and places a burden on families because of the increasing burden of long term 

chronic disability. There are significant and rising costs for the public sector including local 

authorities in meeting the increasing health and social care needs associated with rising obesity 

levels and an ageing population. Employers and business see significant impacts too through 

sickness absence and lost productivity.  England along with the rest of the UK ranks as one of the 

most obese nations in Europe and there are few signs of a sustained decline.  We also see clear 

health inequalities with more deprived communities experiencing disproportionately high rates of 

overweigh and obesity.  

Causes of excess weight 

Obesity occurs when energy intake from food and drink consumption is greater than energy 

expenditure through the body’s metabolism and physical activity over a prolonged period, resulting 

in the accumulation of excess body fat. The government-commissioned Foresight Report, published 

in 2007, looked in to the reasons for this and concluded there was a “complex web” of factors at 

play.  This included reasons such as 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Obesity harms health 

 
 
The consequences of overweight and 
obesity is associated with an increased 
risk of developing a number of chronic 
diseases and conditions including type 2 
diabetes, coronary heart disease, 
hypertension and stroke, asthma, 
depression and more.   

 

 Unhealthy diets 

 Low levels of physical activity 

 Societal influences: media, education, peer 

pressure, culture 

 Individual psychology 

 Environmental 

 

Page 131



 

 

 6 

 

The cost of obesity 

 

 
 

 

The impact of overweight and obesity on individuals 
and families in terms of ill-health places a 
significant burden on NHS resources.  The direct 
cost to the NHS in 2006/07 of people being 
overweight and obese was £5.1 billion, and is 
expected to reach £9.7 billion by 2050.    
 
The impact on wider society and the economy is 
also a concern.   Obesity impacts on employment 
opportunities and life chances in general but 
employers bear the major cost.  There are an 
estimated 16 million days of certified incapacity per 
annum directly related to obesity.   
 
Alongside the growing burden on the public sector 
there is an impact on Local Authorities including the 
cost to social services for caring for housebound 
people suffering from illness as a consequence of 
obesity.  The estimated annual social care costs to 
local authorities are an estimated £352 million. In 
relation to the wider economy the indirect costs 
could be as much as £27 billion by 2015. 
 

Obesity harms communities 

 
Overweight or obese adults are less likely to 
meet physical activity recommendations.  On 
average obese people are more likely to take an 
additional 4 days sick per year compared to a 
healthy weight person.  As previously discussed 
obesity is associated with the development of 
long-term health conditions placing demands on 
social care services 

 

Page 132



 

 

 7 

Obesity does not affect all groups equally 

Obesity prevalence in England is known to be associated with many 

indicators of socioeconomic status, with higher levels of obesity found 

among more deprived groups.  The association is stronger for women than 

for men.  Obesity prevalence in children is strongly correlated with 

deprivation and is highest in the most deprived areas.  There is a steady rise 

in obesity prevalence with increasing deprivation for both Reception and 

Year 6 children.   Key research shows that households/individuals who are in 

poverty or socially disadvantaged have worse dietary-related outcomes.  

Food poverty is more likely amongst those who have a low income, are 

unemployed, have a disability or are a member of a black or minority ethnic 

group. Whilst there is some emerging evidence that national child obesity 

levels have plateaued, rates in the more deprived areas continue to rise. The 

picture in Blackpool 

Children and Young People  

The picture for the children in Blackpool is a major concern.  The data from the National Child 

Measurement Programme (NCMP) for 2013/14 has been released, which noted that 27% of our 

reception children are reported to have excess weight which is approximate 2,600 children, 

compared to 23% for the North West and 21% nationally.  The children are also weighed in Year 6 

and for 2013/14 it was reported that 36% have excess weight compared to 34% for the North West 

and 33% nationally.  Rates of overweight and obesity are increasing faster than the average, which is 

demonstrated in the two charts below. 

  
  

Page 133



 

 

 8 

 
 
The data from the NCMP has been collected 
since 2006/07, allowing comparison from the 
same cohort of children from Reception and 
Year 6.  This analysis has been completed for 
children who were in Reception in 2006/07 to 
Year 6 in 2012/13 and Reception children in 
2007/08 to Year 6 in 2013/14, showing that 
obesity rates double during this timeframe. 
  

 

There are additional consequences for children eating unhealthy diets and one of these is tooth 

decay.  A major cause of tooth decay is soft and fizzy drinks, which can be high in sugar and have few 

nutrients.  The chart below demonstrates in Blackpool, 1,168 children aged 0-19 years were 

admitted to hospital for a simple tooth extraction in the three year period 11/12 to 13/14.  Children 

in Blackpool are being admitted to hospital for tooth extraction at a younger age than the national 

average.  Of the number of Blackpool children admitted for tooth extraction, three quarters were 

aged under 10, this compares to 57% aged under 10 across England. 

 

  

 

In early 2015, Public Health undertook a survey to look at supporting the health and well-being of 

Young People in Blackpool.  This survey was carried out by the Schools Health Education Unit (SHEU), 

an independent research unit with an established reputation for school health surveys.  Year 4 and 6 

pupils completed the Primary version of the questionnaire.  Pupils in Year 8–10 completed the 

Secondary version of the questionnaire.  All were undertaken anonymously and a total of 2,402 

pupils took part in 13 primary school settings and 7 secondary school settings in Blackpool. 

The Key findings for Primary school pupils in Years 4 and 6 (ages 8-11)  

15.1% 

41.5% 

24.8% 

18.6% 

England 

Age 0-
4yrs

Age 5-
9yrs

n=184,045 

20.1% 

54.6% 

13.6% 

11.6% 

Blackpool 

Age 0-
4yrs

Age 5-
9yrs

n=1,168 

Page 134



 

 

 9 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 5% of pupils had nothing to eat or drink for breakfast on the day of the survey 

 39% of pupils had cereal for breakfast and 26% toast or bread on the morning of 

the survey. 18% said they had fruit 

 Pupils were asked to identify, from a list, the foods which they ate on most days.  

51% of pupils said they have fresh fruit and 37% said vegetables. 28% said crisps 

and 26% said sweets on most days 

 32% of boys and 22% of girls said they have spent money on sugary drinks in the 

last 7 days. 15% said they drink sugary drinks on most days 

 27% of pupils had eaten 5 or more portions of fruit and vegetables on the day 

before the survey, 9% had eaten none 

 42% of pupils said that they rarely or never ate fish or fish fingers. 31% said they 

rarely or never eat salads 

 29% of pupils said they would like to lose weight 

 28% of pupils had a filling on their last visit to the dentist, 4% had a brace fitted or 

checked and 9% had other treatment 

Page 135



 

 

 10 

The Key findings for Secondary school pupils in Year 8-10 (ages 12-15) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adults 

In Blackpool it is estimated that there are approximately 83,500 Blackpool residents aged 16 and 

over who are classified as overweight or obese.  This is 72% of the Blackpool population compared to 

the North West 66% and England 63.8%.   It is also reported that 38% of adults aged 16 and over are 

inactive.  Inactive means undertaking less than 30 minutes of physical activity per week.  Compared 

to 31% for the North West and 28% for England.  The average intakes of saturated fat, sugar, and 

salt are above recommendations whilst intakes of fruit and vegetables, fibre and some vitamins and 

minerals are below recommendations. 

The Health behaviours survey for Blackpool 2015 provides analysis about the prevalence of different 

health behaviours across the population groups, the characteristics of people with different health 

behaviours and indicates how many people participate in more than one risk taking behaviour.  The 

survey was circulated to 10,000 homes in Blackpool in September 2014 and asked respondents 

about their lifestyles, health and behaviours.  The overall response rate was 23% (2,282). 

The health behaviours survey returned a much lower proportion of the population eating the 

recommended ‘5 a day’ than was expected in comparison with other data sources but the collated 

evidence supports the findings that healthy eating is less likely in those who are struggling 

financially, younger people, those with a disability and the obese. 

 

 9% of pupils reported having nothing to eat or drink for breakfast on the day of the 

survey 

 4% of pupils reported having a high energy/caffeine drink before lessons on the day 

of the survey 

 25% of boys and 16% of girls said that they have fizzy drinks (not low calorie) on most 

days 

 17% of the pupils reported “never” considering their health when choosing what to 

eat 14% of pupils consider their health “very often” or “always” 

 7% of the pupils would like to put on weight while 48% would like to lose weight 

(65% of Year 10 girls said this).  45% of pupils are happy with their weight as it is 

 19% of pupils said they had no lunch on the day before the survey. 39% of pupils ate 

a packed lunch from home or went home for lunch, 37% had school food and 5% 

bought lunch from a takeaway or shop 

 25% of pupils said they eat sweets, chocolates “on most days”. 29% said they eat 

crisps “ on most days” 48% said they eat fruit/vegetables “on most days” 

 14% of pupils had eaten 5 or more portions of fruit and vegetables on the day before 

Page 136



 

 

 11 

  43% of survey responders 
reported eating less than 3 
portions of different fruit and 
vegetables the previous day 

 Of these, 12% didn’t eat any 
fruit or vegetables the previous 
day 

 The number of portions of fruit 
and vegetables consumed 
increases with age and financial 
security 

 Males and those out of work 
consume fewer portions of fruit 
and vegetables than the general 
population 
 

Income is not the only factor which can influence healthy eating, cooking and storage facilities or the 

cost of gas/electricity can be problematic for some, as can a lack of knowledge around food 

preparation.  In these situations convenience food are more likely to be eaten – this includes 

processed foods and takeaway/fast food.  The results of the survey highlighted 

 20% reported eating fast food or takeaway meals at least once a week 

 Almost 10% said they never prepared a meal from basic ingredients 

 A further 14% said they prepared a meal from basic ingredients less than once a week 

 Younger people (age <45) eat takeaway food more often than older people and those 

working full time eat takeaway food significantly more frequently 

 Those not in work are significantly less likely to prepare a meal from scratch  

  

Adults who have a lot of sugary soft and fizzy drinks are more likely to put on weight and to be 

overweight or obese. 

12% 

31% 

38% 

19% 

Portions of different fruit and 
vegetables consumed per day? 

0 portions

1-2

3-4

5 or more

19% 

61% 

19% 

How often do you eat fast food or 
take away meals? 

5 or more
times a
week
1-4 times a
week

Less than
once a week

Never

9% 

14% 

39% 

38% 

How often do you prepare a meal 
from basic ingredients for 

yourself/household members? 
Never

Less than
once a week

1-4 times a
week

5 or more
times a
week

Page 137



 

 

 12 

 

 
 

 14% of people consuming fizzy 
drinks 6 or more times a week 

 People who are obese are 
significantly more likely to consume 
fizzy drinks more often 

 The number of fizzy drinks 
consumed decrease with age and 
financial security 

 

Summary of new data 

 Overall the picture is one of poor nutrition and excess weight.   

 Overweight and obesity levels in children are continuing to rise in Blackpool and are 

diverging from the national picture which appears to be levelling off. 

 Almost 400 children a year are admitted to hospital for tooth extraction. Tooth extraction 

under general anaesthetic is the single biggest reason for hospital admissions in primary 

aged children. 

 Consumption of sugary drinks is high in both children, teens and adults.  

 Consumption of fruit and veg (five-a-day) is lower than we thought it was. 

 Fast food and convenience food feature prominently, with a quarter of people preparing a 

meal from fresh ingredients less than once a week. 

  

14% 

13% 

14% 

14% 

44% 

Frequency of fizzy/soft drink 
consumption  

(exc. diet or sugar-free drinks)  
6 or more
times a week

3-5 times a
week

1-2 times a
week

Less than once
a week

Rarely or never

Don't know

Page 138



 

 

 13 

Evidence base for action 
Over the past year there have been a number of new studies and guidance documents released 

providing further evidence for tackling the causes of obesity.  A key feature emerging from research 

evidence is that too much sugar in our diets is a key reason for increasing levels of overweight and 

obesity. 

NICE Quality standard 94: Obesity prevention and lifestyle weight management in children and 

young people; July 2015 

This quality guidance covers a range of approaches at a population level to prevent children and 

young people aged under 18 from becoming overweight or obese.  It includes interventions for 

lifestyle weight management. 

NICE Quality standard 84: Physical Activity: Encouraging activity in all people in contact with the 

NHS; March 2015 

This quality standard covers encouraging physical activity in people of all ages who are in contact 
with the NHS, including staff, patients and carers. It does not cover encouraging physical activity for 
particular conditions.  
 

NICE Guidance 7: Maintaining a healthy weight and preventing excess weight gain amongst adults 

and children; March 2015 

This guideline makes recommendations on behaviours that may help people maintain a healthy 
weight or prevent excess weight gain. These recommendations support those made in other NICE 
guidelines about effective interventions and activities to prevent people becoming overweight or 
obese. This includes interventions and activities in which weight is not the primary outcome, such as 
those aimed at preventing cardiovascular disease or type 2 diabetes, improving mental wellbeing or 
increasing active travel. 
 

NICE Public Health Guidance 55: Oral Health: Approaches for local authorities to improve oral 

health of their communities; October 2014 

This guideline makes recommendations on undertaking oral health needs assessments, developing a 
local strategy on oral health and delivering community-based interventions and activities. 
 

NICE Public Health Guidance 49; Behaviour change; Individual approaches; January 2014 

This guidance makes recommendations on individual-level behaviour change interventions aimed at 
changing the behaviours that can damage people's health. It includes a range of approaches for 
people aged 16 and over, from single interventions delivered as the opportunity arises to planned, 
high intensity interventions that may take place over a number of sessions. 
 

World Cancer Research Fund International NOURISHING Framework: Updated July 2015 

The Nourishing framework is an interactive tool to support policy making decisions. The tool helps 

identify where action is needed to promote healthy diets, reduce obesity and other non-

communicable diseases, including cancer.  It also allows policy makers to tailor options suitable for 

different populations and assess if the approach is sufficiently comprehensive.  The key domains are 

environment, food, and behaviour change. 

 

Page 139



 

 

 14 

 

Public Health England; Obesity and the environment briefing; regulating the growth of fast food 

outlets; March 2014 

This briefing has been written in conjunction with the Local Government Association (LGA) and the 

Chartered Institute of Environment Health (CIEH).  It is aimed at those who work in or represent local 

authorities.  The document addresses the opportunities to limit the number of fast-food takeaways 

(primarily hot food takeaways near schools) and ways in which food can be made healthier.  It 

provides a summary of the importance of action on obesity and outlines what can be achieved at a 

local level. 

Local Government Association: Investing our nation’s future the first 100 days of the next 

government; Tackling the causes and effects of obesity; January 2015 

This document describes the unique opportunity for local authorities to have a local approach to 

tackling obesity and change the focus from treatment to prevention. 

Lancet Obesity Series 2015 

This is the second Lancet Obesity Series, under the Leadership of Boyd Swinburn.  This series of 

papers provides the opportunity to rethink about the approach on obesity.  In particular, it suggests 

the dichotomy of personal choice versus environmental influence is unhelpful and proposes a 

reframing of obesity as problem driven largely by environmental effects that undermine our self-

regulatory capacity to make responsible decisions about personal diet and physical activity. 

Preventing childhood obesity is highlighted as being key to achieving healthy lives in adulthood and 

ultimately to reversing obesity prevalence. To achieve this we need to change our approach as a 

society to feed, drinks and physical activity and prioritise the creation of ‘healthy-preference 

learning environments’ for children. Also highlighted is a relatively quick way to reduce inequalities 

by enabling disadvantaged communities to express healthy food preferences by ensuring access to 

healthy food, skills and social support. 

 

  

Page 140



 

 

 15 

What is happening in Blackpool 
The vision of the Healthy Weight Strategy 2014-16 was “all people who live, learn, play, work and 

visit Blackpool will enjoy the benefits of a health promoting town which makes choosing to eat a 

balanced diet and having a physically active lifestyle an easier option.  For those individuals that 

require additional support to achieve and maintain a healthy weight, effective tailored programmes 

and interventions will be provided appropriate to their age, sex, ability, ethnicity, socioeconomic 

status and personal circumstances.” 

Some of the key achievements of the action plan have been; 

Healthier Catering Award 
The Healthier Catering Award commenced in September 2013 and has been developed to support 

local food establishments create healthier food options.  The aim of the award is to help create 

healthier food environments with the healthier choices being promoted as the easiest choice(s) and 

providing individuals with the option to order healthier choices when eating out.  To date 21 

establishments are working towards achieving the award including businesses such as the Children’s 

Centres, and the Sandcastle. 

 
Health Works Award 
The Health Works Award has been operational since 2009 and has helped to improve the mental 

and physical wellbeing of employees by encouraging and supporting local employers to include 

health promotion/wellness programs to create healthier working environments and business 

advantage through sustainable organisational change.  

Allotments & Community growing schemes 
Public Health has commissioned Grow Blackpool to develop green spaces and growing opportunities 

across Blackpool since 2009. Food Co-operatives help to improve community cohesion, nutritional 

intake and sustainable green spaces. Growing fruit and vegetables can lead to a higher intake of 

these foods, helping people to meet the recommended intake of a minimum of 5 portions a day. The 

funding has supported networks of growing schemes to aid the foundation of  a sustainable 

Blackpool Food Co-operative linking with The Green Infrastructure Plan, Surface Water Management 

Plan, Fairness Commission, Food Banks, The School Food Plan, The Early Years programmes and the 

Healthy Weight and Mental Wellbeing Action Plans 

Sustainable food network 
The purpose of the network is to work in partnership to create equitable, sustainable, and fairer 

food systems for the resident population of Blackpool.   As well as looking at the sustainability of 

food, it is about providing food that is healthy for people and providing access to good food for all.   

Campaign Give up Loving Pop (GULP) 
This campaign was created by Food Active, a collaborative healthy weight programme commissioned 

by the North West Directors of Public Health and delivered by the Health Equalities Group (HEG), 

Liverpool.  The aim of this campaign was to raise awareness around the health effects of excessive 

consumption of sugary drinks.   

 
 

Page 141



 

 

 16 

Free School Breakfast 
Blackpool Council offers all primary school pupils from Reception through to Year 6 attending state 

funded schools in Blackpool a free, healthy breakfast at the start of the school day, compliant with 

the School Food Guidelines. This schemes is based on evidence of effectiveness from the US 

federally assisted School Breakfast Program showing that children who eat school breakfast are less 

likely to be underweight, more likely to have improved nutrition, and the Program does not 

contribute to obesity. Local evaluation work has suggested that free school breakfasts are already 

making a positive difference to Blackpool children’s eating habits 

 

Fit2Go 

Fit2go is a programme for year 4 children to increase physical activity and promote healthy lifestyles 

including healthy eating. 

 

Family Fit2go  

Family Fit2go is working with families to improve knowledge around healthy food choices and 

increasing physical activity. 

 

YMCA MEND Family Lifestyle Programme 

This is a programme working with families with overweight children aged 5-13 years. 

 

Early Years Physical Activity Programme 

This service implements an Early Years training package and programme around play for staff 

working with children aged 0-4 years, based on the new physical activity guidelines. 

 
Breast Feeding  
Public Health have commissioned the Breast Feeding Network to deliver a service that provides a 
Breast Feeding Peer support programme, where women that have had personal and practical 
experience of breastfeeding offer support to other mothers. The programme has a multi-faceted 
approach to breastfeeding and is embedded as part of a wider multi-disciplinary approach, working 
in partnership with other organisations (e.g. hospital and community health services, children’s 
services, voluntary organisations and volunteers) to provide separate facets of a service offered to 
all women, but particularly targeting families living in areas of deprivation in Blackpool.  The goal of 
peer support is to encourage and support pregnant women and those who are breastfeeding.  
 
Blackpool Better Start 
Blackpool has recently been successful in securing funding from the Big Lottery for ‘A Better Start’ 
programme over the next ten years. The programme aims to improve outcomes for children aged 0-
3 focusing on diet and nutrition, social and emotional development, and speech and language 
development. Going forward, this offers a real opportunity for working with local partners to 
improve diet and nutrition in pregnancy and early childhood. 
 

  

Page 142



 

 

 17 

Future direction 
In light of the emerging research, evidence and trends it is necessary to refresh the Healthy Weight 

Strategy to ensure it is up to date and delivering the appropriate actions for the Blackpool residents. 

The Government recently published its response to the House of Commons Health Select Committee 

report on the Impact of physical activity and diet on health (Department of Health, 2015).  The 

document highlights that interventions have been focused on encouraging individuals to change 

their behaviour with regard to diet and physical activity, but suggest these need to be underpinned 

by broader population-level interventions.  Priorities around food and nutrition need to include: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Targets 

To measure the success of the Healthy Weight Strategy a number of targets have been set 

 Expand the number of local businesses achieving the Healthier Catering Award 

 Reduction in the consumption of sugary drinks 

 Increase the number of referrals to child weight management Services 

 Implementation of Supplementary Planning Documentation  

 Reduce the number of hospital admissions for tooth extraction in children 

 Reduce the number of children arriving at Primary school overweight or obese 

 Reduce the increase of overweight and obese children from Reception to Year 6 

 Council committing to signing the Local Authority Declaration for Healthy Weight 

 Breastfeeding – Further discussion with Donna Taylor 

Actions 

Many of the existing activities remain relevant and necessary and the new action plan is intended to 

support and build on these activities.   

 Scale up the Healthier Catering Award 

 Run a local campaign  using the GULP materials to promote reduction in sugary drink 

consumption 

 Commit to signing the Local Authority Declaration for Healthy Weight and commit to the 

actions of the declaration 

 Expand the places available on Children and Young People weight management programmes 

 Lobby for taxation of Sugar Sweetened Beverages 

 Continuing to address and reduce levels of overweight and obesity in 
children and adults 

 Increase knowledge, skills and abilities about healthy eating 

 Make healthy choices the default choice 

 Pricing 

 Availability of unhealthy foods 

 Redesigning environments to promote physical activity and healthy food 

 Reducing sugar consumption 
 

Page 143



 

 

 18 

 Develop supplementary planning documentation for the restriction on fast food/takeaways, 

sweet shops and ice cream vans around schools 

 Development of community growing spaces and allotments 

 

 

Page 144



 

 

 
19 

Action Plan 

Starting Well 

Objective Action Responsible Lead Comments/Updates 

Increase rates of Breast Feeding  Through peer support programme 

 Promotion and seeking to normalise 
Breastfeeding 

 Increase the number of premises that 
advertise that they are a breastfeeding 
friendly organisation 

James 
Green/Breastfeeding 
Network Provider 

 

Healthy Weaning, Diet and nutrition 
in early years 

 Healthy Child programme 0-5 element of 
the Health Visiting contact point 

 FNP 

 Better start initiatives (baby steps) 

 Early Years Physical Activity programme 

 Set up an Early Years Fit2Go programme 

 Early years support 
 

Donna Taylor 
 
 
 
Alan Shaw 

Better Start 
Lisa Arnold 

 

 

Developing Well and Young People 

Objective Action Responsible Lead Comments/Updates 

Reduce exposure to high fat and 
high sugar foods and sugar 
sweetened beverages  to reduce 
consumption and improve nutrition 

 Develop and Implement the GULP 
campaign (Give up Loving Pop) children 
and Young People  
 

 Implementation of Healthy Vending 
Machines across all local authority 
premises, NHS premises by reducing the 
percentage of sugary drinks available 
 

 Lobby for taxation of Sugar Sweetened 

Nicky 
Dennison/Rebecca 
Edwards 
 
Alan Shaw 
 
 
 
 
Public Health 

 
 
 
 
Audit of vending machines in Council 
& NHS premises, and those of 
relevant partners e.g. Football Club. 

P
age 145



 

 

 
20 

Beverages 
 

 Strive to protect children and young 
people from inappropriate marketing by 
food and drinks industry 

 

 
 
Public Health 

Improvement of dental health and 
reduction of dental caries, hospital 
admissions due to tooth extraction 
in children 

 Implementation of Fluoridisation in milk 
for primary school Children  

 Oral Health Education 

 Tooth paste and tooth brush distribution 

 Supervised brushing in settings 

Donna Taylor/Helen 
Hindle 

 

Reducing the increase of overweight 
and obese children from Reception 
to Year 6  

 Expand the number of places available for 
Children and Young People weight 
management programmes 

Alan Shaw  

 

Living and Working Well 

Objective Action Responsible Lead Comments/Updates 

Improve diet and nutrition in Adults  Support the health and well-being of our 
staff and increase knowledge and 
understanding of overweight and obesity 
to create a culture and ethos that 
denormalises unhealthy weight 
 

 Commission Healthy Weight programme 
for adults 
 

 Need something in about the wellness 
service 
 

 IBA for healthy weight 

Public Health 
 
 
 
 
 
Alan Shaw 
 
 
Judith Mills/Alan Shaw 
 
 
Public Health 

 

    

P
age 146



 

 

 
21 

 

 

Ageing Well 

Objective Action  Responsible Lead Comments/Updates 

Healthy Diet and nutrition in older 
adults 
 

   

    

 

People and Places 

Objective Action Responsible Lead Comments/Updates 

Protecting Residents from 
commercial pressures from the food 
and drink industry 

 Extend and change the scope of the 
current Healthier Catering Award 
 

 Consideration of Supplementary Planning 
Documentation to restrict the number of 
fast food outlets and sweet shops outside 
schools 
 

 Commit to signing the Local Authority 
Declaration for Healthy Weight and 
commit to the actions 
 

 Review provision in all our public buildings, 
facilities and providers to make healthy 
foods and drinks more convenient and 
affordable and limit access to high calorie, 
low nutrient foods 
 

Alan Shaw/Nicky 
Dennison 
 
Nicky 
Dennison/Healthy 
Urban Planner 
 
 
Nicky Dennison/Lynn 
Donkin/Arif Rajpura 
 
 
Need to agree who 
 
 
 
 
 
Need to agree who 

 P
age 147



 

 

 
22 

 Increase access to fresh drinking water 
 

 Ensure food provided at public events 
includes healthy provisions and supporting 
food retailers to deliver this offer 

 
 
Need to agree who 

Developing a Sustainable growing 
network across Blackpool 

 Development of the Community Farm and 
the development of community growing 
spaces and allotments 
 

 Support the development of the 
sustainable food network 
 

 Development and implementation of the  
Community Shop  

Judith Mills/ Mike 
Crowther 
 
 
Nikki Hart 
 
 
Fairness Commission 

 

 

P
age 148



 

Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Relevant Officer: Arif Rajpura, Director of Public Health 

Relevant Cabinet Member  Councillor Graham Cain, Cabinet Secretary (Resilient 

Communities)  

Date of Meeting 2nd December 2015 

 

RESPONSE TO PUBLIC HEALTH PROPOSED ALLOCATION FORMULA 
2016/17 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 To consider the Council’s response to the Department for Health’s consultation on 
the proposed allocation formula for Public Health for 2016/2017. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 To note the response to the consultation and agree any further action by partners.  
 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

The report updates the Health and Wellbeing Board on developments regarding 
future public health funding.  
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

Yes 

3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 None 

4.0 Council Priority: 
 

4.1 The relevant Council Priorities are: 
 

 Tackle child poverty, raise aspirations and improve educational achievement  

 Safeguard and protect the most vulnerable  

Page 149

Agenda Item 9



 Improve health and well-being especially for the most disadvantaged  

 Improve housing standards and the environment we live in by using housing 
investment to create stable communities  

 Create safer communities and reduce crime and anti-social behaviour 
 

 
5.0 Background Information 

 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 

The Health and Wellbeing Board received a report at its meeting on the 2nd 
September 2015 regarding proposed reductions to the funding for Public Health. At 
that meeting the Board expressed serious concerns as to these reductions and the 
Chairman wrote to the Secretary of State for Health on behalf of the Board. At that 
point the exact levels of funding remained unclear but the Board was clear that any 
reduction especially to the most deprived areas such as Blackpool would be 
detrimental. 
 
The Department for Health launched a consultation on the 8th October 2015 
regarding amendments to the formula for funding. The Director of Public Health 
submitted a representation on behalf of the Council on the 6th November 2015 in 
advance of deadline. As outlined in the representation submitted the proposed 
amendments to the funding formula would have significant implications. This 
representation is presented to the Board for any additional views and comments. 
 

5.3 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

5.4 List of Appendices: 
 

 

 Appendix 9a: Representation submitted by the Director of Public Health 
on behalf of Blackpool Council 
 

 

6.0 Legal considerations: 
 

6.1 
 

None 
 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

7.1 
 

None 
 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

8.1 
 

None 
 
 
 

Page 150



 
 
 

9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 None from the consultation response although the impact of implementation of the 
formula would be significant in terms of health in Blackpool. 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 None 
 

11.0 Ethical considerations: 
 

11.1 
 

None 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

None 
 

13.0 Background papers: 
 

13.1 
 

Consultation document- https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-
health-formula-for-local-authorities-from-april-2016 
 

  
 

Page 151

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-health-formula-for-local-authorities-from-april-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/public-health-formula-for-local-authorities-from-april-2016


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Appendix 9a  

Blackpool Council Response to the Proposed Target allocation for 2016/17 

Public Health transferred from the NHS to Local Government on 1st April 2013. The overall spend per 

head that was transferred depended upon the actual investments made by PCTs in each Local 

Authority area. Many Local Authorities who had higher deprivation and thus higher rates of 

preventable ill health had invested heavily in prevention and public health services. They brought 

over funding at a higher rate than the national average to many less wealthy northern Local 

Authority areas such as those in Lancashire.  

The document does not give actual grant amounts for each Local Authority for 2016/17 onwards as 

these will be dependent on:  

 The total allocation given to Public Health in Local Government in England in the budget 

 The ‘Pace of Change’ – i.e. the time over which the new grant allocation will move to the 

formula recommended (where significant changes are proposed - they are usually tapered in 

over a few years) 

However the formula still signifies big changes to Local Authority Public Health Grant allocations in 

England and using the current baseline budgets for 2015/16 it is possible to calculate the formula’s 

relative impact across each Local Authority.   

The overall impact of the proposed changes is that Blackpool would receive 0.28% of the national 

pot compared to the current figure of 0.30%.  The key drivers of the reduction are the sexual health 

and children’s services (0-5) elements of the formula. Without these two elements the allocation 

would be 0.34%.  

The consultation suggests that the revised formulae would only slightly disadvantage Blackpool by 

0.02%, which seems negligible, but in fact it would mean the loss of approximately 1/3 of the total 

Public Health grant received. 

SIGOMA colleagues at Barnsley Council have calculated that this would result in a reduction of £6.84 

million on the current budget of £17.946 million, taking it to £11.106 million. This excludes the 

children’s services (0-5) allocation.  

The Council has previously expressed concern to ONS that the 2011 Census population figures are an 

underestimate of our population, stemming primarily from the under-resourcing of the fieldwork 

resource relative to the challenge of counting the population housed in 3500 HMO’s in the most 

deprived Local Authority in the country. 

Financial Implications 

From initial analysis undertaken by both SIGOMA and public health academics at the University of 

Liverpool, it is apparent that many - (though not all) - Local Authorities in the north of England with a 

higher Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) and poorer health status are getting a bigger reduction in 

the Public Health Grant under this formula than many southern, healthier, wealthier Local 

Authorities.  

Page 153



2 
 

 

For instance using the 2015/16 Public Health grant allocations as the baseline: 

Blackpool can expect to lose £6.85 million 

Blackburn with Darwen can expect to lose £2.61 million 

Lancashire county Council can expect to lose £0.23 million 

Health Equality Impact Implications 

The consultation document claims that the formula is based on “the principle of equal opportunity of 

access for equal need and contributing to a reduction in health inequalities”  (para 1.7 page 6)  

However, the University of Liverpool has shown that compared to 2014/15, those Local Authority 

areas with the highest index of multiple deprivation will have proportionately bigger cuts overall. 

This will affect all of the Public Health prevention investments of each of those Local Authorities 

including the money available for Health Visitors and the under-5 years prevention spend which has 

just been transferred from NHS commissioning to Local Authorities (from this October).  

These cuts come on top of the existing proposed ‘in year cuts’ to Local Authority Public Health 

Grants of £200m - announced by George Osborne in June 2015 - which Local Government still has 

not had confirmation of following Septembers consultation exercise! 

In Blackpool, if the current ‘in year’ cuts progress as proposed, then  the residents of the Borough 

will see £1,300,000 disappear from their local public health services  before the new cuts even begin 

in April 2016.  

Health Outcome Implications 

As Public Health England and NICE have shown, investments made in Public Health and prevention 

programmes by Local Government, such as smoking cessation services, bring a high Return on 

Investment (ROI). Cutting these services means that ill health that would otherwise have been 

prevented will progress to serious illness and preventable long term conditions such as diabetes, 

obesity, cancer and heart disease. These conditions stop people working, cause avoidable demand in 

the health and social care system, waste public money, and cause untold human misery.  

Policy Coherence Implications  

Whilst some healthier, wealthier Local Authorities appear to gain from the proposed revised 

formula, for many less wealthy Local Authorities in the north, the ACRA formula proposal has the 

effect of contradicting the Conservative Party Manifesto commitment to ‘keeping people healthy 

and getting people with long-term conditions back to work’. Page 38 of the Conservative  Party 

Manifesto reads: 

"We will support you and your family to stay healthy. …We will take action to reduce childhood 

obesity …. We will support people struggling with addictions and undertake a review into how best to 

Page 154



3 
 

support those suffering from long-term yet treatable conditions, such as drug or alcohol addiction, or 

obesity, back in to work.” 

Yet it is highly likely that Drugs and Alcohol Services and Obesity prevention services will have to be 

cut to meet the Public Health Grant cuts in Blackpool and across Lancashire. 

The Formula proposal will undermine the local health economy’s existing plans to manage demand 

through prevention and frustrate its progress in reducing hospital and adult social care services 

demand through effective local prevention work. It will also undermine many Local Authorities 

capacity to deliver the objectives agreed with the Department of Health  in the  ‘Better Care Fund’ 

plans and it will damage local  plans to implement NHS England’s ‘Five Year Forward View’ strategy 

which claimed prevention is the principle strategy for controlling demand in the health and care 

system. 

 

Dr. Arif Rajpura 
Director of Public Health  
Blackpool Council 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Relevant Officer: Scott Butterfield, Corporate Development Manager 

Relevant Cabinet Member  
 

Councillor Graham Cain, Cabinet Secretary (Resilient 

Communities) 

Date of Meeting  
 

2nd  December 2015 

 

INDICES OF DEPRIVATION 2015 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 
 

To present the Health and Wellbeing Board with analysis of the 2015 Indices of 
Deprivation. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 To consider the implications of the findings for the content and direction of the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy. 

  

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

The Indices of Deprivation are one of the key ways in which the level of need in Local 
Authority Areas is compared across the country. 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by 
the Council? 
 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 None. 
 

4.0 Council Priority: 
 

4.1 The relevant Council priority is “Communities: Creating stronger communities and 
increasing resilience” 
 

Page 157

Agenda Item 10



5.0 
 
5.1 

Background information 
 
The 2015 update to the Indices of Deprivation was published on 30th September 2015. 
The attached papers provide an overview of the methodology, together with the 
findings as they relate to Blackpool.  

  

5.2 The rank of average scores shows that Blackpool is the most deprived local authority 
area in the country, and the most deprived based on health measures. This reflects 
both the concentration of health issues in Blackpool and their relevance to the wider 
determinants of health. 

 
5.3 

 
The findings should be considered by the board alongside the detailed evidence in the 
Blackpool Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, as the board develops a new Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy for the town. 

  

5.8 List of appendices 

 Appendix 10a: The English Indices of Deprivation 2015: Blackpool Position 
Report 
Appendix 10b: The English Indices of Deprivation 2015: Blackpool Health 
Domain Report 
 

 

6.0 Legal considerations: 
 

6.1 
 

None 
 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

7.1 None 
 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

8.1 None 
 

9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None 
 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 None 
 
 
 

Page 158



11.0 Ethical considerations: 
 

11.1 
 

None 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 None 
 

13.0 Background Papers 

  

13.1 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/english-indices-of-deprivation 
 

 

Page 159

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/english-indices-of-deprivation


This page is intentionally left blank



The English Indices of Deprivation 2015 
Blackpool Position Report 

 

Introduction 
 
The 2015 English Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) was released on 30th September 2015, 
updating the 2010 Index. It is made up of indicators covering 7 topics, or “domains”, which are 
weighted according to their perceived contribution towards deprivation as follows: 

 

 
 
Individual indicators within the index are subject to change depending on the availability of the data, 
but DCLG treats the different iterations of the index as comparable. The indices therefore show 
change over time in relative deprivation levels. 
 
The index ranks four different geographies: 
 

 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) – these are units of geography smaller than Council wards 

and contain around 1500 residents. A rank of 1 indicates the most deprived LSOA, and of 32844th 

the least deprived; 

 Local Authority (LA) level, based on an aggregated version of the LSOA data, where a rank of 1 

indicates the most deprived local authority area, and 326th indicates the least deprived; 

 LEP area (ranked from 1-39); 

 CCG area (ranked from 1-209). 

This report covers the headline LSOA level and LA level rankings. 
 
There are several ways of measuring deprivation in all of these types of area. Explanations of the 
different rankings are provided throughout the report. 

 
  

Page 161

tsplseob_5
Typewritten Text
Appendix 10a



Indices of Deprivation 2015 - Corporate Development and Engagement Team 
 

John Patterson & Scott Butterfield / 30-09-2015  2 
 

Key Findings 
 

 All overall measures at the Local Authority level show Blackpool has become relatively more 

deprived since 2004; 

 The 2015 index ranks Blackpool as the most deprived of 326 Local Authority areas in England, 

based on both the average LSOA score and concentration of deprivation measures; 

 Blackpool has the 7th highest proportion of LSOA’s ranked in the 10% most deprived, and the 

12th highest ranked in the 30% most deprived – both rankings have deteriorated since 2010; 

 Blackpool ranks in the bottom 10 local authority areas across 4 of the 7 domains, with only 

Barriers to Housing and Services ranked outside the bottom 25; 

  36 of 94 Blackpool LSOAs are in the 10% most deprived in the country; 

 Blackpool now has no LSOA’s in the 30% least deprived in the country, compared to 20% in 

2010; 

 Parts of Park and Highfield are ranked as significantly less deprived in 2015, whilst parts of 

Clifton, Highfield, Marton, Waterloo, Warbreck and Bispham are ranked as more deprived 

Overview of IMD methodology  
 
The Indices of Deprivation have maintained a similar methodology since 2004. The IMD technical 
annexe covers this in detail, but in brief the IMD is built by: 
 

1. Selecting the indicators which best measure each of the domains and obtaining data; 
2. Applying “Shrinkage estimation” to indicators - crudely, this is a way of making data which is 

potentially unreliable more robust by using more reliable data to correct it; 
3. Combining the indicators and using weighting to produce a score and ranking for each domain; 
4. Applying a standard distribution – so the indicators in each domain are incorporated into the overall 

measure in the same way; 
5. Correcting for “cancellation” – a way of balancing a lack of deprivation in one domain with 

deprivation in another so as a realistic Local Authority rank is reached. This produces the overall LSOA 
rank; 

6. Aggregating this data up to Local Authority level, then examining it in a variety of different ways to 
produce a number of overall deprivation measures. 

 
It is not clear from the information made available with the data what, if any, effect these statistical 
techniques have on Blackpool’s rankings and how they might vary if different techniques were used. 

 
Changes since Index of Multiple Deprivation 2010 
 
The table overleaf shows which indicators are included in the 2015 index, and details how these 
have changed since 2010. In addition to this, the 2015 index has been updated with population data 
from the 2011 Census. 
 
The most substantial changes were the inclusion of new indicators and removal of ones no longer 
available. New indicators incorporated into the index were: 
 

Page 162

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015-technical-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015-technical-report


Indices of Deprivation 2015 - Corporate Development and Engagement Team 
 

John Patterson & Scott Butterfield / 30-09-2015  3 
 

 Claimants of Carer’s Allowance (employment domain) – likely to have impacted negatively on 

Blackpool’s overall position due to high levels of people with limiting illnesses and carers; 

 English Language proficiency (education domain) – likely to impact positively on Blackpool’s 

overall rank, as this is a measure of people where English is not their first language. 

 
 
 

Page 163



Indices of Deprivation 2015 - Corporate Development and Engagement Team 
 

John Patterson & Scott Butterfield / 30-09-2015  4 
 

Blackpool’s Deprivation Rankings since 2004 
 
For the 2015 index, the DCLG has reported the rank of local authority areas obtained from 
calculating the proportion of LSOA’s in the area which fall into the most deprived 10% in the country. 
This measure has not previously been reported by DCLG, but their figures show that Blackpool now 
ranks as the 7th most deprived area, compared to 9th in 2010, with 38.3% of our LSOA’s (36 areas in 
total) now falling into this category.  
 
Historically, the deprivation ranking usually quoted was based on an average for all LSOAs – based 
on the deprivation scores obtained from the indicators in each of the 7 domains. On this measure 
Blackpool fell from being ranked 6th most deprived to the most deprived local authority area in the 
country, as can be seen in the table below. 
 

 
The other overall ranks are variations of these. The rank of local concentration is a reference to the 
“intensity” of the deprivation amongst the 10% most deprived of the population, rather than a 
reference to deprived areas all being in one part of Blackpool. It is calculated by adding up the 
number of people living in the most deprived areas until 10% of Blackpool’s total population is 
reached, and using the ranks of these LSOA areas to produce a concentration score, which is then 

Ranking Measure 2004 2007 2010 2015 Change  

Rank of average score  
Ranks the authority based on average 
deprivation scores for all LSOAs.  

24th 12th 6th 1st -5 

Local Concentration 
Ranks the area by an average of LSOA 
rankings covering 10% of the population. 
Areas are selected in order from most 
deprived. 

10th 3rd 1st 1st ~0 

Rank of average rank  
Ranks the authority based on the average 
deprivation rankings for all LSOAs 

26th 18th 10th 4th -6 

Rank of LSOAs in most 
deprived 10% 
Ranks the authority based on the % of  LSOAs 
in the 10% most deprived areas nationally 

- - 9th 7th -2  

Extent 
Ranks the authority based on an average of 
LSOA rankings in the most 30% deprived 
nationally 

35th 24th 16th 12th -4 

Employment scale 
Ranks the authority based on the absolute 
number of people who are income deprived 

59th 61st 63rd 61st -2 

Income scale 
Ranks the authority based on the absolute 
number of people who are income deprived  

73rd 72nd 74th 68th -6 

Page 164



Indices of Deprivation 2015 - Corporate Development and Engagement Team 
 

John Patterson & Scott Butterfield / 30-09-2015  5 
 

compared to the figure for other areas to produce a rank. The rank of local extent looks at 
neighbourhoods in the bottom 30%. 
 
In previous iterations of the Index, only the Employment and Income domains (the two domains 
with the most influence on the overall deprivation ranking) were ranked, based on the total 
numbers of people included in the calculation of the indicators. These are therefore different to the 
other ranks, as they cover numbers of people and not performance indicators. The change in these 
rankings therefore show that Blackpool has the 61st and 68th biggest number of people affected by 
deprivation in these domains compared to other Local Authority areas across the country: 

 
 
Domain Rankings 2015 
 
For the first time in 2015, DCLG has released rankings for each of the individual domains, plus the 
two other deprivation products calculated from the same source data – Income Deprivation 
affecting Children, and affecting Older People. These show how the relative position of Blackpool 
varies across the domains, with performance on Barriers to Housing and Services, Living 
Environment, and Education & Skills the only ones outside the bottom 10 authority areas: 
 

Indices of Deprivation Domain Rank of Average Score 
Rank of areas 

in most 
deprived 10% 

Index of Multiple Deprivation 
This combines the below 7 domains into a ‘single score’ of deprivation 

1 7 

Income 3 9 

Employment 2 7 

Education and Skills 17 24 

Health Deprivation and Disability 1 4 

Crime 9 7 

Barriers to Housing and Services 326 264 

Living Environment 23 20 

Additional Indices   

Income Deprivation affecting Children 9 11 

Income Deprivation affecting Older People 21 34 

 

Comparison with other Local Authority areas 
 
The primary purpose of the Index is to facilitate comparisons of local authority areas on a like-for-
like basis, giving an overview of the picture across the country. The tables below show where 
Blackpool sits in relation to the most deprived areas, how our position compares to Local Authority 
districts in Lancashire, and how we stack up against other comparable coastal areas. No clear picture 
emerges from the coastal comparison, which is focussed on resorts of a comparable size and profile 
to Blackpool. 

 

Page 165



Indices of Deprivation 2015 - Corporate Development and Engagement Team 
 

John Patterson & Scott Butterfield / 30-09-2015  6 
 

10 most deprived authorities under each deprivation measure 
 
 Average Rank Average Score Proportion of 

areas in 10% 
most deprived 
nationally 

Extent Local 
Concentration 

1 Manchester Blackpool Middlesbrough Manchester Blackpool 

2 Hackney Knowsley Knowsley Liverpool Middlesbrough 

3 
Barking and 
Dagenham 

Kingston upon 
Hull 

Kingston upon 
Hull 

Tower Hamlets Knowsley 

4 Blackpool Liverpool Liverpool Knowsley 
Great 
Yarmouth 

5 Knowsley Manchester Manchester Middlesbrough 
Kingston upon 
Hull 

6 Tower Hamlets Middlesbrough Birmingham Birmingham Thanet 

7 Liverpool Birmingham Blackpool Nottingham Liverpool 

8 Newham Nottingham Nottingham 
Kingston upon 
Hull 

Burnley 

9 
Kingston upon 
Hull 

Burnley Burnley 
Barking and 
Dagenham 

North East 
Lincolnshire 

10 Nottingham Tower Hamlets Hartlepool Sandwell 
Barrow-in-
Furness 

 

Rank Comparison of Lancashire Districts 
 

Rank of average scores   
Rank of LSOAs in 10% 

most deprived 

LA 2010 2015 Change   2015 

Blackpool 6 1 -5   7 

Burnley 11 9 -2   9 

Blackburn with 
Darwen 17 15 -2   12 

Hyndburn 34 26 -8   22 

Pendle 33 38 5   18 

Preston 45 61 16   53 

Lancaster 116 105 -11   80 

Rossendale 98 108 10   119 

West Lancashire 136 139 3   99 

Wyre 163 145 -18   67 

Chorley 156 175 19   125 

Fylde 236 217 -19   174 

South Ribble 206 229 23   156 

Ribble Valley 290 292 2   200 

Page 166



Indices of Deprivation 2015 - Corporate Development and Engagement Team 
 

John Patterson & Scott Butterfield / 30-09-2015  7 
 

 

Coastal Districts – Rank Comparison 
 

Rank of average scores   
Rank of LSOAs in 10% 

most deprived 

LA 2010 2015 Change   2015 

Blackpool 6 1 -5   7 

Torbay 61 46 -15   56 

Southend-on-sea 106 90 -16   75 

Scarborough 85 82 -3   71 

Bournemouth 102 121 19   123 

Brighton and hove 66 102 36   86 

 
 

Deprivation in Neighbourhoods - Lower Super Output Areas 
 
The table below shows how the level of deprivation across LSOA’s has changed since the publication 
of the 2010 index. This shows how the overall fall in the rankings has played out at the local level, 
with the 2015 index showing no LSOA’s in the 30% least deprived areas, compared to no LSOA’s in 
the 20% most deprived in 2010. 
 

 Number of LSOAs % in Decile 

National Decile 2010 2015 2010 2015 

1 - most deprived 10% 35 36 37% 38% 

2 11 12 12% 13% 

3 18 16 19% 17% 

4 11 13 12% 14% 

5 11 9 12% 10% 

6 4 3 4% 3% 

7 3 5 3% 5% 

8 1 0 1% 0% 

9 0 0 0% 0% 

10 - least deprived 10% 0 0 0% 0% 

 
 
The chart below shows how the 2015 distribution compares to the regional and national picture. 
Blackpool has a greater proportion of areas in the most deprived deciles than the least deprived 
ones: 
 

Page 167



Indices of Deprivation 2015 - Corporate Development and Engagement Team 
 

John Patterson & Scott Butterfield / 30-09-2015  8 
 

 
 

LSOA Map – Overall picture 
 
The following maps show the picture on deprivation at LSOA level: 
 

 On the “Blackpool” map, the colours pick out the built environment of the area, with the 
colour representing the level of deprivation. The boundaries of the LSOA’s are not included 
for ease of viewing, with the ward boundaries acting as a general guide; 
 

 On the “Rank changes” map, the colours show how many ranks the LSOA’s have risen or 
fallen. This highlights parts of Park and Highfield wards which are ranked as significantly less 
deprived in 2015 than 2010, whilst parts of Clifton, Highfield, Marton, Waterloo, Warbreck 
and Bispham are all ranked as more deprived 
 

 The final two maps show a comparison of the 2010 and 2015 indices. This shows in real 
terms how deprivation has changed. The maps are similar, indicating that falls/rises in 
deprivation which take an area into another decile are relatively rare, even though the 
general trend has been a fall in Blackpool’s LSOA rankings compared to other areas. 

England

North West

Blackpool

Most Deprived Decile 2nd 3rd 4th 5th 6th 7th 8th 9th Least Deprived Decile

Page 168



Indices of Deprivation 2015 - Corporate Development and Engagement Team 
 

John Patterson & Scott Butterfield / 30-09-2015  9 
 

 
  

Page 169



Indices of Deprivation 2015 - Corporate Development and Engagement Team 
 

John Patterson & Scott Butterfield / 30-09-2015  10 
 

LSOA Map – Change 
 

Page 170



P
age 171



Copyright Notices 
 

 Map Boundaries: Contains National Statistics data © Crown copyright and database rights 2015 

 Background mapping: Reproduced under license. © Crown copyright 2015 OS 0100019178. You are 
permitted to use this data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that 
provided you with the data. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this 
data to third parties in any form.   

 Data Source: Communities and Local Government 2015, reproduced under the Open Government 
License v1.0 

 

Page 172



Appendix 10b  

The English Indices of Deprivation 2015 
Blackpool Health Domain Report 

 

Introduction 
 
The health domain measures the absence of health in an area by identifying those with the poorest 
health outcomes. It is composed of 4 health indicators: 
 

1. Years of potential life lost: An age and sex standardised measure of premature death 
2. Comparative illness and disability ratio: An age and sex standardised morbidity/disability 

ratio 
3. Acute morbidity: An age and sex standardised rate of emergency admission to hospital 
4. Mood and anxiety disorders: A composite based on the rate of adults suffering from mood 

and anxiety disorders, hospital episodes data, suicide mortality data and health benefits 
data. 

 
These indicators have not changed between the 2010 and 2015 indices. 

 

Key Findings 
 

 Blackpool ranks 1st most deprived nationally for health deprivation, based on the average score 

of Blackpool LSOAs; 

 Blackpool ranks 4th most deprived nationally for health deprivation, based on the percentage of 

Blackpool LSOAs in the 10% most deprived LSOAs nationally; 

 55 LSOAs (58%) in Blackpool are in the most health deprived 10% of all LSOAs nationally; 

 Blackpool has no LSOAs in the 60% least deprived areas nationally for health; 

 Comparing the distribution of LSOAs in 2010 and in 2015 Blackpool now has more LSOAs in the 

most health deprived deciles; 

 2 LSOAs have moved into relatively less health deprived deciles in 2015; 

 30 LSOAs across Blackpool have moved into relatively more health deprived deciles in 2015; 

 The underlying data shows that the LSOA values for the mood and anxiety disorders indicator 

and the acute morbidity indicator were poorer for 2015 than 2010 

 The Potential Years of Life Lost indicator has improved slightly for Blackpool LSOAs compared to 

2010 

Copyright: 
Map Boundaries: Contains National Statistics data © Crown copyright and database rights 2015 
Basemaps: Reproduced under license. © Crown copyright 2015 OS 0100019178. You are permitted to use this 
data solely to enable you to respond to, or interact with, the organisation that provided you with the data. You 
are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.   

Page 173



Indices of Deprivation 2015 - Corporate Development and Engagement Team 
 

John Patterson & Scott Butterfield / 30-09-2015  2 
 

Data Source: Communities and Local Government 2015, reproduced under the Open Government License v1.0 

Blackpool – 2015 Health Domain – Local Authority Position 
 
The 2015 Indices of Deprivation published new rankings for each domain of the Indices of 
Deprivation and not just for the overall Index of Multiple Deprivation. The table below highlights 
these: 
 

Ranking Measure 2015 Ranking 

Rank of average score  

Ranks the authority based on average 
deprivation scores for all LSOAs in the 

domain.  

1st 

Rank of average rank  

Ranks the authority based on the average 
health deprivation rankings for all LSOAs in 
the domain. 

2nd 

Rank of LSOAs in most deprived 10% 

Ranks the authority based on the % of  LSOAs 
in the 10% most deprived areas nationally in 
the domain. 

4th 

(58% of LSOAs) 

 

 
Blackpool – 2015 Health Domain – LSOA Rankings 
Each LSOA in Blackpool is ranked from 1st (most deprived) in England, through to 32,844th (least 
deprived).   

 
The chart below shows how the 2015 distribution compares to the regional and national picture. 
Blackpool has a greater proportion of areas in the most health-deprived deciles than the least 
deprived deciles: 
 

 

10% 

30% 

59% 

England

North West

Blackpool

Most Deprived Decile 2nd 3rd 4th 5th 6th 7th 8th 9th Least Deprived Decile

Page 174



 

Health deprivation in Neighbourhoods - Lower Super Output Areas 
 
The table below shows how the level of health deprivation across LSOA’s has changed since the 
publication of the 2010 index. This shows how the overall fall in the rankings has played out at the 
local level, with the 2015 index showing no LSOA’s in the 60% least health deprived areas (deciles 5-
10), compared to no LSOA’s in the 20% most deprived in 2010. 
 

 Number of LSOAs % in Decile 

National Decile 2010 2015 2010 2015 

1 - most deprived 10% 41 55 44% 59% 

2 27 24 29% 26% 

3 14 9 15% 10% 

4 9 6 10% 6% 

5 3 0 3% 0% 

6 0 0 0% 0% 

7 0 0 0% 0% 

8 0 0 0% 0% 

9 0 0 0% 0% 

10 - least deprived 10% 0 0 0% 0% 

 
 

Change in Deprivation Distribution 
The chart below shows the changes in the number of LSOAs in each health deprivation banding. It 
highlights that there are now more LSOAs in the 0-10% health deprivation band: 

 

 
  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

LS
O

A
 C

o
u

n
t 

National Decile Ranking  

Health Deprivation - 2010 and 2015 Comparison 

Health 2010

Health 2015

Page 175



Indices of Deprivation 2015 - Corporate Development and Engagement Team 
 

John Patterson & Scott Butterfield / 30-09-2015  4 
 

The most deprived 10%  
 
The map below shows the locations of the LSOAs within the most 10% deprived of all areas 
nationally. The Table lists only the top 40 out of 58 LSOAs due to size constraints.  
 

 
 
  

Page 176



Indices of Deprivation 2015 - Corporate Development and Engagement Team 
 

John Patterson & Scott Butterfield / 30-09-2015  5 
 

Underlying Indicators 
This section summarises the changes in the underlying indicators which create the domain and may 
help explain why scores and ranks have worsened or improved for Blackpool. 
 

Years of Potential Life Lost  

 

Years of Potential Life Lost has improved in the 
2015 indices compared to the 2010 indices.  
 
The mean years of life lost in Blackpool LSOAs 
reduced to 95.57 years from 101.94 years. 
 
The boxplot, left, shows the distribution of years 
of life lost across all Blackpool LSOAs in 2010 and 
2015. It shows that there has been a positive shift 
in the distribution toward fewer years lost.  
 
 

Mood and anxiety disorders  

 

The Mood and anxiety disorders indicator 
suggests an overall increase in mood and anxiety 
disorders compared to the 2010 indices.  
 
This measure is a score, based on a composite of 
several data sources so it is not a rate or 
proportion. 
  
The mean score has increased from 1.06 up to 
1.33. 
 
Looking at the entire distribution of LSOA scores, 
it has stretched in range though has generally 
skewed toward higher scores suggesting that the 
levels of mood and anxiety disorders have 
increased. 
 

Page 177



Indices of Deprivation 2015 - Corporate Development and Engagement Team 
 

John Patterson & Scott Butterfield / 30-09-2015  6 
 

 
 

Acute Morbidity  

 

Acute morbidity (a measure of the level of 
emergency admissions to hospital) has 
seen a substantial shift between the 2010 
and 2015 indices. 
 
The mean rate of acute morbidity across 
all LSOAs increased from 110.94 to 137.94 
suggesting a sharp increase in emergency 
admissions  
 
This is supported by the changes in the 
overall distribution of LSOA rates which 
show a movement toward higher rates 
across Blackpool overall.  

Comparative Illness and Disability ratio  

 

The comparative illness and disability 
ratio, which measures work limitation due 
to disability or poor health, indicator has 
changed very little for Blackpool LSOAs 
between 2010 and 2015, though there is a 
slight increase in the mean ratio. 
 
 

5  

Page 178



LSOA Map – Overall picture 
 

P
age 179



 

Page 180



Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Relevant Officer: Dr Arif Rajpura, Director of Public Health 

Relevant Cabinet Member:  
 

Councillor Graham Cain, Cabinet Secretary (Resilient 

Communities)  

Date of Meeting: 
 

2nd December 2015 

 

DEVELOPING THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY  
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 To update the Board on the current position in relation to developing the next Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy and present options for discussion. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 
 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
2.3 

To agree that the Health and Wellbeing Board uses the drivers agreed at the Board 
Away Day in May 2014 as the basis for the new strategy. 
 
To agree to incorporate the key recommendations from the Due North report into 
the strategy and action plan, and align it with the priorities arising from other key 
strategic documents. 
 
To agree the proposed consultation process and timeline for development as set out 
in Paragraph 5.6 of the report. 

  
3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 
 
 

The Board has a duty under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 to develop a strategy 
which articulates its priorities for the local area. The current strategy is due to expire 
shortly. Therefore the Board must begin the process of developing a replacement, 
which is anticipated, will be in place by April 2016. 

 
3.2a 

 
Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

 
No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 
 

Yes 

Page 181

Agenda Item 11



 
 

3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 There is no alternative option – a strategy must be developed. 
 
4.0 Council Priority: 

 
4.1 The relevant Council Priority is “improve health and well-being especially for the 

most disadvantaged” 
 
5.0 Background Information 

 
5.1 
 
 
 
 

 

Since the four priorities for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy were agreed, a 
number of significant developments have occurred both nationally and locally. The 
Government elected in May this year is committed to further reducing public 
spending; this is already underway as we have seen in July’s Summer Budget; 
confirmation of a 6.2% in year reduction to public health’s budget and the 
Comprehensive Spending Review on 25th November 2015.   

5.2 Local strategic developments 

Locally, the Council has consulted on and adopted two new priorities for the next five 
years which are articulated in the new Council Plan 2015 – 20; these are ‘The 
economy: Maximising growth and opportunity across Blackpool’ and ‘Communities: 
Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience’. 

It makes sense for the board to align its four new priorities (housing, substance 
misuse, social isolation/community resilience and early intervention) in the next Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) with the Council Plan and a number of other 
key strategic documents that are in development or planned over the next few 
months. This was discussed at the Strategic Commissioning Group’s last meeting and 
will effectively bring it all together to create a clear and consistent narrative for the 
future direction of Blackpool’s health and social care services. These include: 

 The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Strategic Plan for 2014/15 to 2018/19;  

 The Hospital Trust’s forthcoming five year strategy;  

 The work of the newly established Public Services Board;  

 The Clinical Commissioning Group’s Vanguard programme 

 Healthier Lancashire  

5.3 Health and Wellbeing Strategic Priorities 

Feedback from the Health and Wellbeing Peer Challenge in March 2014 suggested 
that: 

Page 182



‘The Health and Wellbeing Board has clear priorities and they are closely 
aligned with the health and wellbeing challenges faced by Blackpool. However 
there may be too many priorities to make the impact you want to achieve. 
You need to focus down on fewer areas where you can make a real difference 
and your priority actions need to be joined up and focussed.’ 

5.4 Following this, the Board held an away day in May 2014, where four key drivers were 
agreed by Board members as the focus for the longer term: 

 Stabilising the Housing Market – Reduce the availability of HMO’s via the 
Blackpool Housing Company and other initiatives such as Selective Licensing. 
Create higher quality housing and mix of tenure by redeveloping Queen’s Park 
and developing new housing at Foxhall Village. 

 Substance misuse (alcohol, drugs and tobacco) – Address lifestyle issues by 
supporting education programmes and policy intervention. 

 Social Isolation/ Community Resilience – Address social isolation for all ages 
and build community resilience. 

 Early Intervention – Encourage more upstream intervention at the earliest 
stage of life possible through programmes such as Better Start and HeadStart.  

In light of this, it is suggested that the new strategy articulates the transition to the 
new board priorities and adopts them as the basis for the new approach. 

5.5 Due North recommendations 

The Due North report was presented to the Board last year and its recommendations 
were discussed at length in the Public Health Annual Report 2014, with the main 
recommendation being to take forward and implement Due North 
recommendations.  

The Board agreed to take forward the recommendations of Due North and a piece of 
work is underway to develop an action plan, which also maps the linkages to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board  priorities. This will be presented to a future Board 
meeting. In light of the level of health inequalities both within Blackpool and 
between Blackpool and the rest of the country, is proposed that the Due North 
actions are also incorporated into the Health and Wellbeing Board Strategy. The four 
priorities of Due North are: 

 Priority One: Tackle poverty and economic inequality within the North and 
between the North and the rest of England 

 Priority Two: Promote healthy development in early childhood 

 Priority Three: Share power over resources and increase the influence that 
the public has on how resources are used to improve the determinants of 
health 

 Priority Four: Strengthen the role of the health sector in promoting health 

Page 183



equity 

Due North’s priorities three and four have less direct impact on the strategy and so 
the strategy will need other actions to address the board’s priorities. 

5.6 Timeline for development 

Once the scope and development process is agreed, it is proposed that a consultation 
process begins in the new year. It is expected that Blackpool Healthwatch will wish to 
be involved and discussions will be taken forward on the best way to achieve this. 

There will be two elements to the consultation. One whereby the views of partner 
agencies and other stakeholders will be sought by attending various Boards and 
partnership groups to present the priorities and gain their views.  

The second element will be a consultation with members of the public. This will be 
framed as a consultation on health issues in Blackpool, the responses to this will be 
tested against the proposed priorities of the strategy. It is anticipated that the format 
of this engagement will be through public events, focus groups and survey work to be 
delivered by fieldworkers. Consultation will run for a six to eight week period 
beginning in January 2016, a report will be brought to the next Board with further 
details and an update on progress. 

5.7 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

5.8 List of Appendices: 
 

 

 None  
 
6.0 Legal considerations: 

 
6.1 
 

None 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

7.1 
 

None 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

8.1 
 

An Equalities Impact Assessment will be carried out at an early stage in the 
development process. 

 
9.0 Financial considerations: 

 
9.1 None 

Page 184



 
 
10.0 Risk management considerations: 

 
10.1 None 
 
11.0 Ethical considerations: 

 
11.1 
 

None 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

A full consultation will be undertaken with all stakeholders including partner 
organisations, other organisations not directly connected to the Board, and residents 
of Blackpool. 

 
13.0 Background papers: 

 
13.1 
 

None 

 

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: Health and Wellbeing Board  
 

Relevant Officer: Venessa Beckett, Corporate Development and Policy Officer 

Relevant Cabinet Member: 
 

Councillor Graham Cain, Cabinet Secretary (Resilient 

Communities) 

Date of Meeting: 
 

2nd December 2015 

 

DRAFT FORWARD PLAN 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 To inform the Health and Wellbeing Board members of the draft Forward Plan that 
has been developed for the Board. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 
 
 
 

It is recommended that members of the Board consider the draft Forward Plan and 
advise of any agenda items from individual organisations that the Board is required 
to approve so that they can be timetabled into the plan as appropriate. 
 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 
 

The forward plan will enable the Health and Wellbeing Board to plan in greater detail 
its forthcoming agendas.  
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

 No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

Yes 

3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 None 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 187

Agenda Item 12



4.0 Council Priority: 
 

4.1 The relevant Council Priority is 
 
“Improve health and well-being especially for the most disadvantaged “ 
 

5.0 Background Information 
 

5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 

In order to maintain a strategic oversight of the health and wellbeing agenda and 
ensure that the Board fulfils its statutory duties, a draft Forward Plan has been 
developed. This will enable the Board to strategically plan its future agendas and 
ensure that items are aligned to and relevant to the delivery of the Board’s priorities. 
This plan was agreed at the meeting of the Board held on the 15th July 2015 and has 
been reviewed at all meetings since then and it is intended that it will be reviewed at 
all future meetings to give the Board oversight of its workplan. 
 
At the Strategic Commissioning Group away day on 1st  July 2015, the link between 
the Health and Wellbeing Board and Strategic Commissioning Group was discussed. 
In order to maintain the relationship between the Board and Strategic 
Commissioning Group, and ensure that there is alignment between the Strategic 
Commissioning Group’s commissioning priorities and the Board’s strategic priorities, 
the draft Forward Plan will be included as a standing item at the Strategic 
Commissioning Group to enable relevant items from the Strategic Commissioning 
Group to be added on a regular basis for discussion and ratification. 
 

5.3 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

5.4 List of Appendices:  
  

Appendix 12a: Draft Forward Plan 
 

 
6.0 Legal considerations: 

 
6.1 
 

None 

 
7.0 Human Resources considerations: 

 
7.1 
 

None 

 
8.0 Equalities considerations: 

 
8.1 
 

None 
 
 

Page 188



9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

None 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 None 
 

11.0 Ethical considerations: 
 

11.1 
 

None 

 
12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 

 
12.1 
 

None  
 

13.0 Background papers: 
 

13.1 
 

None 

 
 

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank



 Appendix A 

(Draft) Health and Wellbeing Board Forward Plan 2015 – 16  

BOARD MEETING BOARD BUSINESS ITEMS THEMED DEBATE DEADLINE FOR REPORTS 

Wednesday 
2 December 2015 

3.00 – 5.00pm 

Formal Items requiring a decision 
 

1. SCG update 
2. Health Protection Forum terms of 

reference 
3. Blackpool Safeguarding Children’s 

Board Annual Report  
4. HWB Annual Report (draft) 
5. Intermediate Care Review update 
6. Healthy Weight Strategy  
7. Public Health proposed allocation 

2016/17 and update on 2015/16 
budget reduction  
 

Items for information 
 

8. Draft Forward Plan (SI) 
 

 
Index of Multiple Deprivation (20 
mins)  
 
HWB Strategy/ Due North Action 
Plan (30mins) 
 
 

All finalised reports to be sent to 
Venessa Beckett by 12 noon on 
Wednesday 18 November 2015 

Wednesday 
27 January 2015 
3.00 – 5.00pm 

 

 Items requiring a decision  
 
1. CYPP update (10mins) 
2. SCG update (10mins) 
3. JSNA website (10mins) 
4. HeadStart Big Lottery submission 

(20mins) 
5. Healthier Lancashire update 

(20mins) 

 
HWB Strategy - Housing priority 
(20mins) 
 
Future savings 2016 onwards; 
Comprehensive Spending Review 
impact and implications for 
partners  
(Separate session) 

All finalised reports to be sent to 
Venessa Beckett by 12 noon on 

Wednesday 13 January 2015 

P
age 191



BOARD MEETING BOARD BUSINESS ITEMS THEMED DEBATE DEADLINE FOR REPORTS 

6. HealthWatch (10mins) 
7. New models of care update (15 

mins) 
 

Items for information 
 

8. Draft Forward Plan (SI) 
 

 

Wednesday 
2 March 2015 
3.00 – 5.00pm 

Formal Items requiring a decision 
 
1. SCG update 
2. Intermediate Care Commissioning 

Review 
3. Health Protection update  
4. Drug Prevention Strategy 
5. Fulfilling Lives  
6. Care Sector  

 
Items for information 

 
7. Draft Forward Plan (SI) 
 

 
HWB Strategy – social isolation 
and community resilience priority 

All finalised reports to be sent to 
Venessa Beckett by 12 noon on 
Wednesday 17 February 2015 

Wednesday 
20 April 2015 
3.00 – 5.00pm 

 

Formal Items requiring a decision 
 
1. SCG update 
2. CYPP update and draft strategy 

 
Items for information 
 
3. Draft Forward Plan (SI) 

 All finalised reports to be sent to 
Venessa Beckett by 12 noon on 

Wednesday 6 April 2015 

 

P
age 192


	Agenda
	2 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING HELD ON 21st OCTOBER 2015
	3 STRATEGIC COMMISSIONING GROUP UPDATE
	Appendix 3a  SCG Notes and Actions 7 Oct 15

	4 HEALTH PROTECTION FORUM TERMS OF REFERENCE
	Appendix 4a Terms of reference  HPF

	5 BLACKPOOL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT
	Appendix 5a BSCB Annual Report

	6 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD DRAFT ANNUAL REPORT
	Appendix 6a Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report

	7 INTERMEDIATE CARE REVIEW UPDATE
	Appendix 7a Blackpool Intermediate Care Report FINAL
	Appendix 7b Intermediate Care Structure - Final
	Appendix 7c Risk and Issues Log as at 6th nov 15 (2)
	Appendix 7d IC Implementation Plan 061115

	8 HEALTHY WEIGHT STRATEGY
	Appendix 8a Draft Health Weight Strategy Refresh 10 Sept 2015

	9 PUBLIC HEALTH PROPOSED FUNDING ALLOCATION 2016/17
	Appendix 9a Blackpool Council Response to the Proposed Target allocation for 2016 - leadership  HWB

	10 THEMATIC DEBATE- INDICES ON MULTIPLE DEPRIVATION
	Appendix 10a Blackpool Deprivation Report
	Appendix 10b Health Domain

	11 HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY ACTION PLAN
	12 DRAFT FORWARD PLAN
	Appendix 12a Draft HWB Forward Plan 2015-16




